

Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences



Faculty of Applied Ecology, Agricultural Sciences and Biotechnology

Giulia Ferrari

Small mammals in a changing world: distributional, demographic and behavioural responses to environmental heterogeneity with implications for host-parasite-pathogen relationships

PhD Applied Ecology and Biotechnology 2022



Giulia Ferrari

Small mammals in a changing world: distributional, demographic and behavioural responses to environmental heterogeneity with implications for host-parasite-pathogen relationships



PhD Thesis

2022

Faculty of Applied Ecology, Agricultural Sciences and Biotechnology



Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences Printed by: Flisa Trykkeri A/S

Place of publication: Elverum

© Giulia Ferrari (2022)

Faculty of Applied Ecology, Agricultural Sciences and Biotechnology Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences, Department of Forestry and Wildlife Management, Evenstad.

This material is protected by copyright law. Without explicit authorization, reproduction is only allowed if it is permitted by law or by agreement with a collecting society.

PhD Thesis in Applied Ecology and Biotechnology no. 29

ISBN printed version: 978-82-8380-364-8 ISBN digital version: 978-82-8380-365-5 ISSN printed version: 2703-819X ISSN printed version: 2703-8181 "Each of these species is masterpiece of evolution. Each has persisted for thousands to millions of years. Each is exquisitely adapted to the environment in which it lives, interlocked with other species to form ecosystems upon which our own lives depend in ways we have not begun even to imagine."

- Edward O. Wilson, biologist

To my family,

Sammendrag

Arters demografi og funksjonelle roller i miljøet er styrt av samspillet mellom individers iboende tilstand, abiotiske og biotiske forhold, inkludert mellom-artsforhold som vert-parasitt interaksjoner. Slike interaksjoner har generelt blitt undersøkt med langtidsserier og de mange ulike faktorene er lite vurdert. I denne avhandlingen, så har jeg brukt en multi-faktoriell nisje-basert tilnærming for å predikere små pattedyrs proksimate respons på miljø-, klima- og antropogene faktorer, og deres tidsromlige påvirkning på vert-parasitt-sykdom-mønstre. Det ble gjennomført levende fangst av småpattedyrsamfunnet på tvers av breddegrader (Norge og Italia) og over en høydegradient (fra 500 til 2500 moh.). Med et feltdesign som baserte seg på manipulering av mattilgjengelighet, og transekter langs heterogene habitat, vurderte jeg driverne i småpattedyrsamfunnets komposisjon og demografi, og kaskadeeffektene fra antall parasitter og overføring av både vanlige og nye patogener. Jeg fant at småpattedyrs overlevelse var avhengig av en iboende sesongsyklusitet og at den kun ble forsterket av mattilgjengelighet ved krevende værforhold. Likevel så var populasjonsstørrelsen hovedsakelig styrt av klimatiske begrensninger og mattilgjengelighet. Når opportunistiske og dominerende gnagere og ikke-dominer arter var sympatriske, så viste de motsatte demografiske tendenser i forhold til mattilgang der de ikkedominerende artene fikk redusert overlevelse og populasjonsstørrelse, som indikerer utnyttelsesog interferenskonkurranse (Paper I). Når romlige komponenter i disse mønstrene ble kontrollert for, så fant jeg at mattilgangen for gnagere også reduserte deres romlige utbredelsesområde. Etterhvert som den lokale tettheten av de mest opportunistiske artene økte og jevnheten (evenness) ble redusert, så forsterket høye flått-tettheter gnagernes flåttbelastning, spesielt hos tyngre individer. I sum så vil en ansamling av primær- og sekundærverter på matstasjoner, og mer generelt i antropogene fragmenterte landskap, trolig øke sannsynligheten for å kunne fullføre flåttenes livssyklus. Dette induserer en forsterket flåttbelastningen i enkle vertssamfunn (Paper II). Langs den alpine høydegradienten fant vi støtte for at flått kan trives i et mildere klima som forårsaket av klimaendringer. I tråd med dette kan vertssamfunnets komposisjon og utbredelse over høydegradienten bli påvirket av klimarelaterte forhold. I samsvar med dette, fant jeg at generalister (som klatremus) også var utbredt på høyereliggende områder, de var sympatriske med arter mer tilpasset høyereliggende klima som snømarkmus og markmus. Denne endringen i distribusjonen av generalister og vektorer, var også fulgt av utbredelsen av vanlige gnager- og vektorbærte patogener som syntes å være fordelt på ulike høydenivåer, et aspekt som trenger videre studie (Paper III). Noen protozoer, som Hepatozoon spp. (Paper IV), kan spille en sterk epidemiologisk rolle gjennom næringsnettet. For å konkludere, denne avhandlingen har belyst flere økologiske komplekse forhold omkring små pattedyr i sårbare økosystem. På makro- og mikroskala, brukte vi eksperiment for å demonstrere konsekvenser fra klima og menneskelige forstyrrelser på små pattedyrs samfunn og populasjoner, og deres implikasjoner for menneskers og økosystemers helse.

Abstract

The demography of species and their functional role in the environment are governed by the interplay between individual internal state, external abiotic and biotic conditions, as well as by interspecific interactions, including host-parasite relationships. Generally, these interactions in wild systems have been investigated by long-term studies, and the different components were so far rarely evaluated ensemble. In this dissertation, I implemented a multi-factorial niche-based approach to predict small mammals' proximate responses to environmental, climatic and anthropic factors, and their implications for host-parasite-disease spatio-temporal patterns. For this purpose, live-trapping targeting the small mammal community was performed across a wide latitudinal (Norway and Italy) and altitudinal (from 500 to 2500 m a.s.l.) gradient. Through field experimental designs based on manipulation of anthropogenic food availability, and longitudinal transects across heterogeneous habitats, I assessed the drivers of small mammal community composition and demography, and the cascading effects on the parasitic load and the circulation of common and emergent pathogens. I found that small mammal survival depended on intrinsic seasonal cycles and was enhanced by food availability only where harsh climate conditions occurred. Conversely, population size was mainly determined by climate constraints and food availability. When opportunistic, dominant rodent and subordinate vole species were sympatric, they showed opposite demographic trends in presence of anthropogenic food, with the subordinate species decreasing both survival and population size, likely pointing at exploitative and interference competition (Paper I). When the spatial components of these patterns were explicitly accounted for, I found that rodents also decreased their spatial range in presence of anthropogenic food. As the local density of the most opportunistic species increased and evenness decreased, their tick burden was amplified at high tick environmental density, especially in heavier individuals, and diluted at lower tick availability. To sum up, the overlap and aggregation of primary and secondary hosts at feeding sites, and more in general in anthropic, fragmented landscapes, likely enhances the completion of the tick life-cycle, inducing tick-burden amplification in a simplified community of hosts (Paper II). Ticks could also thrive in milder climatic conditions due to climate change, as observed along the Alpine altitudinal gradient. Similarly, the composition and altitudinal distribution of the host community can be affected by climate-related abiotic conditions. In accordance with this expectation, I detected the occurrence of generalist species (e.g. bank vole) also at high altitudes, so resulting sympatric with harsh climate specialists, such as snow and field voles. This upward distributional shift of generalist species, and vectors alongside, were also accompanied by circulation of common rodent- and vector-borne pathogens that seemed to show altitudinal segregation, an aspect that needs further investigation (**Paper III**). Among these, some protozoans, such as Hepatozoon spp. (Paper IV), that may hold a strong epidemiological role along the food web. In conclusion, this dissertation elucidated some complex ecological relationships that involve small mammals in sensitive ecosystems. At macro- and micro-scale, we experimentally demonstrated the cascading consequences of climate and anthropic disturbances on small mammal communities and populations, and their implications for the health of humans and ecosystems.

List of Papers

This dissertation is based on the following original publications and manuscripts, referred to Roman numerals in the text.

Paper I

Ferrari Giulia, Devineau Olivier, Tagliapietra Valentina, Johnsen Kaja, Ossi Federico and Cagnacci Francesca. (2022). Food resources drive rodent population demography mediated by seasonality and inter-specific competition. *bioRxiv*. Complete manuscript ready for submission. https://www.biorxiv.org/content/10.1101/2022.05.07.491005v1

Paper II

Ferrari Giulia, Cagnacci Francesca, Tagliapietra Valentina, Savazza Sara and Devineau Olivier. Is environmental heterogeneity driving host-parasite interactions? Evidence from a field manipulation in a deer-rodent-tick system. Complete manuscript ready for submission.

Paper III

Ferrari Giulia, Cagnacci Francesca, Devineau Olivier, Girardi Matteo, Rosso Fausta, Rizzoli Annapaola, Arnoldi Daniele, Inama Enrico and Tagliapietra Valentina. Small mammals' assemblage along an altitudinal gradient and consequences on rodent and vector-borne diseases. The manuscript is in early stage of preparation not shared with co-authors

Paper IV

Ferrari Giulia, Girardi Matteo, Cagnacci Francesca, Devineau Olivier, and Tagliapietra Valentina. (2022). First Record of *Hepatozoon* spp. in Alpine Wild Rodents: Implications and Perspectives for Transmission Dynamics across the Food Web. *Microorganisms* 10 (4): 712. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms10040712

Abbreviations

- EVT: Evenstad study area (Norway)
- CEV: Cembra Valley study area (Italy)
- CAV: Calamento Valley study area (Italy)

Table of Contents

Sammendrag i
Abstractiii
List of Papersv
Abbreviations
Table of Contentsix
1. Introduction
1.1 Background
The concept of ecological niche1
Altered ecosystems under global change
Small mammals as a model system
Extrinsic and intrinsic drivers of small mammals' populations4
Competition in small mammals
Parasitism and pathogens transmission mediated by small mammals
1.2 Knowledge gap
1.3 Objectives and content of the thesis
2. Material and Methods
2.1 Study areas
2.2 Experimental designs
2.2.1 Supplemental feeding experiment (Paper I and II)
2.2.2 Altitudinal experiment (Paper III, IV)
2.3 Vegetation cover at fine-scale (Paper II)
2.4 Small mammals' trapping (Paper I, II, III, IV)
2.5 Parasites' monitoring (Paper II, III)

2.6	Lał	poratory analyses	17
2.	6.1	Small mammal species identification (Paper I, II, III, IV)	17
2.	6.2	Serological screening (Paper III)	18
2.	6.3	Molecular screening (Paper III, IV)	20
2.7	Dat	ta management and EuroSmallMammals	22
2.7	7.1	Data processing, relational database and quality protocols	22
2.7	7.2	EuroSmallMammals initiative	24
2.8	Sta	tistical methodologies	26
2.3	8.1	Multistate Open Robust Design Models (Paper I)	26
2.3	8.2	Spatially Explicit Capture Recapture Models (Paper II)	27
2.5	8.3	Generalized Linear Mixed Models (Paper II, III and IV)	27
2.3	8.4	Stepwise Redundancy Analyses (Paper III)	28
2.3	8.5	Pathogens' prevalence (Paper III, IV)	28
3. Re	esults	and Discussion	29
3.1	Mo	nitoring data	29
3.	1.1	Small mammals' captures	29
3.	1.2	Ticks and pathogens data	29
3.2	Foo	od resources drive rodent population demography mediated by seasonality and int	ter-
spec	ific co	ompetition (Paper I)	33
3.3 mani	Is e ipulat	environmental heterogeneity driving host-parasite interactions? Evidence from a fi	eld 35
3.4	Sm	all mammals' assemblage along an altitudinal gradient and consequences on rod	ent
and	vector	r-borne diseases (Paper III)	38
3.5	Firs	st record of Hepatozoon spp. in Alpine Wild Rodents: Implications and Perspecti	ves
for T	ransr	nission Dynamics across the Food Web (Paper IV)	39
Genera	l con	clusion and perspectives	41

Acknowledgments	45
References	47
Dissertation articles	59

1. Introduction

1.1 Background

The concept of ecological niche

The *ecological niche* represents a fundamental milestone in ecology and evolution, although it has been revised numerous times and in many ways (Sales et al. 2021). Originally, the term 'niche' stems from a suite of ecological requirements (e.g. average temperature, solar radiation, precipitation, terrain aspect) within which a species is capable of surviving and reproducing without immigrational subsidy (Grinnell 1917). Later, Elton (1927) placed the individual species within a community, proposing that niche was defined by the role, function and impact of species within the environment. Therefore, the former definition considers the autecological and physiological approach (environmental niche), involving scenopoetic abiotic variables not affected by the focal species; whereas, the latter definition is more related to the trophic levels of the food chain (trophic niche), involving resources potentially consumed by the species (Guisan and Thuiller 2005). Even after, Hutchinson (1957, 1978) combined the two previous visions by providing a new formalization of the term, defining the niche as a multidimensional hypervolume that permits species to exist. Accordingly to Hutchinson's view, organisms dynamically occupy a distinct area, called *fundamental niche*, in compliance with a set of abiotic conditions that enhance fitness properties. When multiple species co-occur in the same space, they ought to systematically adapt their behaviour and physiology to the environment and to the periodic seasonal rhythms (White and Hastings 2020). In this sense, species reshape their fundamental niche into a *realized niche* that represents the synergism between multi-species interactions and the changing environment, producing cascading effects on niche breadth actually observed in nature (Sexton et al. 2017). Hutchinson's niche concept was enforced by MacArthur and Levins (1967), for which the overall number of species in a community is related to the range of available resources and with niche breadth of each species (competition-centered niche theory and resource utilization *distribution*). However, all these definitions of niche did not explicitly consider the demographic outlook that was incorporated only by Maguire (1973) (demographic niche). In the 21st century, several models, such as mechanistic theory (Chase and Leibold 2003), neutral theory (Hubbell 2011) and BAM diagrams (Soberon and Peterson 2005), revised and extended the classical niche concept, including those limitations occurring at multiple spatial scales, such as immigration, dispersal and competition (Pulliam 2000, Soberón 2007).

The per-se ecological niche concept provides a useful framework for understanding: (i), whether a system equally combines intrinsic factors with extrinsic variability of the environment; and (ii), how a species relates with and to those extrinsic factors, through both effect and response interactions. However, despite the long historical course this concept still remains debated (Mcinerny and Etienne 2012a, 2012b).

Altered ecosystems under global change

Environmental heterogeneity is an umbrella term that incorporates the complexity, diversity, variability and structure of abiotic (e.g. climate conditions, soil properties and topography) and biotic factors (e.g. land cover configuration, vegetation composition and structure) (Stein et al. 2014). Being ubiquitous and uneven, availability and heterogeneity of resources, as well as favourable abiotic conditions, reflect into species' individual fitness by providing breeding sites, food resources and shelters from predators, parasites and adverse climate, ultimately affecting niche relationships both in time and in space (Bar-Massada 2015). Therefore, the scale and the grain of temporal and spatial heterogeneity, related also to life span, movement and dispersal ability of organisms, may favour or limit niche breadth.

Recently, environmental heterogeneity has been even more re-shaped by environmental stressors, such as weather extremes arising from climate change and human-induced land-use perturbations (e.g. habitat loss, degradation, fragmentation) (Côté et al. 2016). In particular, when limits of fundamental niche are surpassed, species track the new environmental optimum by adapting their niche breadth either via genetic evolution and phenotypic plasticity (Radchuk et al. 2019) or through distributional shifts (Huntley et al. 2010). These responses can occur both at individual and population levels (Parmesan 2006, Urban et al. 2016), and may involve those generalist species that are more tolerant to habitat and climate disturbances. Conversely, specialist species that are characterized by narrow niche breadth are more sensitive to those changes and may not be able to track their environmental optimum, thus resulting overwhelmed. For instance, milder climatic conditions (IPCC 2022), as well as an increase in resource availability (Bogdziewicz et al. 2021), have promoted upward and northward shifts of distributional ranges in generalist species (Moritz et al. 2008, Myers et al. 2009), creating cascading effects on interspecific encounters and causing biotic homogenization (Singleton et al. 2005, Clavel et al. 2011). These

adaptive responses may emerge also under anthropic disturbance, with artificial supplemental feeding, a widespread practice used in Europe and North America for management purposes (Milner et al. 2014), that mimics the overabundance of food resources. Wildlife food supplementation may indeed affect species demography (Rémy et al. 2013, Johnsen et al. 2016), spatial (Ossi et al. 2017, Ranc et al. 2020) and foraging (Felton et al. 2017) behaviour, and aggregation of individuals (Yoccoz et al. 2001, Ossi et al. 2020). These effects have community implications, increasing intra- and inter-specific contact rates (Côté 2000, Saetnan and Skarpe 2006) and favouring generalist and opportunistic species.

The cascading consequences of these altered processes emerged especially in the complexity and ecosystem functioning of the most exposed and threatened ecosystems, i.e. arctic and alpine zones, which represent therefore unique settings for studying the underpinning mechanisms of global change. Specifically, these environments are characterized by high rates of local endemism, and great biodiversity and their biological and chemical processes experience high temperature sensitivity (Ernakovich et al. 2014, Elsen and Tingley 2015).

Small mammals as a model system

Due to their wide distribution across diverse habitats and numerous trophic niches and their rapid pace of life-history events, small mammals are considered informative models to track environmental effects on individual fitness, demography and, ultimately, population and community dynamics. In contrast to slow-living large mammals that tend to have a delayed effect of extrinsic perturbations on individual fitness and demography (Norin and Metcalfe 2019), small mammals (e.g. voles, mice and shrews) experience immediate functional and numerical responses to climatic and environmental changes. Indeed, they are key components for ecosystem functioning (Johnson and O'Neil 2001). They disperse seeds, pollen and fungal spores (Nystuen et al. 2014), contribute to vegetation composition and forest regeneration with selective grazing, and stir soil with tunnels and burrows (Davidson et al. 2012). Further, small mammals represent both preys (Fuller and Sievert 2001) and predators (Bradley and Marzluff 2003) along the trophic chain and act as hosts for many ecto-parasites and a multitude of zoonotic and non-zoonotic pathogens (Medlock et al. 2013, Dahmana et al. 2020).

Extrinsic and intrinsic drivers of small mammals' populations

Based on the demographic niche concept, the overall niche of a species is formed by the combination of possibly divergent niches of the demographic vital rates (i.e. survival, fecundity, somatic growth) that change in response to environmental gradients (Pironon et al. 2018). Studies on small mammals were at the forefront in defining the interplay between top-down, bottom-up and density dependence processes, providing observational data under experimental and wild settings (Krebs and Myers 1974, Hansson and Henttonen 1988, Boonstra 1994, Cornulier et al. 2013; see reviews from Krebs 2013, Oli 2019, Andreassen et al. 2021).

Predicting the near- and long-term responses of small mammal demographic niche to environmental changes requires the understanding of relationships between demographic rates, per capita growth rate (Sibly and Hone 2002) and population density (Krebs 2002b) within the environment. Indeed, the population growth rate may show density-dependence, either direct or delayed (Batzli 1999), or density-independent stochasticity (Stenseth et al. 2002), which together regulate population returning to its equilibrium density (Krebs 2002a, Turchin 2003). The rate of population change is affected not only by current and past density but also by other intrinsic and extrinsic factors, whose interplay governs demographic rates. Intrinsic factors include those internal components making up the population, such as behavioural tendencies, sociality, lifehistory traits and physiological and genetic characteristics. For instance, social aggregation can promote winter survival thanks to thermoregulation (Sipari et al. 2016), but can also decrease litter size and breeding in females, although enhancing healthy offsprings (Gromov 2021). Body mass also can favour survival, especially during winter (Aars and Ims 2002), while dispersal animals may show a high mortality rate being more exposed to predators, but at the same time retained high resilience to habitat fragmentation (Rémy et al. 2014). Intrinsic effects interact with environmental extrinsic conditions, namely top-down (i.e. severe weather, predation, parasitism) and bottom-up (i.e. food quality and quantity, landscape shelters). The effect of predation on small mammal survival and abundance was extensively elucidated, also in interaction with food supply (Desy and Batzli 1989, Korpimaki et al. 2005, Korpela et al. 2014), which in turn has profound impacts on small mammal survival, breeding and density (Krebs and DeLong 1965, Hansen and Batzli 1978, Taitt and Krebs 1981, Rémy et al. 2013). Further, also climate constraints may either favour (Korslund and Steen 2006) or limit (Aars and Ims 2002, Kausrud et al. 2008) small mammal persistence and vital rates. As notable, studies observed a multitude of different demographic

responses to intrinsic and extrinsic factors and therefore a niche-based approach that integrates the components of the ecological niche may solve the complexity that emerged in examining small mammal demography.

All these factors strongly shape the annual population pattern of small mammals, which is characterized by an alternation between breeding (i.e. from late spring to early autumn) and nonbreeding (i.e. from late autumn to early spring) seasons, in temperate and polar regions (Eccard and Herde 2013). Specifically, in late spring, the decreased energetic costs due to warmer temperatures, together with the increase of food resources (Pearse et al. 2016), stimulate reproduction (Steinlechner and Puchalski 2003), which continues until autumn and during which early and later-born generations are produced. During the breeding season, deaths of newborn and immature animals, as well as high emigration rate of overwintered individuals (i.e. those that successfully survived throughout the previous winter) make the survival rate to collapse (Flowerdew et al. 1985). During the non-breeding season, the survival of overwintering late-born animals is higher, guaranteeing the bulk for the following year spring population. The demographic pattern governed by these variations of population rates typically shows its lowest in population size over winter, an increase in spring, a peak in late summer and a decline in autumn (Eccard and Herde 2013).

Competition in small mammals

Heterogeneous habitats offer a wide spectrum of colonization opportunities for a great number of small mammal species, which together create a suite of interactions which can trigger competitive mechanisms within ecological communities (Wiens 2011). Generally, sympatric species adjust their behavioural strategies, foraging activity (Zwolak et al. 2016), habitat selection (Hille and Mortelliti 2010) and activity patterns (Viviano et al. 2022) to partition their niche along trophic, spatial and temporal niche dimensions and thus facilitating coexistence (Schoener 1974). However, this mechanism may collapse either under strong environmental perturbations (Costa-Pereira et al. 2019) when species respond similarly to environmental niche requirements (e.g. food, mates, sites and shelters) or due to density-dependence mechanisms (Brook and Bradshaw 2006). These circumstances outset interspecific competition (Eccard and Ylönen 2003, 2007) that can emerge through exploitation or interference in small mammals. Exploitative competition describes a negative depletion of shared resources of one species to the other (classical exploitation; MacArthur and Levins 1967) or negative interaction between species that share a natural antagonistic factor (apparent competition; Holt and Bonsall 2017). Instead, behavioural interference involves direct interaction among species, with dominant ones inhibiting the ability of subordinate species to access the resources by obtaining dominance status (Grether et al. 2017). Although these two types of competition often overlap in nature, their effects are difficult to separate (Shenbrot and Krasnov 2002) and only some studies have been able to disentangle the two responses in small mammals through mathematical simulations or with experimental enclosures (Abrams 1998, Schmidt et al. 2005, Liesenjohann et al. 2011), but not in wild settings using an open experimental approach.

Parasitism and pathogens transmission mediated by small mammals

Parasitism can drive niche specialization (Britton and Andreou 2016), producing cascading effects on small mammals' ecological communities and ecosystem properties (Thomas et al. 2000). Small mammals are important hosts for ticks (represented by 907 species belonging mainly to Argasidae and Ixodidae families), which are obligate hematophagous ecto-parasites whose survival, as well as moulting across life stages and thus completion of their life cycle, depending on the successful exploitation of hosts (McCoy et al. 2013). The encounter between ticks and their hosts depends (i) on the ability of ticks to attach to the host and the strategy of hosts to avoid ticks, both driven by immunity, hormones and physiological conditions (Rosà et al. 2006); (ii) on the overlap of their spatial and temporal distribution (Raffel et al. 2008, Cagnacci et al. 2012), that can change based on home range size and activity patterns of hosts, as well as tick questing behaviour (Randolph 2004); (iii) on the host community composition and species abundance across environmental gradients (Dobson and Hudson 1986, Levine 2000). However, all these relationships have been usually considered separately, so the literature remained not conclusive in outlining the causal mechanisms that link host abundance with tick burden. This might be revealed by adopting a spatially explicit, ecosystemic approach accounting for the ensemble of potential drivers.

From an eco-epidemiological perspective, ticks are important vectors of a multitude of diseasecausing pathogens infecting both domestic and wild animals, as well as humans (zoonotic spillover pathway) (Plowright et al. 2017). In particular, among the pathogens of the Palearctic region that are transmitted by hard ticks and small mammal hosts (Rizzoli et al. 2014), Tick-borne encephalitis virus (TBEV), causing tick-borne encephalitis (Riccardi et al. 2019), and *Borrelia burgdorferi* complex, which is involved in Lyme borreliosis (Steinbrink et al. 2022), have the greatest impact on human health. Ticks and small mammals can also harbour less hazardous vector-borne pathogens yet with medical and veterinary importance, such as *Anaplasma phagocytophilum*, a bacteria which leads to granulocytic anaplasmosis in human and wildlife (Stuen et al. 2013), and also protozoans of genus *Babesia*, that cause babesiosis in humans (Yabsley and Shock 2013). Interestingly, ticks are among the arthropod vectors that can infect small mammals with *Hepatozoon* spp. once ingested (Duscher et al. 2015), producing detrimental effects across the food web involving also prey-predator transmission. Beyond tick-borne pathogens, small mammals also promote the emergence of rodent-borne agents such as hantaviruses causing haemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome in Europe (Olsson et al. 2010).

These pathogens are mainly harboured by small mammals (Dahmana et al. 2020). Indeed, small mammals serve to maintain the infectious agents in the environment (paratenic role) and can have the competence to transmit them to other susceptible hosts and vectors (reservoir role). Several studies evaluated the spatial distribution or life-cycle of arthropod vectors and of hosts and others described the distribution of infectious agents (Mihalca and Sándor 2013, Medlock et al. 2013, Han et al. 2016). However, uncertainty remains on the relationship between species composition of natural communities of hosts and rates of pathogen circulation (Estrada-Peña et al. 2014, Valenzuela-Sánchez et al. 2021). Indeed, the novel associations between reservoir hosts and potentially infected vectors (Altizer et al. 2013, 2018) can ultimately boost vector-borne pathogens' circulation and spreading within the food web and the ecosystem (Johnson et al. 2015). The dynamics of hosts-parasites-pathogens associations could be further complicated by climate change, because milder climatic conditions and shifts of host availability in space and time may re-shape the ecological niche of ticks, opening relevant eco-epidemiological concerns about the alteration of circulation of pathogens and therefore of disease transmission (Estrada-Peña 2008, Gilbert 2021). For instance, recent studies have observed a geographic expansion of ticks towards northern latitudes (De Pelsmaeker et al. 2021) and higher altitudes (Garcia-Vozmediano et al. 2020), which increased the occurrence of tick-borne diseases (Randolph 2001).

1.2 Knowledge gap

Innumerable studies have contributed to assessing the effects of ecological intrinsic and extrinsic factors on (i) the determination of individual fate, (ii) the modulation of population demography and dynamics, and (iii) the composition of animal communities and the relationships therein (see Background sections above). In an eco-epidemiological framework, such fundamental ecological processes cascade on the dynamics of host-parasite associations, and ultimately the circulation of pathogens. Some of these links have not been disentangled, yet their understanding is becoming urgent under the current climate and global change. The increasing human footprint is rapidly modifying the environmental gradients, both in terms of climate and distribution and concentration of resources and habitats. Species respond differently to these modifications and consequently, we assist to population expansions or extirpations, species distributional shifts, and community modifications. As all these cascades on parasite environmental persistence, parasitic load, and pathogen transmission, new and old diseases emerge and spread. My dissertation aims to identify some missing links between the ecological underpinning processes and the host-parasite-pathogen patterns that we observe in changing heterogeneous landscapes. I have addressed such ambitious goal by applying a multi-factorial, niche-based approach and using field experimental designs. I have used small mammals as model species due to their key eco-systemic role, including as primary hosts for several ecto-parasites and pathogens, with specific, but not exclusive, focus on ticks and tick-borne-pathogens (see Background). In particular, I first adopted a niche-based approach to experimentally evaluate the demographic responses of rodents to the heterogeneity of climate and resource distribution, and the consequences of such responses on community composition and inter-specific relationships. Then, I explored the cascading effects of such ecological relationships considering rodents as hosts, through a spatially explicit analysis of the hosts-parasite association. I finally evaluated how these interactions emerge as distributional patterns of hosts, parasites and pathogens along an altitudinal gradient, projecting the vertical habitat transitions as prospective changes through time under climate change. I articulated these tasks within a conceptual workflow and four specific objectives, corresponding to the four papers composing this thesis that I present in the next paragraph.



1.3 Objectives and content of the thesis

Figure 1: Eco-epidemiological processes supporting the workflow of the PhD thesis. Intrinsic, extrinsic factors and biotic interactions underpin host-parasite-pathogen patterns. These interactions cascade one onto another and emerge at different ecological scales. Boxes represent the factors at different scales (individual: dotted boxes; population: dashed boxes; community: dotted-dashed boxes; global: solid boxes), while the arrows indicate the relationships between them. The colour shades of boxes and arrows identify the ecological processes addressed by specific objectives that were at the basis of the papers included in the Thesis. In particular, blue: Paper I; green: Paper II; orange: Paper III and red: Paper IV.

The main objectives of this PhD dissertation were: (i) to assess the effects of environmental heterogeneity, in terms of climate and availability of trophic resources, on woodland rodent demography and species interactions by applying a niche-based approach; (ii) to track how these effects cascade on host-tick pairings within a multi-host system exposed to human impact; (iii) to describe the distributional patterns of rodent hosts, parasites and pathogens along an altitudinal gradient exposed to climate change; (iv) to assess the emergence of non-zoonotic vector-borne

rodent pathogens of high ecosystemic relevance across gradients of environmental heterogeneity. I addressed these objectives using live-trapping data of small mammals across wide latitudinal and altitudinal gradients and applying serological and molecular laboratory analyses, as well as spatial implicit and spatially explicit capture-mark-recapture models, multivariate statistics and generalized linear modelling.

Specifically, the thesis is accompanied by four papers, each of which aimed to assess the aboveproposed objectives (see Figure 1). In Paper I, I disentangled the effects of bottom-up (i.e. food availability), top-down (i.e. climate severity) extrinsic factors, as well as seasonal intrinsic cycles, and inter-specific competition on rodent demographic rates and patterns (objective i). To achieve this objective, we deployed control/treatment designs of food resource availability at two latitudinal extremes of the boreal-temperate gradient (Italy and Norway) to contemporarily measure the effect of climatic severity (longitudinal comparison) and food availability (food manipulation), while controlling for seasonal variation and co-occurrence of sympatric species. In Paper II, I investigated the role of environmental heterogeneity, in terms of availability and distribution of anthropogenic food and vegetation cover in multi-host systems (ungulate feeding sites), on rodent space use patterns and local density, and consequently evaluated the cascading effects on the intensity of tick burden (objective ii). To do so, we applied spatially explicit capture recapture models and measurements of the covariates, while accounting for other determinants, including host individual traits and tick availability in the environment. In Paper III, I evaluated the small mammal assemblage composition along an Alpine altitudinal gradient of habitats and the relation between host distribution and occurrence of infectious pathogens (objectives iii). To do so, we live-trapped and sampled small mammal species and evaluated their association along the aforementioned altitudinal transitions, as well as the occurrence and rate of infection of rodentand vector-borne pathogens. In Paper IV, I assessed the occurrence and prevalence of protozoans belonging to Hepatozoon genus, a non-zoonotic micro-organism of wide ecosystemic significance, across the Alpine altitudinal gradient and under a diverse degree of anthropic pressure (objective iv). To do so, we examined the effectiveness of the PCR-based method coupled with sequencing for detecting these protozoans across a broad spectrum of small mammal hosts in wild and periurban areas.

2. Material and Methods

2.1 Study areas



Figure 2: Locations of the study areas in Norway and in Italy. Evenstad (EVT; Norway) (Panel A) is included in Paper I, Cembra Valley (CEV; Italy) (Panel B) in Paper I, II, IV and Calamento Valley (CAV; Italy) (Panel C) in Paper III and IV. Red square: trapping grids with supplemental food, white circle: trapping grids without supplemental food; triangles: trapping grids along an altitudinal gradient (500-2500 m a.s.l.).

The data sampling was carried out in two areas located at the extremes of the boreal-temperate climatic gradient, namely Norway and Italy (Figure 2). In South-East Norway, small mammal trapping was performed at Evenstad study area (61.00N – 11.00E; Stor Evdal municipality, Inland - Norway). Here the climate is characterized by a strong seasonality with cold and snowy winters and mild and short summers (boreal climate, *sensu* Köppen-Geiger classification, Kottek et al., 2006) and the landscape is mainly dominated by *Picea abies* and *Pinus sylvestris* with bilberry in

the shrub cover and mosses in the ground layer. Data from Evenstad study area were investigated in Paper I.

The Italian study areas were located in the North-Eastern Italian Alps, namely Cembra Valley and Calamento Valley. Cembra Valley (46.13020N – 11.17843E; Albiano municipality, Autonomous Province of Trento - Italy) comprises peri-urban areas with an alternation of small villages and areas of anthropic employment (quarries and forest harvest) and semi-naturalized forests. The seasonal shift is gradual with short and cool winters and warm and flourishing summers (temperate warm-alpine climate, *sensu* Köppen-Geiger classification, Kottek et al., 2006), which at the moderate altitudes (1000 m a.sl.) corresponds to secondary growth broadleaved (*Fagus sylvatica, Quercus petraea*) and coniferous (*Pinus sylvestris, Abies alba, Picea abies*) mixed forests. Data collected in this study area were investigated in Paper I, II and IV.

Calamento Valley (46.12187 – 11.48985, Telve municipality, Autonomous Province of Trento - Italy) is included in the Lagorai massif and results relatively undisturbed, with few anthropic activities (traditional cattle husbandry and seasonal tourism). It is characterized by a rapid altitudinal gradient corresponding to the full Alpine vegetation succession, from broad-leaved woodland and mixed forest to conifer and stands forest, shrubs, and alpine prairies. Data from Calamento Valley was considered in Paper III and IV.

From here below we will use abbreviations for referring to these study areas, and specifically EVT for Evenstad, CEV for Cembra Valley and CAV for Calamento Valley.

2.2 Experimental designs



Figure 3: Experimental designs considered in Paper I, II, III, and IV. The supplemental feeding experiment (blue and red colours) was deployed in Norway (Evenstad study area, dotted lines) and in Italian Alps (Cembra Valley study area, solid lines). The altitudinal experiment (Calamento Valley study area, yellow colour) included 5 altitudinal belts of 500 m, from 500 m a.s.l. to 2500 m a.s.l.

2.2.1 Supplemental feeding experiment (Paper I and II)

To evaluate the demographic implications of extrinsic and intrinsic factors on small mammal populations (Paper I), we undertook experimental food manipulations in natural settings across a latitudinal gradient (Norway and Italy), which was used as a proxy for climatic severity (Figure 2A and Figure 2B). In particular, to assess the effect of resource availability, we provided *ad libitum* supplemental food in some trapping occasions and/or sites ('Feeding yes', or 'Treatment'), but not in others ('Feeding no', or 'Control') both in Norway and in Italy. Specifically, in Norway, we deployed thirteen trapping grids and performed monthly captures from 2013 to 2015 by following a temporal control/treatment approach. Here, supplemental food (a mixture of oat and sunflowers) was provided *ad libitum* next to each trap during some trapping sessions (state of the

sites: 'Feeding yes'), while depletion of food occurred in other sessions (state of the sites: 'Feeding no') (see Johnsen et al. 2016 for details) (Figure 3). In Italy, we applied a control/treatment approach following a spatial resolution, by providing *ad libitum* corn supply in Treatment grids (sites: 'Feeding yes'), while the Control grids (sites: 'Feeding no') lacked of food during the entire sampling period (Figure 3). In three Control and three Treatment grids small mammal monitoring was performed from 2019 to 2021, at monthly or bi-monthly intervals during winter and summer seasons, respectively (see 2.4 for *Small mammals' trapping*).

In CEV, the supplemental food was dispensed through ungulate feeding sites located at the centre of each Treatment trapping grid, while the other three Control grids were located at least 500 m from any feeding site. Feeding sites are typically shaped as wooden hopper dispensers that provide a continuous supply of corn accessible all year round by target species, such as roe and red deer (*Capreolus capreolus* and *Cervus elaphus*), and non-target mammals (*Meles meles, Sciurus vulgaris*, Muridae, Arvicolinae) and birds (*Garrulus glandarius, Columba palumbus*) (Ranc et al. 2020). For these reasons, supplemental feeding sites permit not only testing the effect of food resource availability (Paper I), but also represent focal areas where large (deer) and small (rodents) hosts of ticks show the tendency of aggregation, and high density, which in turn enhance ticks to complete their life-cycle (Paper II) (Figure 4).



Figure 4: Pictures collected from camera traps located at ungulate feeding sites in Cembra Valley (Italy) (courtesy from 2C2T project). Both small mammals (bottom left side of picture A. and picture B.) and roe deer (right side of picture A.) were detected.

2.2.2 Altitudinal experiment (Paper III, IV)

Due to the rapid changes in physical, topographic and climatic condition over a relatively short spatial distance, a mosaic of habitats succeed along the altitudinal gradient of mountainous areas (Nagy et al. 2003). By following a wide altitudinal range (every 500 m, from 500 m a.s.l. to 2500 m a.s.l., Körner 2007), we identified five altitudinal belts in CAV, each of which is characterized by a specific Alpine habitat (Figure 2C and Figure 3). In particular, natural woodlands change along with altitude, from lowland and montane forest formations to dwarf shrubs (belts: 500 m a.s.l., 1000 m a.s.l. and 1500 m a.s.l.). Then above the treeline, forests give the way to grass-heath, sedge-heath, and moss-heath formations (belt: 2000 m a.s.l.), and finally, to open grasslands and rocky habitats (belt: 2500 m a.s.l.).

In each of the five alpine altitudinal belts, we deployed two trapping grids spaced at least 500 m one from each other. We live-trapped small mammals and evaluated ecto-parasites' load in 2019 and 2020 at monthly intervals from May to October, to assess small mammals' assemblage and pathogens' distribution across the Alpine altitudinal gradient (Paper III, IV). Capture of the small mammals and parasites' load assessment followed the same trapping procedure applied also for the winter experiment (see 2.4 for *Small mammals' trapping*).

2.3 Vegetation cover at fine-scale (Paper II)

When considering environmental heterogeneity, spatial scale depends on both species' taxonomic group and on the study aim and determines the type of structural variables that have to be chosen to reflect habitat requirements (Tews et al. 2004). Being small mammals and ectoparasites strongly affected by microclimate and microhabitat (Estrada-Peña 2008, Hille and Mortelliti 2010), in CEV we assessed vegetation cover at ground level at each trap station. In this way, besides tree canopy cover, also fine-scale understory components (e.g. leaves, branches, stalks of understory) were detected. Specifically, we applied a standardized and objective approach, consisting of a camera system (Nikon Coolpix 4500) with fish-eye lens (Nikon Fish-eye Converter FC-E8) that retrieved digital hemispherical photographs (DHPs) of the vegetation structure from the ground. In particular, we collected one DHP per season following a standardized protocol. To extract fine-scale vegetation cover estimates, we processed all DHPs using CAN-EYE software (version 6.495, National Institute of Agricultural Research, Toulouse, France), which ensures efficiency and accuracy, as well as traceability by avoiding the confounding observer's effect (Chianucci and Cutini 2012).

2.4 Small mammals' trapping (Paper I, II, III, IV)

Small mammal trapping was conducted in the three study areas (EVT, CEV and CAV). In EVT (Paper I) and in CAV (Paper III, IV), trapping grids carried out a cross-shaped design, with 16 trap stations placed 15 m and 7.5 m apart depending on the external and internal trap position (total grid area: 3600 m²). Meanwhile in CEV (Paper I, II, IV), animals were caught in square-grids of 8 x 8 traps with 10 m of inter-trap distance (total grid area: 4900 m²). In all study areas, trapping sessions lasted 4 days/3 nights per month, while traps were checked every 12 hours at EVT and every 24 hours in CEV and CAV. The traps were left open during non-trapping periods to habituate animals to their presence. Each trap consisted of a standard Ugglan Multiple Live Trap (model 2, Granhab, Sweden), filled with hay during the cold season, and baited with carrot slices and seeds (oat in Norway, sunflower in Italy). Standard capture-mark-recapture techniques (CMR) were adopted (Pollock et al. 1990, Amstrup et al. 2005). Each animal was individually marked with a Passive Integrated Transponder (PIT) tag (Trovan® Ltd., UK), and standard information were recorded for each capture (Figure 5). In Italy only, blood (from the retro-orbital sinus, using microhaematocrit capillary), tissue samples (tail tip and ear biopsy, using sterile scissors and disposable ear punch) and faecal pellets (from the trap, using sterile tweezers) were collected for further laboratory analyses and stored at -80°C (blood, ear biopsy and faeces) or in alcohol (tail tip). All animal handling procedures and ethical issues were approved by the regional or local Wildlife Management Committees.



Figure 5: *Bank* vole (*Myodes glareolus*) captured at Cembra Valley (Italy) during winter 2020, using Ugglan Multiple Live Trap (© Simone Dal Farra).

2.5 Parasites' monitoring (Paper II, III)

Habitat characteristics affect ticks questing behaviour and vital parameters (Ginsberg et al. 2020), while climate mostly influences tick abundance and distribution (Randolph 2004). Further also mean tick burden (number of attached ticks on hosts) is essential to evaluate parasite distribution among hosts (Rosà et al. 2006). We evaluated tick population using the number of ticks collected per unit of distance from tick dragging but also assessed tick burden by performing tick screening from captured small mammals.

Monitoring of tick populations was performed only in CEV (Paper II). Each of the six trapping grids was visited once per year (May 2019 and May 2020). The collection of host-seeking ticks was carried out in a standard way by dragging 1 m² white flannel cloth through vegetation and leaf litter. The cloth was pulled behind the investigator along 3 transects of 70 m per grid following the rodents' trap line and inspected for ticks every 5-10 m, accordingly to vegetation cover. Tick larvae, nymphs and adults attached to the cloth were counted and separated based on sex. Number of ticks collected by dragging was used to infer tick density at grid level per m².

Additionally, during a capture event in both CEV and CAV (Paper II and III), each small mammal individual was screened for the presence of ecto-parasites (i.e. ticks, fleas, mites and mobile mites). In particular, for ticks, we discriminated life stages (i.e. larval, nymphal and adult stage), and we recorded the body position in which the tick was found attached on host (i.e. head, body and ears), as well as free nymph and co-feeding between larvae and nymphs. The mean number of attached ticks for each host determined the individual tick burden.

2.6 Laboratory analyses

2.6.1 Small mammal species identification (Paper I, II, III, IV)

Ear biopsies collected in Italy were used for epidemiological analyses (see sections 2.6.2 and 2.6.3), as well as to genetic determine those small mammal species that were morphological similar (i.e. *Apodemus* spp., *Microtus* spp. and shrews).

For DNA extraction, ear samples were incubated overnight at 56°C and isolated using DNeasy 96 Blood & Tissue Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. For species genetic identification, we performed conventional polymerase chain reaction (PCR) method on extracted DNA (Table 1b and Table 1c) using specific primers (Table 1a) to target the

cytochrome b in yellow-necked mouse (*Apodemus flavicollis*) and wood mouse (*Apodemus sylvaticus*) and to identify shrew and *Microtus* species (Irwin et al. 1991). The discrimination between the two *Apodemus* species was confirmed using the Qiagen QIAxcel® capillary electrophoresis system. Meanwhile for shrews and *Microtus* spp., after controlling the success of amplification through electrophoresis, the PCR products were purified using ExoSAP-IT (USB, Cleveland, OH, USA) and then sequenced using Sanger Sequencing. The DNA sequences were analysed and aligned using Sequencher software version 5.4.6 (Gene Codes Corp., Ann Arbor, Mich.) and Clustal X software version 2.0 and subsequently compared with the data stored in the GenBank database with Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (Blast; online version).

2.6.2 Serological screening (Paper III)

To detect the presence of antibodies against flaviviruses (Tick-borne encephalitis virus, TBEV) and orthohantaviruses (Puumala, PUUV and Dobrava-Belgrade virus, DOBV) in small mammals, we analysed sera samples through Indirect Immunofluorescence Assay (IFA). IFA is based on two types of antibodies, unconjugated primary antibody and fluorophore-conjugated secondary antiantibody, which target the presence of primary antibody through immunofluorescence (Niedrig et al. 2007). All blood samples were centrifuged at 12,320 g for 12 min to separate the serum from other blood components (white and red cells, clotting factors and platelets). Sera samples were diluted 1/20 according to the manufacturer's protocol (HaartBio Ltd., Helsinki, Finland) with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and were then added to slides provided by the Department of Virology, University of Helsinki, Finland. These slides contained cellular viral antigens that can bind any potential primary antibody against the virus and may occur in infected sera samples. Slides with diluted sera were incubated at 37°C for 30 min in a stove and three washes with PBS were performed. A secondary anti-mouse antibody, which carries the fluorophore, was then added to each serum sample to highlight the binding between the primary antibody and antigen. Further, incubation in stove and three PBS washes were performed for the second time. Immunofluorescence of positive samples was then detected with a fluorescence microscope. For each stock of samples, two negative (PBS with anti-mouse either anti-human antibodies) and one positive (human antibodies against TBEV, PUUV or DOBV with anti-human antibodies) controls were included (Tagliapietra et al. 2018, Kallio-Kokko et al. 2022).

Table 1a				Primer F				Primer R		
A. flavicollis	FL	ADN 5'-G	CG TA	T GCA AAT /	AGG AAG T [,]	4C-3'	FLAUP 5'-A(3C TAC ACT A	AC ACG TT	Γ C– 3'
A. sylvaticus	SΥ	TDN 5'-7	LTA A	TA TGG GGT	GGG GTG T	TA-3'	SYLUP 5'-GA	G GAG GAT T	CT CAG TAG	J AC-3'
Microtus spp. and shrews	5 F	H427 5'-TC	CA GA	A TGA TAT T	TG TCC TCA	1−3'	L79 5'-AAC	CATC TCA GC.	A TGA TGA/	A - 3'
	Final	DNA	H2O	Reaction	25 mM	10 mg/ml	10 pmol/µl	10 pmol/µl	10 mM	5 U of
Table 1b	volume (µl)	volume (µl)	(hJ)	buffer (µl)	MgCl2 (µl)	BSA (µl)	Primer F (µl)	Primer R (µl)	dNTPs (µl)	GoTaq (µl)
A. flavicollis	50	2	28.75	10	9	ı	1	1	1	0.25
A. sylvaticus	50	2	26.85	10	9	·	1	1	1	0.25
Microtus spp. and shrews	50	2	30.75	10	4	ı	1	1	1	0.25
Tabla 10		Initial		Denaturation	Ann	tealing	Extension	Fina	l	Number of
Lable 10	ten:	perature (^c	°C)	temperature ($^{\circ}$	C) temper:	ature (°C)	temperature (°t	C) temperatu	re (°C)	cycles
A. flavicollis and A. sylvatic	Sn	95 x 2'		95 x 20"	58	x 30"	72 x 1' 30"	72 x .	5'	33
Microtus spp. and shrews		95 x 2'		95 x 20"	58	x 30"	72 x 1' 30"	72 x .	5'	40

Table 1: PCR-based method for detection of small mammals' species. Specifically, specific primers (Table 1a) were used for each PCR reaction
2.6.3 Molecular screening (Paper III, IV)

To assess the occurrence of protozoa (*Babesia* spp., *Hepatozoon* spp.) and bacteria (*Anaplasma* spp. and *Borrelia* spp.) in small mammal hosts, we used DNA extracted from ear biopsy (section 2.6.1) and we performed conventional polymerase chain reaction (PCR) method, followed by sequencing of the amplified DNA.

Pathogens' occurrence was detected by amplification of specific genes (18S rRNA for *Hepatozoon* spp. and *Babesia* spp., 16S rRNA gene for *Anaplasma* spp. and *OspC* gene for *Borrelia* spp.) through PCR reactions (Table 2b) using specific primers (except for *Hepatozoon* spp.; Table 2a) and following temperature cycling profile (Table 2c). For *Anaplasma* spp. amplification of long fragment was performed applying nested PCR with two types of primers, while for other pathogens single PCR was conducted. Visualization of the success of amplification was confirmed using the Qiagen QIAxcel® capillary electrophoresis system. Positive PCR products were purified by enzymatic ExoSAP-IT (USB, Cleveland, OH, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions and then sequenced using Sanger Sequencing. The DNA sequences were analysed and aligned using Sequencher software version 5.4.6 (Gene Codes Corp., Ann Arbor, Mich.) and Clustal X software version 2.0 and subsequently compared with the data stored in the GenBank database with Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (Blast; online version).

biopsy. Specifically,	specific _f	orimers (1	but not	for <i>Hepatoz</i>	oon spp.; T:	able 2a) we	ere used for ea	ch PCR reactic	ons (Table 21	o), that followed
temperature cycling f	orofile (T	able 2c).								
Table 2a				Primer	Ц			Pri	imer R	
<i>Babesia</i> spp. and <i>Hepatozoon</i> spp.		BN2	5'-TAG	TTT ATG GT	T AGG ACT	ACG-3'	BJ1 5'-	-GTC TTG TAA	TTG GAA To	3A TGG – 3'
Anaplasma spp. 1 PCR		ge3a 5'-C	AC ATC	Grad GTC (BAA CGG AT	<u>IT ATT C– 3</u>	3' ge10r 5"-T	TC CGT TAA G	AA GGA TCI	TAAT CTC C-3'
Anaplasma spp. 2 PCR		ge9f 5'-/	AAC GG	A TTA TTC	FTT ATA GC	TTGCT-3'	ge2 5'-G	3C AGT ATT A	AA AGC AGC	C TCC AGG- 3'
<i>Borrelia</i> spp.		OspC F 5'-	- AAA C	JAA TAC AT	T AAG TGC	GAT ATT-	3' OspC R	5'-GGG CTT G	TA AGC TCT	TTA ACT-3'
T T T T	Final	DNA	H2O	Reaction	25 mM	10 mg/ml	10 pmol/µl	10 pmol/µl	10 mM	5 U of
I adle 20	volume (Jul)	volume (Jul)	(lµl)	buffer (µl)	MgCl2 (µl)	BSA (µl)	Primer F (µl)	Primer R (µl)	dNTPs (µl)	GoTaq (µl)
Babesia spp.	50	5	21.25	10	8	0.5	2	2	1	0.25
<i>Hepatozoon</i> spp.	50	1	28.25	10	9	0.5	1.5	1.5	1	0.25
Anaplasma spp. 1 PCR	50	2	29.75	10	4	0	1.5	1.5	-	0.25
Anaplasma spp. 2 PCR	50	5	30.75	10	4	0	1	1	1	0.25
Borrelia spp.	50	5	24.75	10	5	0	2	2	1	0.25
Table 3.		Initial		Denaturation	Anne	aling	Extension	Final	INUI	nber of
TADIC 2C	temp	erature (°C	C) ter	nperature (°C)	temperat	ure (°C) t	temperature (°C)	temperature ((°C) c.	ycles
Babesia spp.		95 x 2'		95 x 20"	53 x	30"	72 x 40"	72 x 5'		40
Hepatozoon spp.	-	95 x 2'		95 x 20"	46 x	15"	72 x 50"	72 x 5'		40
Anaplasma spp. 1 PCR		95 x 2'		95 x 30"	54 x	30"	72 x 40"	72 x 5'		40
<i>Anaplasma</i> spp. 2 PCR		95 x 2'		95 x 30"	54 x	30"	72 x 40"	72 x 5'		40
Borrelia spp.		95 x 2'		95 x 30"	54 x	30"	72 x 1'15"	72 x 5'		45

Table 2: PCR-based method for detection of Babesia spp., Borrelia spp., Anaplasma spp. and Hepatozoon spp. from small mammal ear

2.7 Data management and EuroSmallMammals

2.7.1 Data processing, relational database and quality protocols

All data collected during this PhD both from fieldwork and obtained from laboratory analyses were stored in the relational database created specifically for the EuroSmallMammals initiative (see section 2.7.2). In this way, we have supported the concept of "data sharing readiness" (Michener 2015) and envisioned their future reuse within the scientific community.

The database was built under open software platforms (Django, PostgreSQL, PostGIS; Urbano and Cagnacci 2014) and is based on relational architecture, which permits to manage high quantity of complex data (see Figure 6). Before storing the data in the database, they passed from harmonization process and quality checks performed through formal and partially automated controls (Urbano and Cagnacci 2021), necessary to detect errors, inconsistencies and lacking or suspicious information. Also, robustness and consistency checks were applied once the data were stored in the database.

The core information of the database is the capture event ('sampling') and the captured animal ('animal'). Beyond the capture-recapture data collected during the capture event (see records of 'sampling' look-up table in Figure 6) and the animal characteristics, the database includes also other aspects covered during a small mammal study. For instance, biological samples ('collected sample'), morphological measures ('body measure') and parasitological data ('tick position'), which are collected during the capture event. Further, also tables to store data from pathogens' screening ('laboratory analyses') and animals' dissection ('autopsy') are included. Moreover, the database stores information on the trapping protocol ('sampling design') and the geographic and topographic characteristics of the trapping grids ('plot') and of the study areas ('site'). We decide to create also microclimatic ('weather') and microhabitat ('land-use', 'vegetation', 'productivity') tables.

The structure of the database with the multiple look-up tables is illustrated in Figure 6.



Figure 6: EuroSmallMammals database model structure.

2.7.2 EuroSmallMammals initiative

Beyond the benefits derived from storing data within a repository (see 2.7.1 section), we invested time to laid the basis for a new European network, which aims in pioneering collaborative science and data sharing in small mammals' ecology. In this sense, we took advantage of the collaboration between Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences and Edmund Mach Foundation to found a new branch within the Euromammals project (https://euromammals.org/; Urbano and Cagnacci 2021) dedicated to small mammals. In particular, EuroSmallMammals has the intent of promoting collaborative open science and networking among scientists involved in small mammal ecology across Europe, for connecting different bottom-up projects and addressing unforeseen questions on small mammals' ecology.

EuroSmallMammals collaborative network is constantly expanding throughout Europe (see Table 3) and involves partners that cover different fields of interest, e.g. population demography and dynamics, epidemiology, conservation genetics, community composition, prey-predator dynamics, and landscape ecology. To promote transparency and reliability among partners, as other Euromammals groups, EuroSmallMammals consortium is based on a form of collaboration that embraces the entire scientific process and is confirmed every time a new theme of research is raised (Terms of Use signed by all partners). Further, EuroSmallMammals relies on an open data repository (see section 2.7.1 and Figure 6 for the database) that stores the data shared by the partners to make them reliable, consistently curated and analysis-ready (Reichman et al. 2011, Costello et al. 2018). Other forms of interaction are also considered relevant within the initiative. For instance, a mailing list including all partners was created for improving efficiency in communication but also for remaining in contact about diverse small mammals-related topics. Additionally, we created a specific website (https://eurosmallmammals.org/), which includes the project aim, scientific purposes and outputs, as well as private pagers used by the partners to have access to the database (future implementation).

To date (April 2022) EuroSmallMammals consortium includes 15 European partners covering 9 countries (Spain and Andorra, France, Germany, Italy, Norway, Poland, Czech Republic, and Albania) extended across a wide gradient of environmental, topographic and climatic contexts (see map Figure 7). The data shared by now (see Table 3), and partially stored in the database, span from 1990 to 2019 and include 48 small mammal species and 70562 capture events across 113

study areas. Other partners, which only recently joined the network, are preparing their data that are going to be included in the database.

By scaling up the knowledge from the individual to the ecosystem (Hampton et al. 2013) and by sharing data and expertise on small mammals' populations, the EuroSmallMammals initiative could give the opportunity to fill some important knowledge gaps and provide novel perspectives to evaluate the effect of global changes on species distribution, ecosystems functioning and ecoepidemiological aspects.



Figure 7: Distribution of the EuroSmallMammals partners, as of June 2022.

Country	Region	Year of sampling	#Study areas	#Species	#Capture events
Czech Republic	Lowland	2002 - 2012	3	14	7437
	Mountain	2005 - 2018	2	16	2137
Italy	Abruzzo	1990 - 1995 2000 - 2005	1	8	3340
	Piemonte/Valle d'Aosta	2015	3	19	1184
	Toscana	2011 - 2014	1	3	2890
	Trentino	2019 - 2021	2	11	2247
Norway	Birkebeinervegen	2011 - 2019	1	7	1137
	Innlandet	2013 - 2016 2017 - 2019	3	5	11158
Poland	Western Poland	2010 - 2013	1	9	8765
	Biebrza	2003-2019	2	12	3488
	Bialowieza Forest	2017 - 2019	1	6	689
Spain and Andorra	across Spain and Andorra	2008 - 2020	93	22	26079

Table 3: Summary of the data collected so far (April 2022) from EuroSmallMammals partners.Other partners did not yet share raw data but signed the Terms of Use for collaboration.

2.8 Statistical methodologies

2.8.1 Multistate Open Robust Design Models (Paper I)

Our field protocol defined by daily secondary occasions within monthly primary ones corresponds to the so-called robust design framework (Pollock 1982). Therefore, we used a multistate open robust design (MSORD) approach to estimate demographic parameters (Kendall and Nichols 2002, Cooch and White 2019) in EVT and CEV study areas. We modelled demographic parameters, namely true and apparent survival (*S* and φ), capture and arrival probability (*p* and *pent*) and transition probability (ψ), in dependence on extrinsic bottom-down (i.e. food availability) and top-down (i.e. climate severity) factors, while controlling for seasonal variation and sympatric species co-occurrence. From these models, we derived also monthly population size. We fitted the models with the RMark (Laake 2013) and used the AICc (corrected

Akaike's Information Criterion) for model selection (Burnham and Anderson 2002) with a threshold of $\Delta AICc \leq 4$.

2.8.2 Spatially Explicit Capture Recapture Models (Paper II)

We used spatially explicit capture-recapture (SECR) models (Borchers and Efford 2008) to estimate rodent density in CEV study area, across the primary occasions and separately for the rodent species, *Apodemus* spp. and *Myodes glareolus*. We combined the spatial information of grid array and trap detectors with the capture-recapture history of animals, also overlapping a habitat mask based on vegetation cover, to estimate SECR parameters: encounter rate ($g\theta$), spatial range (σ) and density (D) (Efford 2018). This set of detection parameters was modelled in dependence of spatial (i.e. supplemental food availability and vegetation cover) and temporal (i.e. primary occasions) covariates using exponential detection function. All models were fitted with secr (Efford 2020) and we performed model selection based on AICc scores.

2.8.3 Generalized Linear Mixed Models (Paper II, III and IV)

Within the thesis, we have applied Generalized Linear Mixed Models (GLMMs; Bolker et al. 2009) and Generalized Linear Models (GLMs; Crawley 2013) to assess the variation of response variables in dependence on explanatory variables that were biologically meaningful to address our working hypotheses.

In Paper II, we selected *a priori* the data collected during summer and on *Apodemus* spp. in CEV study area and we modelled tick burden as a function of vegetation cover at ground level, rodent density, controlling for tick density in the environment and body condition. We assumed negative binomial distribution of errors and fitted random effect on trap and primary trapping occasions. In Paper III, we investigated the role of altitude in shaping small mammal abundance by fitting GLMMs with negative binomial distribution on small mammal abundance, considering the altitude as the main covariate, together with small mammal species, while we controlled for temporal variation of year and trapping month. Finally, we included the trapping grid as random effect. Moreover, we also assessed the effect of altitude, small mammal species and abundance on the probability of infection of small mammals with *Hepatozoon* spp. and *Borrelia* spp. The infection with *Hepatozoon* spp. was evaluated by fitting GLMMs with binomial distribution of errors and random effect on trap, while infection with *Borrelia* spp. Was modelled with GLMs, applying binomial distribution of errors on the probability of infection. In Paper IV, we focused

only on *Hepatozoon* spp. to evaluate the role of rodent species and environmental context on the probability of infection with these parasites, controlling for life history traits. Specifically, we applied two analytical designs: (i), we evaluated the effect of anthropogenic pressure on rodent infection by comparing the study areas (CEV: high pressure; CAV: low pressure), only for homogeneous altitude; (ii), we assessed how the probability of infection would vary across species along the alpine altitudinal gradient in particularly wild context (CAV). To this end, for both analyses, we fitted GLMMs with binomial distribution of errors to the probability of infection, in dependence on anthropogenic pressure and altitudinal belts, respectively, for the two designs, as the main covariates together with species. Finally, to account for spatial autocorrelation between captures we included grid as the most parsimonious random effect.

In all the cases described, starting from the full model, we performed a model selection ranked based on the AICc. The model with the lower AICc was selected as the best model.

2.8.4 Stepwise Redundancy Analyses (Paper III)

In Paper III, we examined the relationship between small mammals' assemblage and alpine altitude with ordination method. Since the length of the first axis of the Detrended Correspondence Analysis (Hill and Gauch 1980) was below three standard deviation units, we applied a Stepwise Redundancy Analyses (RDA; (ter Braak 1995) to determine the pattern of variation in small mammal species and assemblage across altitudes.

2.8.5 Pathogens' prevalence (Paper III, IV)

In Paper III and IV, we estimated prevalence of rodent and vector-borne pathogens with 95% Confidence Interval (CI) by using EpiR package (Carstensen et al. 2021) for each small mammal species in both CEV and CAV study areas. We applied the Two Proportion Z-test to analyse the differences in prevalence rates among rodent species only for *Hepatozoon* spp.

3. Results and Discussion

3.1 Monitoring data

3.1.1 Small mammals' captures

Overall in Norway, at EVT study area, 983 bank voles (*Myodes glareolus*) were captured accounting for 4156 total capture events from December 2013 to August 2015.

Conversely, in the two Italian study areas, we captured a broad spectrum of small mammal species. In particular, in CEV, a total of 507 individuals, belonging to yellow-necked mouse (*Apodemus flavicollis*), wood mouse (*Apodemus sylvaticus*) and bank vole (*M. glareolus*) were captured 1422 times during the period February 2019 – April 2021. In CAV, 322 individuals belonging to snow vole (*Chionomys nivalis*), field vole (*Microtus arvalis, Mi. agrestis, Mi. subterraneus*), mice (*A. flavicollis* and *A. sylvaticus*) and bank vole (*M. glareolus*) were captured 823 times in total from May to October 2019 and 2020. Additionally in CAV and CEV, shrews were identified as common shrew (*Sorex araneus*), alpine shrew (*S. alpinus*), pygmy shrew (*S. minutus*) and bicoloured-shrew (*Crocidura leucodon*) (see Table 4, for details).

3.1.2 Ticks and pathogens data

In Italian study areas, a total of 5573 (1790 in CEV and 3783 in CAV) ticks belonging to the genus *Ixodes* were counted on captured rodents. In particular, we recorded 5462 larvae (98.0%), 109 nymphs (1.9%) and only sporadic adults (2 adults, one in CEV and one in CAV). We also recorded the number of co-feeding groups, (i.e. when ticks at nymphal and larval stages feed in spatio temporal proximity to each other on the same host) (see Table 5). Moreover, in CEV, we estimated an average density of 0.1 ticks/m² in May 2019 and 0.07 ticks/m² in May 2020.

From blood and ear tissue analysed samples, we detected occurrence of viruses (Tick-borne encephalitis, TBEV; Dobrava-Belgrade virus, DOBV; and Puumala virus, PUUV), bacteria (*Borrelia* spp. and *Anaplasma* spp.) and protozoans (*Hepatozoon* spp. and *Babesia* spp.) in both CEV and CAV. Specifically, we found rare prevalence of TBEV, PUUV and DOBV, while we recorded high prevalence of *Hepatozoon* spp. and *Borrelia* spp. Infection rates with *Babesia* and *Anaplasma* were low (see Table 6 for details).

$\label{eq:constraint} \begin{tabular}{lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
Valley and CAV = Calamento Valley – Italy, 2019-2021) considering species, altitude (m a.s.l.) and food experimental manipulation
Yes = supplemental food, No = no supplemental food, $-$ = no experiment).

Cr.	leucodon	0	0	0	0		0	0	0		2	0	0	Ο	0 0
S.	minutus	0	0	0	0		0	0	0		0	1	C	>	0
S.	alpinus	0	0	0	0		0	0	0		0	7	0	>	- 1
S.	araneus	0	0	0	0		1	1	0		0	С	9	,	19
Mi.	subterraneus	0	0	0	0		0	0	0		0	0	0	,	5 0
Mi.	agrestis	0	0	0	0		0	0	0		0	0	-		0
Mi.	arvalis		0	0	0		0	0	0		0	0	0	,	5
Ċ.	nivalis		0	0	0		0	0	0		0	0	0	,	16
M.	glareolus		537	446	983		82	29	111		0	52	6		33
A.	sylvaticus		0	0	0		8	0	8		2	0	0		0
A.	flavicollis		0	0	0		156	232	388		80	45	34		2
Eading	I.ccuilig		No	Yes			No	Yes			ı	ı	ı		
Altitude	(m a.s.l)		255 - 700	255 - 700			1000	1000			500	1000	1500		2000
Study	area	EVT			Total	CEV			Total	CAV					

Table 5: Total ticks based on their life stages and co-feeding groups recorded in the Italian study areas (CEV = Cembra Valley and CAV = Calamento Valley) in 2019-2021. Altitude (m a.s.l.) and food experimental manipulation (Yes = supplemental food, No = no supplemental food, - = no experiment) are showed.

Study area	Altitude	Fooding	Total	Total	Total	Total	Co fooding
Study area	(m a.s.l.)	reeding	ticks	larvae	nymphs	adults	Co-reeding
CEV							
	1000	No	673	645	28	0	4
	1000	Yes	1117	1099	17	1	3
Total			1790	1744	45	1	7
CAV							
	500	-	2197	2170	27	0	12
	1000	-	1415	1384	30	1	14
	1500	-	144	140	4	0	0
	2000	-	21	18	3	0	2
	2500	-	6	6	0	0	0
Total			3783	3718	64	1	28

athogens detected in small mammals in the Italian study areas (CEV = Cembra Valley and CAV = Calamento Valley) in 2019-2021. Ititude (m a.s.l.) and food experimental manipulation (Yes = supplemental food, No = no supplemental food, - = no experiment) are nowed. TBEV = tick-borne encephalitis virus; DOBV = Dobrava-Belgrade hantavirus; PUUV = Puumala hantavirus.
Ititude (m a.s.l.) and food experimental manipulation (Yes = supplemental food, No = no supplemental food, - = no experiment) are nowed. TBEV = tick-borne encephalitis virus; DOBV = Dobrava-Belgrade hantavirus; PUUV = Puumala hantavirus.
howed. TBEV = tick-borne encephalitis virus; $DOBV = Dobrava-Belgrade$ hantavirus; $PUUV = Puumala$ hantavirus.

$\begin{array}{c c} \text{CEV} & 1000 & \text{No} & 4/456 \\ & 1000 & \text{Yes} & 2/361 \\ \hline \text{Total} & & & & & & & \\ \hline \text{CAV} & 500 & - & & & & & & & 0 \\ & 1000 & - & & & & & 0 \\ & 1500 & - & & & & 0 \\ & & & & & & & & 0 \\ \end{array}$	TBEV	DOBV	PUUV	<i>Hepatozoon</i> spp.	Babesia microti.	Anaplasma phagocytophilum.	Borrelia spp.
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$							
I000 Yes 2/361 Total 6/817 6/817 CAV 500 - 0/ 1000 - 0/ 0/ 1500 - 0 0 2000 - 0 0	156 (0.87)	3/258 (1.16)	3/198 (1.51)	114/245 (46.53)	5/245 (2.04)	7/245 (2.85)	42/245 (17.14)
Total 6/817 CAV 500 - 0/ 1000 - 0/ 0/ 1500 - 0 0 2000 - 0 0	361 (0.55)	5/321 (1.55)	0/42	75/261 (28.73)	3/261 (1.14)	0/261	34/261 (13.02)
CAV 500 - 0/ 1000 - 0/ 1500 - 0/ 2000 - 0	817 (0.73)	8/579 (1.38)	3/240 (1.25)	189/506 (37.35)	8/506 (1.58)	7/506 (1.38)	76/506 (15.01)
500 - 0/ 1000 - 0/ 1500 - 0 2000 - 0							
1000 - 0/ 1500 - 0 2000 - 0	0/150	2/150 (1.33)	0/1	13/89 (14.60)	0/89	0/89	17/89 (19.10)
1500 - 0. 2000 - 0	0/145	09/0	0/86	47/103 (45.63)	0/103	4/103 (3.88)	24/103 (23.30)
2000 - 0	0/64	0/49	0/16	11/50 (22.00)	0/50	0/50	4/50 (8.00)
	0/66	1/19 (5.26)	1/64 (1.56)	24/72 (33.33)	7/72 (9.72)	17/72 (23.61)	0/72
2500 - 0.	0/15	2/15 (13.33)	2/15 (13.33)	3/10 (30.00)	3/10 (30.00)	2/10 (20.00)	0/10
Total 0/	0/440	5/293 (1.70)	3/182 (1.65)	98/324 (30.24)	10/324 (3.08)	23/324 (7.09)	45/324 (13.88)

3.2 Food resources drive rodent population demography mediated by seasonality and inter-specific competition (Paper I)



Figure 8: Survival estimates (S) of rodents in Norway (Evenstad, EVT) (A) and Italy (Cembra Valley, CEV) (B) by species and seasons, under food manipulation (supplemental food available = dark green; no supplemental food = light green) conditions ('Feeding state' for Norway and 'Feeding site' for Italy). Summer months are grey-shaded.



Figure 9: Population size (Nt) of rodents in Norway (Evenstad, EVT), 2013-2015 (**A**) and in Italy (Cembra Valley, CEV), 2019-2021 (**B**), under food manipulation (supplemental food available = dark green; no supplemental food = light green) conditions ('Feeding state' for Norway and 'Feeding site' for Italy). Summer months are grey-shaded.

By considering a niche-based framework, we found evidence that bottom-up processes, and specifically food availability, crucially affect woodland rodent demography, and that this effect is mediated by top-down extrinsic drivers, such as climate severity, as well as by intrinsic seasonal cycles and the demography of competitor species. We observed similar seasonal patterns of survival at both latitudes and across species (Figure 8A and Figure 8B). In particular, survival increased in winter and decreased in summer, suggesting that it was governed by physiological and behavioural seasonal cycles (Eccard and Herde 2013, Olenev and Grigorkina 2014). Meanwhile, the effect of food availability on survival emerged when unfavourable conditions occurred. Specifically, with harsh climate, M. glareolus survival increased with food availability in Norway (Figure 8A) because its energetic and nutritional needs were fulfilled by supplemental food (Ylönen and Eccard 2004, Ergon et al. 2011). Observing the population size, we assessed that population of Apodemus spp. in Italy and of *M. glareolus* in Norway complied with the typical rodent demography (Figure 9A and Figure 9B), with an increase during summer and a decline during winter (Gasperini et al. 2016, Johnsen et al. 2018). Meanwhile, M. glareolus in Italy exhibited an opposite pattern, with an increase in winter and a decline in summer, suggesting a niche partitioning over the temporal scale (Viviano et al. 2022), since this generalist species is able to exploit extreme abiotic winter conditions (Markova et al. 2018). These demographic patterns were generally enhanced by food resource availability (Figure 9A and Figure 9B), probably due to reduction of home ranges (Tioli et al. 2009) that may alter dispersal mechanisms (Le Galliard et al. 2012).

However, the benefits ensured by food availability both on survival and on population size collapsed when sympatric species co-occurred, as observed in Italy (Figure 8B and Figure 9B). In particular, where supplemental food was provided, niche partitioning between *Apodemus* spp. and *M. glareolus* failed and triggered antagonistic interactions between them. Specifically, supplemental food favoured *Apodemus* spp., promoting abundance and so buffering the winter effect. On the contrary, at feeding sites, demography of *M. glareolus* resulted depressed (a decrease in survival and nearly absent abundance). Thus, where food was abundant and confined, the dominant *Apodemus* spp. outcompeted the subordinate *M. glareolus* (Grüm and Bujalska 2000) by means of behavioural interference (i.e. decrease in population size; Figure 9B) coupled with exploitative competition (i.e. depressed survival; Figure 8B).

3.3 Is environmental heterogeneity driving host-parasite interactions? Evidence from a field manipulation in a deer-rodent-tick system (Paper II)



Figure 10: Density (*D*) of *Apodemus* spp. (**A**) and *M. glareolus* (**B**) in Cembra Valley (CEV), Italy, 2019-2021 at Treatment ('Feeding site: yes'; dark green) and Control ('Feeding site: no'; light green) sites and under varying vegetation cover ('fCover'; dense 67% = filled diamonds; sparse 47% = empty diamonds). Summer months are grey-shaded.



Figure 11: Estimates of spatial range (σ) in *Apodemus* spp. (**A**) and *M. glareolus* (**B**) in Cembra Valley (CEV), Italy, 2019-2021, at Treatment ('Feeding site: yes'; dark green) and Control ('Feeding site: no'; light green) sites.



Figure 12: Predictive plot showing the effect of the interaction between rodent density and tick density on individual tick burden. The coloured lines denote the effects for three values of tick density chosen for visualisation (mean value \pm standard deviation), with the corresponding coloured shaded areas referring to the 95% confidence intervals.



Figure 13: Predictive plot showing the effect of host body mass on individual tick burden. The black line is the average value while the grey shadow represents the 95% confidence intervals.

In Paper II, we highlighted the cascading mechanisms underpinning host and tick association, confirming that tick burden represents the obvious, but central factor measuring the parasitic interaction with the harbouring hosts. Specifically, when food availability was abundant and concentrated (e.g. at ungulate feeding sites) animals tended to decrease their dispersal range and mobility during foraging, thus minimizing predator encounters (Mazurkiewicz and Rajska-Jurgiel 1998). This effect was observed at sites with anthropogenic food availability, where local density of rodents (spatially determined) was promoted by restricted home ranges and low mobility (Figure 10 and Figure 11) (Stradiotto et al. 2009). However, anthropogenic food affected also rodent community (low evenness) with dominant and abundant *Apodemus* spp. depressing density of *M. glareolus* (Figure 10). This finding supported the competition hypothesis proposed in Paper I.

We found that as density and aggregation of *Apodemus* spp. increased, tick burden was amplified, but only at high environmental tick density (Figure 12). The latter condition was likely favoured by conditions enhancing the completion of the tick life-cycle, e.g. where secondary hosts (deer) aggregation and low evenness of primary hosts (rodents) co-occur (Tagliapietra et al. 2011, Cagnacci et al. 2012), i.e. at ungulate feeding sites (i.e. where food is abundant and clumped). Indeed, at ungulate feeding sites we observed a low evenness of rodent community, with high density and aggregation of rodent species more susceptible to ticks attachment (i.e. *Apodemus* spp.). At these sites, roe deer (*Capreolus capreolus*), i.e. secondary hosts, were also observed to aggregate in space and time (Ossi et al. 2020). Conversely, we obtained evidence that in areas with low tick density in the environment, tick burden is predicted to decline following the 'encounter-dilution effect' (Côté and Poulin 1995, Krasnov et al. 2007).

Further, in accordance with other studies (Harrison et al. 2010), we found that body mass was positively correlated with tick burden (Figure 13). Finally, high vegetation cover at the fine-scale was correlated with high population density of rodent species, as a likely perceived protection from predation risk (Loggins et al. 2019), while in compliance with other studies (Ginsberg et al. 2020), vegetation cover did not affect tick burden on hosts.

3.4 Small mammals' assemblage along an altitudinal gradient and consequences on rodent and vector-borne diseases (Paper III)



Figure 14: Biplot of the relationship between altitudes and small mammals, as determined by Stepwise Redundancy Analysis (RDA). The length and direction of each vector are proportional to the strength of the association between the altitude and the RDA axes. Data collected in Calamento Valley, CAV, (Italy) 2019-2020.



Figure 15: Predictive plot showing the effect of altitude on *Borrelia* spp. probability of infection, after controlling for the effects of other covariates in the Generalized Linear Models. Data collected in Calamento Valley (CAV) study area, 2019-2020.

In Paper III, we assessed that small mammals' assemblage depended on habitat typology and on species' functional role (Figure 14). Indeed, we found an evident division between species belonging to *Muridae* and *Arvicolinae* families, the former more related to lower altitudes and woodland forests, the latter covering the entire alpine succession of habitats (Flowerdew et al. 1985). Among Arvicolinae, specialist species, such as Microtus spp. and C. nivalis, selected ecotone zones and habitats at extreme altitudes (Nappi 2002). Conversely, M. glareolus was often associated with wood forests. This generalist species was also able to exploit a wider range of alpine habitats, expanding its distribution toward high altitudes. Indeed, the extreme altitudes of the Alpine succession are now characterized by milder climate (Nogués-Bravo et al. 2007). We argue that this climatic trend may be promoting the geographic expansion of some hosts (Ehrlén and Morris 2015), especially the most generalist, and consequently of parasites with the role of pathogens' vectors (Garcia-Vozmediano et al. 2020). Indeed, all detected vector-borne pathogens were tightly related to the generalist *M. glareolus* (Table 6), confirming its wide susceptibility and competence (Rizzoli et al. 2014). Finally, we observed that common rodent- and vector-borne pathogens seemed to show altitudinal segregation, an aspect that needs further investigation (Figure 15) by applying more complex analytical approaches.

3.5 First record of *Hepatozoon* spp. in Alpine Wild Rodents: Implications and Perspectives for Transmission Dynamics across the Food Web (Paper IV)



Figure 16: Difference of prevalence rates of *Hepatozoon* spp. among rodent species in Cembra Valley, CEV (A) and in Calamento Valley, CAV (B), Italy (2019-2021). Vertical bars represent the 95% confidence interval. Horizontal bars refer to significant differences, with ***=significance level <0.001; **=significance level <0.05.

By coupling molecular screening approaches with less invasive sampling methods, in Paper IV we reported for the first time the occurrence of Hepatozoon spp. in wild rodents in the Italian Alps (see Figure 16 and Table 6). In particular, we detected these parasites in their most common Alpine rodent hosts, M. glareolus (61.0%) and A. flavicollis (18.4%) (Hamšíková et al. 2016, Baltrūnaitė et al. 2020) (CAV, Figure 16B). In addition, this is their first identification in A. sylvaticus (30.0%) using molecular approaches (Healing 1981) and in C. nivalis (33.3%), at the highest altitudes ever recorded for the occurrence of this parasite (2000 – 2500 m a.s.l.). Our results suggest that Hepatozoon spp. are common in Alpine environments, where the occurring milder climate and a broad spectrum of interactive and mobile hosts (Gilbert 2021) may have favoured their circulation and spread. The low host specificity of Hepatozoon spp. (Laakkonen et al. 2001) may also indicate that these parasites persist in the environment sustained by small mammal hosts that act as paratenic and reservoir hosts. Also in peri-urban areas (CEV, Figure 16A), M. glareolus resulted the most infected species (56.7%), although also A. flavicollis retained a high prevalence (32.2%). These conditions may increase the risk of spillover events among wildlife and domestic animals (Almberg et al. 2012), but also may induce relevant cascading effects on predators across the food web (Maia et al. 2014).

General conclusion and perspectives

In this dissertation, I have empirically confirmed through a latitudinal niche-based comparison that intrinsic and extrinsic factors interplayed in governing small mammal demographic rates and patterns (Krebs 2013). I evidenced that the intensity of the demographic causal relationships tightly depends on the environmental context. Indeed, species-specific intrinsic seasonal cycles that usually govern demography (Flowerdew et al. 1985, Eccard and Herde 2013) were affected by supplemental food resources availability only under harsh climatic conditions for what concerns survival, while population abundance was enhanced by food across contexts. However, the stability of these regulatory mechanisms, which permit niche partitioning among sympatric species (Chase and Leibold 2003), failed when interspecific competition arose, triggered by clumped overabundance of food resources. This resulted in a modification of the realized niche of subordinate species (e.g. bank vole) to the advantage of opportunistic and dominant ones (e.g. woodland mice), a probable scenario which can also be predicted under climate warming. These findings thus highlighted the complexity of such demographic relationships, which can be revealed only using a niche-based framework that simultaneously accounts for the relative impacts of intrinsic, extrinsic factors and biotic interactions on small mammals' demography.

When I explicitly accounted for the spatial components of these demographic patterns, I found that small mammals decreased their spatial range in presence of anthropogenic supplemental food. In turn, the spatio-temporal variation of small mammal species assemblage and population density, driven by supplemental food, showed cascading effects on their parasite burden. By considering ungulate feeding sites as an experimental source of concentrated food, I elucidated the mechanisms underpinning the pathway of deer-rodent-tick association with respect to food resources distribution, complementing what emerged in oak forest monitoring acorn production (Ostfeld et al. 2006). In particular, I identified local density of hosts and environmental tick density, mediated by hosts' body condition as the main drivers of tick burden variation in rodents, in turn, regulated by environmental heterogeneity and availability of food resources. Our study system can be considered as an experimental simplification of what is observed in human-dominated landscapes, especially in residential areas (VanAcker et al. 2019), where high local density and low evenness of hosts enhance the completion of tick life-cycle may create a 'self-inflating' system boosting their tick burden. These findings would therefore open concerns about the increase of enzootic hazards and

human exposure to tick-borne disease risk in those focal areas (Altizer et al. 2018, Diuk-Wasser et al. 2021).

Further to these experimentally controlled conditions, I therefore attempted to link small mammals' assemblage with rodent- and tick-borne pathogens' occurrence along a complex gradient of environmental heterogeneity such as the Alpine altitudinal gradient. Although the pathogens were unevenly distributed across alpine habitats, an aspect that needs further investigation, they were all harboured by bank vole as the main competent reservoir. This work may preliminarily corroborate the hypothesis for which climate-driven expansion of habitat generalist species, such as bank vole may introduce new pathogens in the sylvatic cycle. Indeed, climate change promotes communities dominated by generalists, which, first, force specialists to move to the edges of their distribution (Clavel et al. 2011), and second, carry the most viral pathogens (Yabsley and Shock 2013, Rizzoli et al. 2014, Rosso et al. 2017).

High tick burden on rodents leads to an increased probability of host infection by tick-borne pathogens (Calabrese et al. 2011). However, beyond transmission occurring through ticks' bites, infections may emerge through direct ingestion of infected ticks (Johnson et al. 2010), such as for *Hepatozoon* spp. By applying an accurate identification (via PCR-based methods coupled with sequencing), I successfully detected *Hepatozoon* spp. in a wide range of small mammals' species, and in susceptible Alpine hosts for the very first time. Therefore, I contributed to the understanding of *Hepatozoon* spp. distribution across habitats so far unexplored, such as the Italian Alps, and across a broad range of small mammal hosts. These findings may suggest that the widespread occurrence of this parasite is linked to the expanding availability of arthropod vectors, in turn, due to the variations in temperature and moisture observed under climate change (Gilbert 2021). *Hepatozoon* spp. distribution across a wide range of small mammal hosts and alpine habitats may therefore represent the starting point to evaluate the ecological role of these parasites and other pathogen distributional shifts in habitats particularly exposed to climate change (Battisti et al. 2020).

Overall, this dissertation represents an 'eco-epidemiological bridge' between classical pillars of ecological research, such as fitness (survival), spatio-temporal demographic cycles and inter-specific competition, and current directions of investigation, which include anthropogenic effects, and environmental heterogeneity gradients. To do so, I evaluated habitat heterogeneity and the role of availability and concentration of food resources at multiple scales, by investigating community distribution and species demography of small mammals across latitudinal and altitudinal gradients, as well as by applying field experiments in wild settings. I

elucidated the cascading effects of the ecological relationships between environmental factors and small mammal populations on the dynamics of host-parasite association, and ultimately on the emergence and occurrence of rodent- and vector-borne pathogens. I investigated these complex ecological relationships by adopting a niche-based multi-factorial approach, coupled with advanced analytical tools and biological techniques. Despite the advanced provided by regional and local study empirical designs, long-term comparative studies are likely crucial to generalize these relationships and obtain robust predictions within the context of climate change and habitat loss. To this end, collaborative projects, such as EuroSmallMammals, may open future opportunities to scale up knowledge from local to global scale (Urbano and Cagnacci 2021), taking into consideration climate instability.

Acknowledgments

This work was financially supported by the PhD Programme of Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences, Faculty of Applied Ecology, Agricultural Sciences and Biotechnology and by Fondazione Edmund Mach, Research and Innovation Centre. The multi-disciplinary and the international contexts deeply rooted in both institutions characterized this research project.

I want to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisors, Olivier Devineau (main supervisor), Valentina Tagliapietra (co-supervisor) and Francesca Cagnacci (co-supervisor), for the invaluable moments we passed together discussing on science and for the immense knowledge you transmitted to me. You allowed me to grow both professionally and personally, thank you for always being there. To Olivier, for your patience during data analysis and the constant support you gave me during the entire PhD period, with the hope of working together ever more in person and no more through remote calls. To Valentina, for sharing with me your decennial experience on these tiny creatures (ticks included), and for spending together unforgettable days both in the labs and, especially during trapping, also under snowfall on Ziolera peak. To Francesca, for accompanying me during this memorable path, encouraging during the difficult periods and teaching so much about collaboration in science, empathy and the extraordinary world, which is animal ecology; you remain a guide and a friend. Finally, I want to thank the always beloved Harry P. Andreassen, with whom I had not have the possibility to share these moments, but the small time we had together remained a milestone in my professional life.

I would like to thank Daniele, Enrico, Federico, Michele, Sara, Simone and Valentina for your great effort during small mammals' trapping and fieldwork in general. Wherever we were, from the Cembra woodlands to the higher peaks in Calamento, with any type of weather, those memories and laughing will last in my memory, without forgetting our 'end-up-something' dinners.

A sincere thank goes to Matteo and Fausta, you were extremely patient and thanks to the knowledge you have transmitted to me on laboratory analyses, I was able to enforce and expand my professional background.

A special thank goes to the colleagues from the Applied Ecology, Animal Ecology and Conservation Genetics units, you are so many and I owe something to each of you. Among others, I am grateful to the friends and colleagues from Evenstad, Magne, Kaja, Ilaria, Natalia, Giorgia and Jeremy, and from the FabLab, Andrea, Steffen, Johannes, Benjamin, Charlotte, Simone and Gioele, for your valuable scientific support along this period and for sharing memorable time whether we were in the office or during skiing, hiking, biking, swimming or barbecuing.

I am extremely grateful to people from the administration/department/innovation centre, and among others, Elisabetta, Marisa, Tiziana, Lisbeth, Ragnhild and Henriette for their constant availability and kindness, helping me with any doubts I had (and they were many) and their inestimable support during Covid-19 pandemic.

My gratitude goes also to Francesca, Luca and Ferdinando, and the partners of EuroSmallMammals, you have trusted in this idea and permitted the creation of this project. I am looking forward to deeply collaborating with you to promote open and innovative science on small mammals' ecology.

Finally, my deepest grateful goes to my family and my husband, and here I want to switch to my Italian... Ai miei genitori e a mia sorella, che hanno reso possible tutto cio', sostenendomi da sempre ed invogliandomi a perseguire i miei sogni, trasmettendomi la loro sconfinata passione per la natura. Infine al mio caro Federico, grazie per aver condiviso con me questa esperienza straordinaria, seppur con alcuni momenti bui (rottura di ginocchio e di una caviglia, ed una pandemia). Mi sei sempre stato accanto rendendo questo percorso ancora piu' speciale ed unico, rimarra' un ricordo intenso collegato con la nostra passione per la montagna.

Giulia Ferrari Ferrari Giulia, 10th May 2022

References

- Aars, J., and R. A. Ims. 2002. Intrinsic and Climatic Determinants of Population Demography: The Winter Dynamics of Tundra Voles. Ecology 83:3449.
- Abrams, P. A. 1998. High Competition with Low Similarity and Low Competition with High Similarity: Exploitative and Apparent Competition in Consumer-Resource Systems . The American Naturalist 152.
- Almberg, E. S., P. C. Cross, A. P. Dobson, D. W. Smith, and P. J. Hudson. 2012. Parasite invasion following host reintroduction: a case study of Yellowstone's wolves. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 367:2840–2851.
- Altizer, S., D. J. Becker, J. H. Epstein, K. M. Forbes, T. R. Gillespie, R. J. Hall, D. M. Hawley, S. M. Hernandez, L. B. Martin, R. K. Plowright, D. A. Satterfield, and D. G. Streicker. 2018, May 5. Food for contagion: Synthesis and future directions for studying host –parasite responses to resource shifts in anthropogenic environments. Royal Society Publishing.
- Altizer, S., R. S. Ostfeld, P. T. J. Johnson, S. Kutz, and C. D. Harvell. 2013. Climate Change and Infectious Diseases: From Evidence to a Predictive Framework. Science 341:514–519.
- Amstrup, S. C., T. L. McDonald, and B. F. J. Manly. 2005. Handbook of capture-recapture analysis. Princeton University Press.
- Andreassen, H. P., J. Sundell, F. Ecke, S. Halle, M. Haapakoski, H. Henttonen, O. Huitu, J. Jacob, K. Johnsen, E. Koskela, J. J. Luque-Larena, N. Lecomte, H. Leirs, J. Mariën, M. Neby, O. Rätti, T. Sievert, G. R. Singleton, J. van Cann, B. Vanden Broecke, and H. Ylönen. 2021. Population cycles and outbreaks of small rodents: ten essential questions we still need to solve. Oecologia 195:601–622.
- Baltrūnaitė, L., N. Kitrytė, and A. Križanauskienė. 2020. Blood parasites (Babesia, Hepatozoon and Trypanosoma) of rodents, Lithuania: part I. Molecular and traditional microscopy approach. Parasitology Research 119:687–694.
- Bar-Massada, A. 2015. Complex relationships between species niches and environmental heterogeneity affect species co-occurrence patterns in modelled and real communities. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 282.
- Battisti, E., S. Zanet, S. Khalili, A. Trisciuoglio, B. Hertel, and E. Ferroglio. 2020. Molecular Survey on Vector-Borne Pathogens in Alpine Wild Carnivorans. Frontiers in Veterinary Science 7:1.
- Batzli, G. O. 1999. Can seasonal changes in density dependence drive population cycles? Trends in ecology & evolution 14:129–131.
- Bogdziewicz, M., A. Hacket-Pain, D. Kelly, P. A. Thomas, J. Lageard, and A. J. Tanentzap. 2021. Climate warming causes mast seeding to break down by reducing sensitivity to weather cues. Global Change Biology 27:1952–1961.
- Bolker, B. M., M. E. Brooks, C. J. Clark, S. W. Geange, J. R. Poulsen, M. H. H. Stevens, and J. S. S. White. 2009. Generalized linear mixed models: a practical guide for ecology and evolution. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 24:127–135.
- Boonstra, R. 1994. Population cycles in microtines: The senescence hypothesis. Evolutionary Ecology 8:196–219.
- Borchers, D. L., and M. G. Efford. 2008. Spatially Explicit Maximum Likelihood Methods for Capture-Recapture Studies.
- ter Braak, C. J. F. 1995. Ordination. Pages 91–274 Data analysis in community and landscape ecology. Cambridge University Press.
- Bradley, J. E., and J. M. Marzluff. 2003. Rodents as Nest Predators: Influences on Predatory Behavior

and Consequences to Nesting Birds. The Auk 120:1180–1187.

- Britton, J. R., and D. Andreou. 2016. Parasitism as a Driver of Trophic Niche Specialisation. Trends in Parasitology 32:437–445.
- Brook, B. W., and C. J. A. Bradshaw. 2006. Strength of evidence for density dependence in abundance time series of 1198 species. Ecology 87:1445–1451.
- Burnham, K. P., and D. R. Anderson. 2002. A Practical Information-Theoretic Approach. Pages 70–71 Model Selection and Multimodel Inference. 2nd edn. Springer-Verlag, New York, NY, USA.
- Cagnacci, F., L. Bolzoni, R. Rosà, G. Carpi, H. C. Hauffe, M. Valent, V. Tagliapietra, M. Kazimirova, J. Koci, M. Stanko, M. Lukan, H. Henttonen, and A. Rizzoli. 2012. Effects of deer density on tick infestation of rodents and the hazard of tick-borne encephalitis. I: Empirical assessment. International Journal for Parasitology 42:365–372.
- Calabrese, J. M., J. L. Brunner, and R. S. Ostfeld. 2011. Partitioning the Aggregation of Parasites on Hosts into Intrinsic and Extrinsic Components via an Extended Poisson-Gamma Mixture Model. PLOS ONE 6:e29215.
- Carstensen, B., M. Plummer, E. Laara, and M. Hills. 2021. Epi: A Package for Statistical Analysis in Epidemiology.
- Chase, J. M., and M. A. Leibold. 2003. Ecological Niches : Linking Classical and Contemporary Approaches. University Chicago Press, Chicago.
- Chianucci, F., and A. Cutini. 2012. Digital hemispherical photography for estimating forest canopy properties: Current controversies and opportunities.
- Clavel, J., R. Julliard, and V. Devictor. 2011. Worldwide decline of specialist species: toward a global functional homogenization? www.frontiersinecology.org Front Ecol Environ 9:222–228.
- Cooch, E. G., and G. C. White. 2019. Using program MARK: A gentle introduction.
- Cornulier, T., N. G. Yoccoz, V. Bretagnolle, J. E. Brommer, A. Butet, F. Ecke, D. A. Elston, E. Framstad, H. Henttonen, B. Hörnfeldt, O. Huitu, C. Imholt, R. A. Ims, J. Jacob, B. Jędrzejewska, A. Millon, S. J. Petty, H. Pietiäinen, E. Tkadlec, K. Zub, and X. Lambin. 2013. Europe-wide dampening of population cycles in keystone herbivores. Science 340:63–66.
- Costa-Pereira, R., M. S. Araújo, F. L. Souza, and T. Ingram. 2019. Competition and resource breadth shape niche variation and overlap in multiple trophic dimensions. Proceedings of the Royal Society B 286.
- Costello, M. J., T. Horton, and A. Kroh. 2018. Sustainable Biodiversity Databasing: International, Collaborative, Dynamic, Centralised. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 33:803–805.
- Côté, I. M., E. S. Darling, and C. J. Brown. 2016. Interactions among ecosystem stressors and their importance in conservation. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 283:20152592.
- Côté, I. M., and R. Poulin. 1995. Parasitism and group size in social animals: a meta-analysis. Behavioral Ecology 6:159–165.
- Côté, S. D. 2000. Determining Social Rank in Ungulates: A Comparison of Aggressive Interactions Recorded at a Bait Site and under Natural Conditions. Ethology 106:945–955.
- Crawley, M. J. 2013. The R book. Page Auction Theory. 2nd edition. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, West sussex, UK.
- Dahmana, H., L. Granjon, C. Diagne, B. Davoust, F. Fenollar, and O. Mediannikov. 2020. Rodents as Hosts of Pathogens and Related Zoonotic Disease Risk. Pathogens 9:202.
- Davidson, A. D., J. K. Detling, and J. H. Brown. 2012. Ecological roles and conservation challenges of social, burrowing, herbivorous mammals in the world's grasslands. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 10:477–486.

- Desy, E. A., and G. O. Batzli. 1989. Effects of Food Availability and Predation on Prairie Vole Demography: A Field Experiment. Ecology 70:411–421.
- Diuk-Wasser, M. A., M. C. Vanacker, and M. P. Fernandez. 2021. Impact of Land Use Changes and Habitat Fragmentation on the Eco-epidemiology of Tick-Borne Diseases. Journal of Medical Entomology 58:1546–1564.
- Dobson, A. P., and P. J. Hudson. 1986. Parasites, disease and the structure of ecological communities. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 1:11–15.
- Duscher, G. G., M. Leschnik, H. P. Fuehrer, and A. Joachim. 2015. Wildlife reservoirs for vector-borne canine, feline and zoonotic infections in Austria. International Journal for Parasitology: Parasites and Wildlife 4:88–96.
- Eccard, J. A., and A. Herde. 2013. Seasonal variation in the behaviour of a short-lived rodent. BMC Ecology 13:1–9.
- Eccard, J. A., and H. Ylönen. 2003. Interspecific competition in small rodents: from populations to individuals. Evolutionary Ecology 17:423–440.
- Eccard, J. A., and H. Ylönen. 2007. Costs of coexistence along a gradient of competitor densities: An experiment with arvicoline rodents. Journal of Animal Ecology 76:65–71.
- Efford, M. 2018. A tutorial on fitting spatially explicit capture recapture models in secr. Page R package version.
- Efford, M. 2020. secr 4.3-spatially explicit capture-recapture in R.
- Ehrlén, J., and W. F. Morris. 2015. Predicting changes in the distribution and abundance of species under environmental change. Ecology Letters 18:303–314.
- Elsen, P. R., and M. W. Tingley. 2015. Global mountain topography and the fate of montane species under climate change. Nature Climate Change 5:772–776.
- Elton, C. 1927. Animal Ecology. Sidgwick and Jackson London.
- Ergon, T., R. Ergon, M. Begon, S. Telfer, and X. Lambin. 2011. Delayed density-dependent onset of spring reproduction in a fluctuating population of field voles. Oikos 120:934–940.
- Ernakovich, J. G., K. A. Hopping, A. B. Berdanier, R. T. Simpson, E. J. Kachergis, H. Steltzer, and M. D. Wallenstein. 2014. Predicted responses of arctic and alpine ecosystems to altered seasonality under climate change. Global Change Biology 20:3256–3269.
- Estrada-Peña, A. 2008. Climate, niche, ticks, and models: What they are and how we should interpret them. Parasitology Research 103:87–95.
- Estrada-Peña, A., R. S. Ostfeld, A. T. Peterson, R. Poulin, and J. de la Fuente. 2014. Effects of environmental change on zoonotic disease risk: An ecological primer. Trends in Parasitology 30:205–214.
- Felton, A. M., A. Felton, J. P. G. M. Cromsigt, L. Edenius, J. Malmsten, and H. K. Wam. 2017. Interactions between ungulates, forests, and supplementary feeding: the role of nutritional balancing in determining outcomes. Mammal Research 62:1–7.
- Flowerdew, J. R., J. (John) Gurnell, and J. H. W. Gipps. 1985. The Ecology of Woodland Rodents : Bank Voles and Wood Mice. Page 418 The Proceedings of a Symposium held at the Zoological Society of London on 23rd and 24th of November 1984. Published for the Zoological Society of London by Clarendon Press.
- Fuller, T. K., and P. R. Sievert. 2001. Carnivore demography and the consequences of changes in prey availability.
- Le Galliard, J. F., A. Rémy, R. A. Ims, and X. Lambin. 2012. Patterns and processes of dispersal behaviour in arvicoline rodents. Molecular Ecology 21:505–523.

- Garcia-Vozmediano, A., A. I. Krawczyk, H. Sprong, L. Rossi, E. Ramassa, and L. Tomassone. 2020. Ticks climb the mountains: Ixodid tick infestation and infection by tick-borne pathogens in the Western Alps. Ticks and Tick-borne Diseases 11:101489.
- Gasperini, S., A. Mortelliti, P. Bartolommei, A. Bonacchi, E. Manzo, and R. Cozzolino. 2016. Forest Ecology and Management Effects of forest management on density and survival in three forest rodent species. Forest Ecology and Management 382:151–160.
- Gilbert, L. 2021. The Impacts of Climate Change on Ticks and Tick-Borne Disease Risk. Annual Review of Entomology 66:373–388.
- Ginsberg, H. S., E. L. Rulison, J. L. Miller, G. Pang, I. M. Arsnoe, G. J. Hickling, N. H. Ogden, R. A. LeBrun, and J. I. Tsao. 2020. Local abundance of Ixodes scapularis in forests: Effects of environmental moisture, vegetation characteristics, and host abundance. Ticks and Tick-borne Diseases 11.
- Grether, G. F., K. S. Peiman, J. A. Tobias, and B. W. Robinson. 2017. Causes and Consequences of Behavioral Interference between Species. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 32.
- Grinnell, J. 1917. The Niche-Relationships of the California Thrasher Author. The Auk 34:427–433.
- Gromov, V. S. 2021. Relationship between the Social Structure and Potential Reproductive Success in Muroid Rodents (Rodentia, Myomorpha). Biology Bulletin 48:1740–1746.
- Grüm, L., and G. Bujalska. 2000. Bank voles and yellow-necked mice: What are interrelations between them? Polish Journal of Ecology 48:141–145.
- Guisan, A., and W. Thuiller. 2005. Predicting species distribution: offering more than simple habitat models. Ecology Letters 8:993–1009.
- Hampton, S. E., C. A. Strasser, J. J. Tewksbury, W. K. Gram, A. E. Budden, A. L. Batcheller, C. S. Duke, and J. H. Porter. 2013. Big data and the future of ecology. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 11:156–162.
- Hamšíková, Z., C. Silaghi, I. Rudolf, K. Venclíková, L. Mahríková, M. Slovák, J. Mendel, H. Blažejová, L. Berthová, E. Kocianová, Z. Hubálek, L. Schnittger, and M. Kazimírová. 2016. Molecular detection and phylogenetic analysis of Hepatozoon spp. in questing Ixodes ricinus ticks and rodents from Slovakia and Czech Republic. Parasitology Research 115:3897–3904.
- Han, B. A., A. M. Kramer, and J. M. Drake. 2016. Global Patterns of Zoonotic Disease in Mammals. Trends in Parasitology 32:565–577.
- Hansen, L., and G. O. Batzli. 1978. The influence of food availability on the white-footed mouse: populations in isolated woodlots. Canadian Journal of Zoology 56:2530–2541.
- Hansson, L., and H. Henttonen. 1988. Rodent Dynamics as Community Process. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 3.
- Harrison, A., M. Scantlebury, and W. I. Montgomery. 2010. Body mass and sex-biased parasitism in wood mice Apodemus sylvaticus. Oikos 119:1099–1104.
- Healing, T. D. 1981. Infections with blood parasites in the small British rodents Apodemus sylvaticus, Clethrionomys glareolus and Microtus agrestis. Parasitology 83:179–189.
- Hill, M. O., and H. G. Gauch. 1980. Detrended Correspondence Analysis: An Improved Ordination Technique. Classification and Ordination:47–58.
- Hille, S. M., and A. Mortelliti. 2010. Microhabitat partitioning of Apodemus flavicollis and Myodes glareolus in the sub-montane Alps: a preliminary assessment. Hystrix, the Italian Journal of Mammalogy 21:157–163.
- Holt, R. D., and M. B. Bonsall. 2017. Apparent Competition. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 48:447–471.
- Hubbell, S. P. 2011. The Unified Neutral Theory of Biodiversity and Biogeography (MPB-32). The

Unified Neutral Theory of Biodiversity and Biogeography (MPB-32).

- Huntley, B., P. Barnard, R. Altwegg, L. Chambers, B. W. T. Coetzee, L. Gibson, P. A. R. Hockey, D. G. Hole, G. F. Midgley, L. G. Underhill, and S. G. Willis. 2010. Beyond bioclimatic envelopes: dynamic species' range and abundance modelling in the context of climatic change. Ecography 33:621–626.
- Hutchinson, E. G. 1957. Concluding remarks. Pages 415– 427 Cold Springs Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology.
- Hutchinson, G. E. (George E. 1978. An introduction to population ecology. Yale University Press.
- IPCC. 2022. Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability, Sixth Assessment Report. Page (V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S. L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M. I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, L. B. R. Matthews, T. K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu, and B. Zhou, Eds.).
- Irwin, D. M., T. D. Kocher, and A. C. Wilson. 1991. Evolution of the cytochromeb gene of mammals. Journal of Molecular Evolution 1991 32:2 32:128–144.
- Johnsen, K., R. Boonstra, S. Boutin, O. Devineau, C. J. Krebs, and H. P. Andreassen. 2016. Surviving winter: Food, but not habitat structure, prevents crashes in cyclic vole populations. Ecology and Evolution 7:115–124.
- Johnsen, K., O. Devineau, and H. P. Andreassen. 2018. The Effects of Winter Climate and Intrinsic Factors on Survival of Cyclic Vole Populations in Southeastern Norway. Annales Zoologici Fennici 55:173–185.
- Johnson, D. H., and T. O. O'Neil. 2001. Wildlife-Habitat Relationships in Oregon and Washington. Page Oregon State University Press.
- Johnson, P. T. J., A. P. Dobson, K. D. Lafferty, D. J. Marcogliese, J. Memmott, S. A. Orlofske, R. Poulin, and D. W. Thieltges. 2010. When parasites become prey: ecological and epidemiological significance of eating parasites. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 25:362–371.
- Johnson, P. T. J., R. S. Ostfeld, and F. Keesing. 2015. Frontiers in research on biodiversity and disease. Ecology Letters 18:1119–1133.
- Kallio-Kokko, H., J. Laakkonen, A. Rizzoli, V. Tagliapietra, I. Cattadori, S. E. Perkins, P. J. Hudson, A. Cristofolini, W. Versini, O. Vapalahti, and D. H. Henttonen. 2022. Hantavirus and arenavirus antibody prevalence in rodents and humans in Trentino, Northern Italy.
- Kausrud, K. L., A. Mysterud, H. Steen, J. O. Vik, E. Østbye, B. Cazelles, E. Framstad, A. M. Eikeset, I. Mysterud, T. Solhøy, and N. C. Stenseth. 2008. Linking climate change to lemming cycles. Nature 456:93–97.
- Kendall, W. L., and J. D. Nichols. 2002. Estimating state-transition probabilities for unobservable states using capture-recapture/resighting data. Ecology 83:3276–3284.
- Körner, C. 2007. The use of 'altitude' in ecological research. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 22:569– 574.
- Korpela, K., P. Helle, H. Henttonen, E. Korpimäki, E. Koskela, O. Ovaskainen, H. Pietiäinen, J. Sundell, J. Valkama, and O. Huitu. 2014. Predator–vole interactions in northern Europe: The role of small mustelids revised. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 281.
- Korpimaki, E., L. Oksanen, T. Oksanen, T. Klemola, K. Norrdahl, and P. B. Banks. 2005. Vole cycles and predation in temperate and boreal zones of Europe. Journal of Animal Ecology 74:1150–1159.
- Korslund, L., and H. Steen. 2006. Small rodent winter survival: Snow conditions limit access to food resources. Journal of Animal Ecology 75:156–166.
- Kottek, M., J. Grieser, C. Beck, B. Rudolf, and F. Rubel. 2006. World map of the Köppen-Geiger climate classification updated. Meteorologische Zeitschrift 15:259–263.

- Krasnov, B. R., M. Stanko, and S. Morand. 2007. Host community structure and infestation by ixodid ticks: Repeatability, dilution effect and ecological specialization. Oecologia 154:185–194.
- Krebs, C. J. 2002a. Beyond population regulation and limitation. Wildlife Research 29.
- Krebs, C. J. 2002b. Two complementary paradigms for analysing population dynamics. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 357:1211–1219.
- Krebs, C. J. 2013. Population Fluctuations in Rodents. Page Population Fluctuations in Rodents. University of Chicago Press.
- Krebs, C. J., and K. T. DeLong. 1965. A Microtus Population with Supplemental Food. Journal of Mammalogy 46:566–573.
- Krebs, C. J., and J. H. Myers. 1974. Population Cycles in Small Mammals. Advances in Ecological Research 8:267–399.
- Laake, J. L. 2013. RMark: An R interface for analysis of capture-recapture data with MARK. Page AFSC Processed Rep. 2013-01, 25 p. Alaska Fish. Sci. Cent., NOAA, Natl. Mar. Fish. Serv., 7600 Sand Point Way NE, Seattle WA 98115.
- Laakkonen, J., A. Sukura, A. Oksanen, H. Henttonen, and T. Soveri. 2001. Haemogregarines of the genus Hepatozoon (Apicomplexa: Adeleina) in rodents from northern Europe. Folia parasitologica 48:263–267.
- Levine, J. M. 2000. Species Diversity and Biological Invasions: Relating Local Process to Community Pattern. Science 288:852–854.
- Liesenjohann, M., T. Liesenjohann, L. Trebaticka, M. Haapakoski, J. Sundell, H. Ylönen, and J. A. Eccard. 2011. From interference to predation: Type and effects of direct interspecific interactions of small mammals. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 65:2079–2089.
- Loggins, A. A., A. M. Shrader, A. Monadjem, and R. A. McCleery. 2019. Shrub cover homogenizes small mammals' activity and perceived predation risk. Scientific Reports 9:16957.
- MacArthur, R., and R. Levins. 1967. The Limiting Similarity, Convergence, and Divergence of Coexisting Species. The American Naturalist 101:377–385.
- Maguire, B. 1973. Niche Response Structure and the Analytical Potentials of Its Relationship to the Habitat. The American Naturalist 107:213–246.
- Maia, J. P., F. Álvares, Z. Boratyński, J. C. Brito, J. V. Leite, and D. J. Harris. 2014. Molecular assessment of hepatozoon (apicomplexa: Adeleorina) infections in wild canids and rodents from North Africa, with implications for transmission dynamics across taxonomic groups. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 50:837–848.
- Markova, E. A., T. V. Strukova, and A. V. Borodin. 2018. Arvicolines (Arvicolinae, Rodentia) as Paleoenvironmental Proxies: Classification of Species Inhabiting the Central Part of Northern Eurasia Based on Environmental Preferences of Their Modern Representatives. Biology Bulletin 45:772–782.
- Mazurkiewicz, M., and E. Rajska-Jurgiel. 1998. Spatial behaviour and population dynamics of woodland rodents. Acta theriologica 43:137–161.
- McCoy, K. D., E. Léger, and M. Dietrich. 2013. Host specialization in ticks and transmission of tickborne diseases: A review. Page 57 Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology.
- Mcinerny, G. J., and R. S. Etienne. 2012a. Stitch the niche a practical philosophy and visual schematic for the niche concept. Journal of Biogeography 39:2103–2111.
- Mcinerny, G. J., and R. S. Etienne. 2012b. Pitch the niche taking responsibility for the concepts we use in ecology and species distribution modelling. Journal of Biogeography 39:2112–2118.
- Medlock, J. M., K. M. Hansford, A. Bormane, M. Derdakova, A. Estrada-Peña, J.-C. George, I. Golovljova, T. G. T. Jaenson, J.-K. Jensen, P. M. Jensen, M. Kazimirova, J. A. Oteo, A. Papa, K.

Pfister, O. Plantard, S. E. Randolph, A. Rizzoli, M. M. Santos-Silva, H. Sprong, L. Vial, G. Hendrickx, H. Zeller, and W. Van Bortel. 2013. Driving forces for changes in geographical distribution of Ixodes ricinus ticks in Europe. Parasites & Vectors 6:1.

- Michener, W. K. 2015. Ten Simple Rules for Creating a Good Data Management Plan. PLOS Computational Biology 11:e1004525.
- Mihalca, A. D., and A. D. Sándor. 2013. The role of rodents in the ecology of ixodes ricinus and associated pathogens in central and Eastern Europe. Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology 4:56.
- Milner, J. M., F. M. Van Beest, K. T. Schmidt, R. K. Brook, and T. Storaas. 2014. To feed or not to feed? Evidence of the intended and unintended effects of feeding wild ungulates. The Journal of Wildlife Management 78:1322–1334.
- Moritz, C., J. L. Patton, C. J. Conroy, J. L. Parra, G. C. White, and S. R. Beissinger. 2008. Impact of a century of climate change on small-mammal communities in Yosemite National Park, USA. Science 322:261–264.
- Myers, P., B. L. Lundrigan, S. M. G. Hoffman, A. P. Haraminac, and S. H. Seto. 2009. Climate-induced changes in the small mammal communities of the Northern Great Lakes Region. Global Change Biology 15:1434–1454.
- Nagy, L., G. Grabherr, C. Körner, and D. B. A. Thompson. 2003. Alpine Biodiversity in Europe. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Nappi, A. 2002. Vertical distribution of the snow vole Chionomys nivalis (Martins, 1842) (Rodentia, Arvicolidae) in Italy. Hystix 13:45–52.
- Niedrig, M., T. Avšič, S. W. Aberle, E. Ferenczi, M. Labuda, B. Rozentale, and O. Donoso Mantke. 2007. Quality control assessment for the serological diagnosis of tick borne encephalitis virus infections. Journal of Clinical Virology 38:260–264.
- Nogués-Bravo, D., M. B. Araújo, M. P. Errea, and J. P. Martínez-Rica. 2007. Exposure of global mountain systems to climate warming during the 21st Century. Global Environmental Change 17:420–428.
- Norin, T., and N. B. Metcalfe. 2019. Ecological and evolutionary consequences of metabolic rate plasticity in response to environmental change. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 374.
- Nystuen, K. O., M. Evju, G. M. Rusch, B. J. Graae, and N. E. Eide. 2014. Rodent population dynamics affect seedling recruitment in alpine habitats. Journal of Vegetation Science 25:1004–1014.
- Olenev, G. V., and E. B. Grigorkina. 2014. Functional patterns of life activities of rodent populations in the winter season. Russian Journal of Ecology 45:480–489.
- Oli, M. K. 2019. Population cycles in voles and lemmings: state of the science and future directions. Mammal Review 49:226–239.
- Olsson, G. E., H. Leirs, and H. Henttonen. 2010. Hantaviruses and Their Hosts in Europe: Reservoirs Here and There, But Not Everywhere? Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases 10:549–561.
- Ossi, F., J.-M. Gaillard, M. Hebblewhite, N. Morellet, N. Ranc, R. Sandfort, M. Kroeschel, P. Kjellander, A. Mysterud, J. D. C. Linnell, M. Heurich, L. Soennichsen, P. Sustr, A. Berger, M. Rocca, F. Urbano, and F. Cagnacci. 2017. Plastic response by a small cervid to supplemental feeding in winter across a wide environmental gradient. Ecosphere 8.
- Ossi, F., N. Ranc, P. Moorcroft, P. Bonanni, and F. Cagnacci. 2020. Ecological and behavioral drivers of supplemental feeding use by roe deer capreolus capreolus in a peri-urban context. Animals 10:1–14.
- Ostfeld, R. S., C. D. Canham, K. Oggenfuss, R. J. Winchcombe, and F. Keesing. 2006. Climate, deer, rodents, and acorns as determinants of variation in Lyme-disease risk. PLoS Biology 4:1058–

1068.

- Parmesan, C. 2006. Ecological and Evolutionary Responses to Recent Climate Change. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 37:637–669.
- Pearse, I. S., W. D. Koenig, and D. Kelly. 2016. Mechanisms of mast seeding: resources, weather, cues, and selection. New Phytologist 212:546–562.
- De Pelsmaeker, N., L. Korslund, and Ø. Steifetten. 2021. High-elevational occurrence of two tick species, Ixodes ricinus and I. trianguliceps, at their northern distribution range. Parasites & Vectors 14:161.
- Pironon, S., J. Villellas, W. Thuiller, V. M. Eckhart, M. A. Geber, D. A. Moeller, and M. B. García. 2018. The 'Hutchinsonian niche' as an assemblage of demographic niches: implications for species geographic ranges. Ecography 41:1103–1113.
- Plowright, R. K., C. R. Parrish, H. McCallum, P. J. Hudson, A. I. Ko, A. L. Graham, and J. O. Lloyd-Smith. 2017, August 1. Pathways to zoonotic spillover. Nature Publishing Group.
- Pollock, K. H. 1982. A Capture-Recapture Design Robust to Unequal Probability of Capture. The Journal of Wildlife Management 46:752.
- Pollock, K. H., J. D. Nichols, C. Brownie, and J. H. Hines. 1990. Statistical Inference For Capture-Recapture Experiments. Wildlife Monographs:3–97.
- Pulliam, H. R. 2000. On the relationship between niche and distribution. Ecology Letters 3:349–361.
- Radchuk, V., T. Reed, C. Teplitsky, M. van de Pol, A. Charmantier, C. Hassall, P. Adamík, F. Adriaensen, M. P. Ahola, P. Arcese, J. Miguel Avilés, J. Balbontin, K. S. Berg, A. Borras, S. Burthe, J. Clobert, N. Dehnhard, F. de Lope, A. A. Dhondt, N. J. Dingemanse, H. Doi, T. Eeva, J. Fickel, I. Filella, F. Fossøy, A. E. Goodenough, S. J. G. Hall, B. Hansson, M. Harris, D. Hasselquist, T. Hickler, J. Joshi, H. Kharouba, J. G. Martínez, J. B. Mihoub, J. A. Mills, M. Molina-Morales, A. Moksnes, A. Ozgul, D. Parejo, P. Pilard, M. Poisbleau, F. Rousset, M. O. Rödel, D. Scott, J. C. Senar, C. Stefanescu, B. G. Stokke, T. Kusano, M. Tarka, C. E. Tarwater, K. Thonicke, J. Thorley, A. Wilting, P. Tryjanowski, J. Merilä, B. C. Sheldon, A. Pape Møller, E. Matthysen, F. Janzen, S. F. Dobson, M. E. Visser, S. R. Beissinger, A. Courtiol, and S. Kramer-Schadt. 2019. Adaptive responses of animals to climate change are most likely insufficient. Nature Communications 10:1–14.
- Raffel, T. R., L. B. Martin, and J. R. Rohr. 2008. Parasites as predators: unifying natural enemy ecology. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 23:610–618.
- Ranc, N., P. R. Moorcroft, K. W. Hansen, F. Ossi, T. Sforna, E. Ferraro, A. Brugnoli, and F. Cagnacci. 2020. Preference and familiarity mediate spatial responses of a large herbivore to experimental manipulation of resource availability. Scientific Reports 10:11946.
- Randolph, S. E. 2001. The shifting landscape of tick-borne zoonoses: tick-borne encephalitis and Lyme borreliosis in Europe. Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences 356:1045–1056.
- Randolph, S. E. 2004. Tick ecology: Processes and patterns behind the epidemiological risk posed by ixodid ticks as vectors. Parasitology 129:37–65.
- Reichman, O. J., M. B. Jones, and M. P. Schildhauer. 2011. Challenges and Opportunities of Open Data in Ecology. Science 331:703–705.
- Rémy, A., J. F. Le Galliard, M. Odden, and H. P. Andreassen. 2014. Concurrent effects of age class and food distribution on immigration success and population dynamics in a small mammal. Journal of Animal Ecology 83:813–822.
- Rémy, A., M. Odden, M. Richard, M. T. Stene, J. F. Le Galliard, and H. P. Andreassen. 2013. Food distribution influences social organization and population growth in a small rodent. Behavioral Ecology 24:832–841.

- Riccardi, N., R. M. Antonello, R. Luzzati, J. Zajkowska, S. Di Bella, and D. R. Giacobbe. 2019. Tickborne encephalitis in Europe: a brief update on epidemiology, diagnosis, prevention, and treatment. European Journal of Internal Medicine 62:1–6.
- Rizzoli, A., C. Silaghi, A. Obiegala, I. Rudolf, Z. Hubálek, G. Földvári, O. Plantard, M. Vayssier-Taussat, S. Bonnet, E. Špitalská, and M. Kazimírová. 2014. Ixodes ricinus and Its Transmitted Pathogens in Urban and Peri-Urban Areas in Europe: New Hazards and Relevance for Public Health. Frontiers in Public Health 2.
- Rosà, R., A. Rizzoli, N. Ferrari, and A. Pugliese. 2006. Models for host-macroparasite interactions in micromammals. Pages 319–348 Micromammals and Macroparasites: From Evolutionary Ecology to Management. Springer, Tokyo.
- Rosso, F., V. Tagliapietra, I. Baráková, M. Derdáková, A. Konečný, H. C. Hauffe, and A. Rizzoli. 2017. Prevalence and genetic variability of Anaplasma phagocytophilum in wild rodents from the Italian alps. Parasites & vectors 10:293.
- Saetnan, E. R., and C. Skarpe. 2006. The effect of ungulate grazing on a small mammal community in southeastern Botswana. African Zoology 41:9–16.
- Sales, L. P., M. W. Hayward, and R. Loyola. 2021. What do you mean by "niche"? Modern ecological theories are not coherent on rhetoric about the niche concept. Acta Oecologica 110:103701.
- Schmidt, K. A., R. Manson, and D. Lewis. 2005. Voles competing with mice: Differentiating exploitative, interference and apparent competition using patch use theory. Evolutionary Ecology Research 7:273–286.
- Schoener, T. W. 1974. Resource Partitioning in Ecological Communities. Science 185:27–39.
- Sexton, J. P., J. Montiel, J. E. Shay, M. R. Stephens, and R. A. Slatyer. 2017. Evolution of Ecological Niche Breadth. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 48:183–206.
- Shenbrot, G., and B. Krasnov. 2002. Can interaction coefficients be determined from census data? Testing two estimation methods with Negev Desert rodents. Oikos 99:47–58.
- Sibly, R. M., and J. Hone. 2002. Population growth rate and its determinants: An overview. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 357:1153–1170.
- Singleton, G. R., P. R. Brown, R. P. Pech, J. Jacob, G. J. Mutze, and C. J. Krebs. 2005. The genus Mus as a model for evolutionary studies. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society 84:617–627.
- Sipari, S., M. Haapakoski, I. Klemme, R. Palme, J. Sundell, and H. Ylönen. 2016. Population sex-ratio affecting behavior and physiology of overwintering bank voles (Myodes glareolus). Physiology and Behavior 159.
- Soberón, J. 2007. Grinnellian and Eltonian niches and geographic distributions of species. Ecology Letters 10:1115–1123.
- Soberon, J., and A. T. Peterson. 2005. Interpretation of Models of Fundamental Ecological Niches and Species' Distributional Areas. Biodiversity Informatics 2:1–10.
- Stein, A., K. Gerstner, and H. Kreft. 2014. Environmental heterogeneity as a universal driver of species richness across taxa, biomes and spatial scales. Ecology Letters 17:866–880.
- Steinbrink, A., K. Brugger, G. Margos, P. Kraiczy, and S. Klimpel. 2022. The evolving story of Borrelia burgdorferi sensu lato transmission in Europe. Parasitology Research 2022 121:3 121:781–803.
- Steinlechner, S., and W. Puchalski. 2003. Mechanisms for Seasonal Control of Reproduction in Small Mammals. Pages 233–250 Environmental Signal Processing and Adaptation. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Stenseth, N. C., H. Viljugrein, W. Jędrzejewski, A. Mysterud, and Z. Pucek. 2002. Population dynamics of Clethrionomys glareolus and Apodemus flavicollis: Seasonal components of density dependence and density independence. Acta Theriologica 47:39–67.
- Stradiotto, A., F. Cagnacci, R. Delahay, S. Tioli, L. Nieder, and A. Rizzoli. 2009. Spatial Organization of the Yellow-Necked Mouse: Effects of Density and Resource Availability. Journal of Mammalogy 90:704–714.
- Stuen, S., E. G. Granquist, and C. Silaghi. 2013. Anaplasma phagocytophilum-a widespread multi-host pathogen with highly adaptive strategies. Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology 4:31.
- Tagliapietra, V., R. Rosà, D. Arnoldi, F. Cagnacci, G. Capelli, F. Montarsi, H. C. Hauffe, and A. Rizzoli. 2011. Saturation deficit and deer density affect questing activity and local abundance of Ixodes ricinus (Acari, Ixodidae) in Italy. Veterinary Parasitology 183:114–124.
- Tagliapietra, V., R. Rosà, C. Rossi, F. Rosso, H. C. Hauffe, M. Tommasini, W. Versini, A. F. Cristallo, and A. Rizzoli. 2018. Emerging Rodent-Borne Viral Zoonoses in Trento, Italy. EcoHealth 15:695– 704.
- Taitt, M. J., and C. J. Krebs. 1981. The Effect Of Extra Food On Small Rodent Populations: Ii. Voles (Microtus Townsendii). Journal of Animal Ecology 50:125–137.
- Tews, J., U. Brose, V. Grimm, K. Tielbörger, M. C. Wichmann, M. Schwager, and F. Jeltsch. 2004. Animal species diversity driven by habitat heterogeneity/diversity: the importance of keystone structures. Journal of Biogeography 31:79–92.
- Thomas, F., J. F. Guégan, Y. Michalakis, and F. Renaud. 2000. Parasites and host life-history traits: Implications for community ecology and species co-existence. International Journal for Parasitology 30:669–674.
- Tioli, S., F. Cagnacci, A. Stradiotto, and A. Rizzoli. 2009. Edge Effect on Density Estimates of a Radiotracked Population of Yellow-Necked Mice. Journal of Wildlife Management 73:184–190.
- Turchin, P. 2003. Complex Population Dynamics: A Theoretical/Empirical Synthesis. Princeton University Press.
- Urban, M. C., G. Bocedi, A. P. Hendry, J.-B. Mihoub, G. Pe'er, A. Singer, J. R. Bridle, L. G. Crozier, L. De Meester, W. Godsoe, A. Gonzalez, J. J. Hellmann, R. D. Holt, A. Huth, K. Johst, C. B. Krug, P. W. Leadley, S. C. F. Palmer, J. H. Pantel, A. Schmitz, P. A. Zollner, and J. M. J. Travis. 2016. Improving the forecast for biodiversity under climate change. Science 353.
- Urbano, F., and F. Cagnacci. 2014. Spatial Database for GPS Wildlife Tracking Data. Page (F. Urbano and F. Cagnacci, Eds.) Spatial Database for GPS Wildlife Tracking Data. Springer International Publishing, Cham.
- Urbano, F., and F. Cagnacci. 2021. Data Management and Sharing for Collaborative Science: Lessons Learnt From the Euromammals Initiative. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 9:1–13.
- Valenzuela-Sánchez, A., M. Q. Wilber, S. Canessa, L. D. Bacigalupe, E. Muths, B. R. Schmidt, A. A. Cunningham, A. Ozgul, P. T. J. Johnson, and H. Cayuela. 2021. Why disease ecology needs life-history theory: a host perspective. Ecology Letters 24:876–890.
- VanAcker, M. C., E. A. H. Little, G. Molaei, W. I. Bajwa, and M. A. Diuk-Wasser. 2019. Enhancement of Risk for Lyme Disease by Landscape Connectivity, New York, New York, USA. Emerging Infectious Diseases 25:1136.
- Viviano, A., M. Scarfò, and E. Mori. 2022. Temporal Partitioning between Forest-Dwelling Small Rodents in a Mediterranean Deciduous Woodland. Animals 12:279.
- White, E. R., and A. Hastings. 2020. Seasonality in ecology: Progress and prospects in theory. Ecological Complexity 44:100867.
- Wiens, J. J. 2011. The niche, biogeography and species interactions. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 366:2336–2350.
- Yabsley, M. J., and B. C. Shock. 2013. Natural history of Zoonotic Babesia: Role of wildlife reservoirs. International Journal for Parasitology: Parasites and Wildlife 2:18–31.

- Ylönen, H., and J. A. Eccard. 2004. Does quality of winter food affect spring condition and breeding in female bank voles (Clethrionomys glareolus)? Ecoscience 11:1–5.
- Yoccoz, N. G., N. C. Stenseth, H. Henttonen, and A.-C. Prévot-Julliard. 2001. Effects of food addition on the seasonal density- dependent structure of bank vole Clethrionomys glareolus populations. Journal of Animal Ecology 70:713–720.
- Zwolak, R., M. Bogdziewicz, and L. Rychlik. 2016. Beech masting modifies the response of rodents to forest management. Forest Ecology and Management 359:268–276.

Dissertation articles

Food resources drive rodent population demography mediated by seasonality and inter-specific competition

Ferrari Giulia^{a,b,*}, Devineau Olivier^{a,§}, Tagliapietra Valentina^{b,§}, Johnsen Kaja^a,

Ossi Federico^b, Cagnacci Francesca^{b,§}

^a Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences, Faculty of Applied Ecology and Agricultural Science, Campus Evenstad, 2480 Koppang - Norway

^b Fondazione Edmund Mach, Research and Innovation Centre, Via E. Mach 1, 38010 San Michele all'Adige (Trento) – Italy

§ These authors equally co-supervised the work as co-senior authors

* Correspondence author: Giulia Ferrari (giulia.ferrari@inn.no)

Complete manuscript ready for submission

Abstract

- 1. As fast reproducing species, rodents present proximate numerical responses to resource availability that have been assessed by experimental manipulation of food, with contrasting results. Other intrinsic and extrinsic factors, such as climate severity, species life cycles, and sympatry of potential competitors in the community, may interplay to modulate such responses, but their effects have rarely been evaluated *ensemble*.
- We applied a niche-based approach to experimentally determine the effect of bottom-up (food availability) and top-down (climate severity) extrinsic factors, as well as intrinsic seasonal cycles, on rodent demography, also in presence of sympatry between species in the community.
- 3. To this end, we live-trapped rodents at two latitudinal extremes of the boreal-temperate gradient (Italian Alps and Norway) deploying control/treatment designs of food manipulation. We applied a multistate open robust design model to estimate population patterns and survival rate.
- 4. Yellow-necked and wood mouse (*Apodemus* spp.) were sympatric with bank vole in Italy, while the latter was the only species trapped in Norway. At northern latitudes, where harsher climatic conditions occurred, vole survival was principally regulated by intrinsic seasonal cycles, with a positive effect of food also on population abundance. At southern latitudes, mice and voles exhibited asynchronous population patterns across seasons, with survival depending from seasonal cycles. When concentrated *ad libitum* food was experimentally provided, though, population size and survival of voles strongly decreased, while mice abundance benefited from food supplementation.
- 5. Our results evidence that rodent demography is regulated by a combination of top-down (climate severity) and bottom-up (food availability) extrinsic factors, together with intrinsic seasonal ones. Moreover, we showed that the seasonal niche partitioning of mice

and voles could be disrupted by availability of abundant resources that favour the demography of the more opportunistic *Apodemus* spp. at the expense of *Myodes glareolus*, suggesting competitive mechanisms. We conclude putting our results in the context of climate change, where shifts in vegetation productivity may affect the diversity of the rodent community via demographic effects.

Keywords: *Apodemus* spp., assemblage, demography, interspecific competition, latitudinal gradient, *Myodes glareolus*, seasonality, supplemental feeding.

1 Introduction

Mammalian populations can be placed along a fast-slow continuum according to their lifehistory traits (Oli, 2004), metabolism (Lovegrove, 2003) and fertility rate (Oli & Dobson, 2003). Extrinsic factors (bottom-up e.g. food availability, top-down e.g. climate severity or predation), together with intrinsic mechanisms (seasonal cycles, density-dependence), control the dynamics of both large, 'slow-living', and small, 'fast-living' mammals (Odden et al., 2014; Wolff, 1997). However, large mammals have lower basal metabolic rate being related with body mass (Schmidt-Nielsen & Knut, 1984; C. R. White & Kearney, 2013), so that extrinsic perturbations tend to have a delayed effect on individual fitness (e.g. carry-over effect, Harrison et al. 2011; metabolic plasticity, Norin & Metcalfe 2019), hence demography (elasticity patterns, Heppell et al., 2000). Conversely, small mammals show an r-selection strategy with a rapid pace in life-history events (e.g., earlier maturity, higher reproductive rate, shorter generation times and higher basal metabolic rate) (Boyce, 1984), therefore experiencing proximate functional and numerical responses to climatic and environmental changes, such as masting (Zwolak, Bogdziewicz, & Rychlik, 2016), and habitat fragmentation (Bogdziewicz & Zwolak, 2014). For these reasons and due to their wide distribution across diverse habitats and numerous trophic niches, small mammals are considered informative models to disentangle environmental effects on individual fitness, demography and, ultimately, population and community dynamics.

The range of abiotic conditions defining the distribution of small mammal species in absence of other species define their *fundamental niche* (*sensu* Hutchinson, 1957), while in presence of interspecific interactions single populations occur in more restricted 'regions' of such environmental space (*realised niche*; see e.g. Peters et al., 2013). Within these regions, population growth rate, expressed by its demographic components such as survival, somatic growth and fecundity (*demographic niche*, Maguire, 1973) depends on the acquisition of food

resources, in presence of competitors, predation and diseases (Chase & Leibold, 2003; Sibly & Hone, 2002). In particular, Sinclair and Krebs (2002) suggested that food supply is the primary factor determining rodent population growth rate and only secondarily it is overridden or severely modified by regulatory top-down processes (e.g. predators, intra-specific social interactions and environmental disturbance such as climate severity). This conjecture was then revised by Krebs (2013), proposing instead a multi-factorial explanation of population dynamics changes as an interaction of top-down and bottom-up mechanisms. More recently Flowerdew et al. (2017) supported the earlier model in which food availability, together with density-dependence, play the strongest role in rodent population growth and reproduction, mediated by weather seasonality and only weakly by predation.

A comprehensive analysis of the factors that regulate population dynamics in small rodents is therefore extremely complex because both reproduction and survival are conditiondependent and therefore regulated directly by intrinsic and extrinsic factors. Specifically, intrinsic factors (i.e. density-dependence, behaviour, physiology and life-history traits) cause variations in survival (Johnsen et al., 2018) and reproduction (Aars & Ims, 2002) year-round. Their effect may then interact with environmental extrinsic conditions, such as climatic constraints (Hoset et al., 2009) and food quality and quantity (Boutin, 1990), to shape small rodents demographic patterns.

Several studies evaluating the proximate importance of food in regulating seasonal demography and multiannual population dynamics used supplemental food provisioning as an experimental approach to control food availability (e. g. Boutin, 1990). These studies found that *ad libitum* supplemental food favored breeding (Krebs & DeLong, 1965), increased reproduction (Desy & Thompson, 1983) and promoted survival (Johnsen et al., 2016) leading to an increase in population density (Taitt & Krebs, 1981; Yoccoz et al., 2001). However, in

alternate studies food supplementation decreased survival (Hansen & Batzli, 1978), population density (Krebs & DeLong, 1965), and growth rate (Löfgren et al., 1996).

Thus, previous literature was not conclusive in outlining the relationship between food availability and population parameters and patterns, in small mammals. This relationship might be further complicated by interspecific interactions (e.g. Brown & Munger, 1985). Indeed, when ecologically similar species are sympatric, they can either (i) adjust their foraging tactics, habitat selection or activity patterns (i.e. specialist to generalist and opportunistic continuum) to partition the niche in space or time, and thus facilitate coexistence (Leimgruber et al., 2014; Schoener, 1974); or (ii) get involved in competitive mechanisms, such as exploitative competition and behavioural interference that can affect demography parameters of outcompeting subordinate species (e.g., dominant mice aggressiveness *vs* voles, Bartolommei et al., 2018; Grüm & Bujalska, 2000), ultimately leading to the formation of new community assemblies (Chesson & Kuang, 2008; Eccard & Ylönen, 2003; Price, 1986).

A potential way to explore such complex relationship is by integrating experimental food supplementation designs within a niche-based community approach, where the effects of topdown extrinsic factors, such as climatic constraints, intrinsic seasonal variations, and food availability on demographic parameters of sympatric species are assessed *ensemble*. In this study, we aimed to disentangle the effect of food availability and climate severity, as well as seasonality on small rodents' demographic patterns, by contemporarily applying a longitudinal and manipulative experimental approach. Specifically, we manipulated food resources availability (i.e., supplemental feeding in treatment/control designs), while explicitly controlling for seasonal variation, degree of climatic severity and co-occurrence of sympatric species, in wild settings. Small rodents were intensively live-trapped at two latitudinal extremes of the boreal-temperate climatic gradient (South-East Norway and Italian Alps), as proxies for climatic severity. In particular, the Norwegian study area is characterized by a strong seasonality with cold and snowy winters and mild and short summers; conversely, in the Italian study area the seasonal shift is more gradual with short and cool winters and warm and flourishing summers. Our initial hypothesis stated that rodents' population parameters and size would vary with resource availability, seasonal variation, and climatic severity (H1; Table1). In particular, for each detected small mammal species, we expected a general decrease of survival at northern latitudes where conditions are harsher (P1.1; Table 1) whereas, within each study area, survival would depend on species-specific intrinsic factors, such as seasonal physiological cycles (P1.2a; Table 1), and be relatively independent from supplemental food (P1.2b; Table 1). Further, we predicted population size to be positively affected by resources availability at both latitudes, i.e. to be higher in summer (P1.3a; Table 1), especially where supplemental food was available (P1.3b; Table 1). We further hypothesized that rodent assemblage and inter-specific relationships depend on climatic and environmental conditions (H2, Table 1) that when favorable, as at southern latitudes promote a more diversified rodent assemblage (P2.1; Table 1). We also predicted that competitive mechanisms between dominant and subordinate species of the assemblage (e.g. mice vs voles) would emerge especially under favorable conditions for dominant species, such as in summer (P2.2a; Table 1) or in presence of supplemental food (P2.2b; Table 1).

Hypotheses	Predictions
H1: Small rodents adjust their population demography according to supplemental food availability, seasonal variation and climatic severity	P1.1: Lower survival at northern latitudes
	P1.2a: Survival depends on species-specific,
	intrinsic seasonal cycles
	1.2b:and is independent of supplemental
	food.
	P1.3a: Higher population size during
	summer
	P1.3b and when supplemental food was
	available
	P2.1: A more diversified rodent assemblage
	is promoted by favourable climatic and
	environmental conditions (i.e., at southern
H2: Small rodent assemblage and inter-	latitudes).
specific relationships depend on climatic and	P2.2a: Inter-specific competition between
environmental conditions	dominant and subordinate species emerges
	especially in summer
	P2.2b:or in presence of supplemental
	food.

Table 1: Hypotheses and corresponding predictions.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Study areas

We carried out the study in two areas located at the extremes of the boreal-temperate climatic gradient, namely South-East Norway, and North-Eastern Italian Alps (Figure 1).



Figure 1: Maps and locations of the study areas. A: Evenstad area, in South-Eastern Norway (61.00N – 11.00E), monitoring period: 2013-2015; and B: Cembra area, in North-Eastern Italian Alps (46.13020N – 11.17843E), monitoring period: 2019-2021. In both study areas, rodents were live-trapped at grids with experimental control-treatment settings regarding food resource availability. Thick lines in the bottom valley indicate the main roads and fine lines the forest roads.

In Norway, Evenstad study area (61.00N - 11.00E; Stor Evdal municipality) includes the forested areas covering the hills and the valley bottom of the Glomma river basin (255 - 700 m a.s.l.). It is characterised by boreal climate (*sensu* Köppen-Geiger classification, Kottek et al., 2006), with long, harsh and snowy winters, with a permanent snow layer that prevents the soil from freezing, and short, cool summers. In particular, mean daily temperature of -8.9 ± 3.2 °C in January and of 14.2 ± 2.1 °C in July, and mean monthly precipitation of 35.2 ± 14.7 mm in January and of 84.1 ± 40.4 mm in July were recorded (data of 2000 - 2020 from the Norwegian Meteorological Institute <u>https://seklima.met.no/</u>, Evenstad, Åkrestrømmen, Drevsjø and Gløtvola weather stations at 260 / 670 m a.s.l.). The landscape is dominated by homogenous boreal coniferous forest of *Picea abies* and *Pinus sylvestris*, bilberry (*Vaccinium myrtillus*) in the understory shrub layer, and mosses (e.g., *Pleurozium schreberi*) on the ground layer (Johnsen et al., 2016).

In Italy, Cembra Valley (46.13020N – 11.17843E; Autonomous Province of Trento, Albiano municipality) lays in a moderate topography region (500 to 1000 m a.s.l.) in orographic

continuity with the Lagorai massif. It is characterised by warm-temperate class of the alpine climate, *sensu* Köppen-Geiger classification (Rubel et al., 2017), with moderately cold winters, with occasional snow cover and usually frozen ground, and fresh summers. In particular, mean daily temperature of 0.9 ± 1.3 °C in January and of 20.8 ± 1.4 °C in July, and mean monthly precipitation of 39.0 ± 1.3 mm in January and of 112.9 ± 47.8 mm in July were recorded (2000 – 2020 data obtained from Meteotrentino <u>https://www.meteotrentino.it</u>, Cembra weather station at 652 m a.s.l.). The area is covered with relatively homogeneous secondary growth mixed forest, dominated by *Pinus sylvestris* with abundant shrub undergrowth, as well as mixed stands of *Fagus sylvatica*, *Picea abies*, *Abies alba* and, to a lower extent, *Quercus petraea*, interspersed with peat bogs and small pastures. In 2020, a mast seeding event of both *Fagus sylvatica* and *Picea abies* occurred in the Italian study area (Ferrari G, pers. comm.).

2.2 Experimental designs

In this study, we assessed rodent demography (i.e. survival and population size) under contrasting abiotic conditions (climatic severity and seasonal variation) and food availability (H1). In particular for the former, we compared (i) study areas at latitudinal extremes, namely Norway and Italy, as a proxy for climatic severity, and (ii) permissive (summer: April-October) vs limiting (winter: November-March) periods, within each year, to evaluate the impact of seasonal variation on rodents demography. To evaluate the demographic implications of food availability, we undertook experimental manipulations by providing *ad libitum* supplemental food in some trapping occasions and/or sites ('Feeding yes', or 'Treatment' Figure 1, Figure 2), but not in others ('Feeding no', or 'Control' Figure 1, Figure 2), in both study areas. Additionally, we further investigated rodent adaptability to divergent environmental conditions by comparing the assemblages at the two latitudes (H2). Where sympatric rodent species occurred, we assessed whether they were competing by comparing their demographic

parameters under the aforementioned seasonal and supplemental food availability variations (Figure 2).

Specifically, in Norway, we deployed thirteen trapping grids and performed monthly captures between 2013 and 2015 (see Appendix S1, Table S1.1 for a summary of capture sessions). In six of those grids, supplemental food (a mixture of oat and sunflowers) was provided *ad libitum* next to each trap from December 2013 to June 2014, in November 2014, and in May 2015 (state of the sites: 'Feeding yes'). In these six grids from June to August 2015, and in the remaining seven grids from December 2013 to August 2015, no food was provided (state of the sites: 'Feeding no').

In Italy, we deployed six trapping grids and performed monthly captures during winter (from November to March), and bi-monthly captures during spring and summer (i.e., in April, June and August) between February 2019 and April 2021 (see Appendix S1, Table S1.2). Three of these grids were always provided with *ad libitum* corn supply dispensed through ungulate supplemental feeding stations located at the centre of each grid (sites: 'Feeding yes'), while the other three were located at least 500 m from any feeding site (sites: 'Feeding no').



Figure 2: Panel A - In this study, we performed rodent live-trapping at two latitudinal extremes (Norway and Italy) used as a proxy for climatic severity (in green), in a combination of seasonal (in blue) and supplemental food availability (in orange) conditions. Specifically, at both latitudes, we performed experimental control-treatment manipulations in wild settings by providing supplemental food in treatment conditions only, across different seasons. Panel B - These experimental manipulations led to evaluate individual performance and population abundance change in dependence on seasonal variation and food availability, under diverse degree of climatic severity (H1). Additionally, we

evaluated how these relations were affected by competition of sympatric species (H2). Scheme modified from (Batzli, 1992); the red boxes indicate the factors explicitly addressed in the study designs.

2.3 Live-trapping

In Norway, the trapping grids were cross-shaped with 16 trap stations 15 m and 7.5 m apart for the external and internal traps in the grid, respectively (total grid area: 3600 m²; Appendix S2). Captures lasted 4 days/3 nights per month, and traps were checked every 12 hours (for additional information on the protocol in Norway, see Johnsen et al., 2017).

In Italy, animals were caught in square-grids of 8x8 traps placed 10 m apart (total grid area: 4900 m²; Appendix S2). Captures lasted 4 days/3 nights per month (winter) or bi-month (summer), and traps were checked every 24 hours.

In both the Italian and Norwegian study areas, the traps were left open during non-trapping periods, to habituate animals to their presence. Each trap consisted of a standard Ugglan Multiple Live Trap (model 2, Granhab, Sweden), filled with hay during the cold season, and baited with carrot slices and seeds (oat in Norway, sunflower in Italy). Standard capture-mark-recapture techniques (CMR) were adopted (Amstrup et al., 2005; Pollock et al., 1990). Each animal was individually marked with a Passive Integrated Transponder (PIT) tag (Trovan® Ltd., UK), and standard information (date, time, trap number, grid number, id of the animal) and life-history traits (species, sex, body mass, age, breeding status) were recorded for each capture. In Italy only, blood (from the retro orbital sinus), tissue samples (tail tip and ear biopsy) and fecal pellets were collected, and animals were also screened for the presence of parasites.

We discarded data from 22 animals in total as they were occasional species (shrews, dormice), or individuals that lost their PIT tag (but were identified by the signs of biopsy). Individuals of yellow-necked mouse (*Apodemus flavicollis*) and wood mouse (*Apodemus sylvaticus*) were treated *ensemble* as *Apodemus* spp. as the former was largely prevalent (see below).

All animal handling procedures and ethical issues were approved by the relevant regional or local Wildlife Management Committees.

2.4 Multi-State Open Robust Design models

We analysed capture data separately for Norway and Italy to account for differences in the experimental design (see 2.2 *Experimental designs*).

Our field protocol defined by daily secondary occasions within monthly primary ones corresponds to the so-called robust design framework (Pollock, 1982). Therefore, we used a multistate open robust design (MSORD) approach to estimate demographic parameters (Cooch & White, 2019; G. C. White et al., 2006). This model provides five parameters (Boys et al., 2019; Cooch & White, 2019; Kendall & Nichols, 2002): (i) true survival (St), which expresses the probability of surviving from release occasion t to subsequent primary occasion t + 1occupying a state s; (ii) transition probability (ψ_s), which represents the probability of animals transitioning to different states s between primary occasions t and t + 1; (iii) entry or arrival probability (*pent_i*), which expresses the probability of an animal arriving and being captured in the study area in secondary occasion j; (iv) apparent survival rate (φ_i) , which is the probability of an individual to survive and persist in a capture site at secondary occasion j, given it was present in j - 1; (v) capture probability (p_i), the probability of an animal being detected at occasion j, given it was present. The transition probability (ψ) was intended differently for Norway and Italy. For the former, it consisted in the probability of transition between states of food availability at trapping sites, expressed by the covariate 'feeding state', as feeding was treated as a spatio-temporal covariate (i.e., availability of food in certain primary occasions in certain sites; see also 2.2 Experimental designs); for the latter, it regarded the probability of transition between state of individual observability, i.e. animals being present in the study area and available for detection (observable state) or otherwise temporary emigrant outside the study area (unobservable state), and it was set as constant. The availability of supplemental

food for Italy was expressed instead by a spatial, temporally fixed covariate, 'feeding site', corresponding to the trapping sites where food was always provided *ad libitum*, or the alternate sites with no food, that as such did not affect ψ . The MSORD model also provides two derived (i.e. not included in the likelihood formulation) parameters: (vi) population size (N_l), i.e. the number of individuals occupying the study area in state s in that primary occasion t; and (vii) residence time (R_l), which expresses the average number of secondary occasions that an individual spent in the study area for that state s in that primary occasion t (Boys et al., 2019; Chabanne at al., 2017).

We modelled demographic parameters in dependence on temporal, spatial, state, and individual covariates that were biologically meaningful to address our working hypotheses. Based on exploratory analyses, we decided not to consider sex in the CMR models (see Appendix S3 for details). We modelled true (S) and apparent survival (φ) as varying in dependence on primary occasions ('session', only for φ) and successive seasonal periods ('season') to detect the temporal pattern (H1), supplemental food availability ('feeding state' in Norway and 'feeding site' in Italy) to identify the food effect (H1), and species (only in Italy) to evaluate interspecific competition (H2). We considered the probabilities of capture (p) and arrival (pent) to be dependent on temporal variations (primary occasions i.e. 'session' for p, secondary occasions i.e. 'time' for pent), seasonal periods ('season'), supplemental food availability ('feeding state'-Norway and 'feeding site'-Italy) and species (only in Italy). We modelled ψ in dependence on transition of feeding state for Norway, and kept it constant for Italy (expressing the probability of transition of animal observability in the trapping grid; see above) (Table 1; see also Appendix S4 for description of covariates and models building). We fitted the models with the RMark package (Laake, 2013) in the R program (R Core Team 2021) and used the AICc (corrected Akaike's Information Criterion) for model selection (Burnham & Anderson, 2002) with a threshold of $\triangle AICc \le 4$ (Appendix S5). Two models for Norway, and three models for Italy were equivalent in terms of AICc; among these, we chose for prediction of parameters the models which retained the covariates that allowed us to better test our hypotheses (Appendix S5).

3 Results

3.1 Assemblage Description

In Norway, 917 bank voles (*Myodes glareolus*) were captured accounting for 3976 total capture events. Individuals were captured more when supplemental feeding was available (n = 575 for 2880 night traps) than when it was not (n = 455 for 10504 night traps). The sex ratio was similar with and without supplemental food availability (Table S3.1, Appendix S3).

In Italy, 507 animals were captured for three species (P2.1 *supported*): 398 (78.5%) *Apodemus* spp. (specifically, 390 yellow-necked mice *Apodemus flavicollis* and 8 wood mice *Apodemus sylvaticus*, as later determined through genetics) and 109 (21.5%) bank voles (*M. glareolus*), accounting for 1379 capture events in total (926 and 453, respectively). We captured more mice where supplemental food was available (n = 234 for 21888 night traps) than in grids where it was not (n = 164 for 21888 night traps), and the opposite for voles (29 and 80, respectively). Sex ratio was similar with and without supplemental food (see Table S3.1, Appendix S3).

3.2 Population Demography

Probability of survival

Generally, S in M glareolus was marginally lower in Norway during the winter season compared to Italy (t-test; p-value = 0.051), instead during summer S was not statistically different in the two study areas (P1.1, partially supported).

For Norway, *S* depended on the additive effect between availability of supplemental food and season (Table S5.1). In particular, *S* was higher during winter with respect to the following

summer (for those years where these seasons were comparable) (P1.2a *supported*), and in presence of supplemental food, both in winter and summer (Table S6.1; Figure 3.1; for p, φ and *pent*, see Appendix S7) (P1.2b *not supported*).

In Italy *S* depended on the additive effect of season with the interaction between species and feeding site (Table S5.2). In particular, both *M. glareolus* and *Apodemus* spp. showed a similar seasonal pattern, with *S* increasing in winter and declining in summer (P1.2a *supported*). In absence of supplemental food, *S* was higher in *M. glareolus* than in *Apodemus* spp.; however, where supplemental food was provided, *S* slightly increased in *Apodemus* spp. but strongly decreased in *M. glareolus* (Table S6.3; Figure 3.2; for *p*, φ and *pent*, see Appendix S7) (P1.2b *partially supported* and P2.2b *supported*).



Figure 3: Estimates of survival (S) of rodents in Norway (**Figure 3.1**) and Italy (**Figure 3.2**) by species and seasonal variation, with treatment supplemental food (supplemental food available; dark green) and control (no supplemental food available; light green) conditions ('Feeding state' for Norway and 'Feeding site' for Italy). Grey shaded bars show the summer periods, while white bars show the winter periods. The comparison between successive winter (overwintering animals) and summer (reproductive season) survival estimates is not possible for summer 2013 in Norway and winter 2020-21 in Italy.

Population size

In Norway (Table S6.2; Figure 4.1), when supplemental food was not provided, *M. glareolus* population size was slightly higher in summer than in winter (P1.3a *supported*), although it exhibited a general decreasing trend across years. In the months with availability of supplemental food, the population size was significantly higher (ANOVA, p-value = 0.00013; P1.3b *supported*), but the temporal irregularity of sampling and therefore estimates (Appendix S1, Appendix S6) does not allow to infer any seasonal pattern.

In Italy (Table S6.4; Figure 4.2), when supplemental food was not provided, population size trends of *Apodemus* spp. and *M. glareolus* were asynchronous, reaching population size peaks in different periods. In particular, *Apodemus* spp. showed a summer peak followed by a sharp decrease through winter 2019-20, while in 2020 the population continued to increase after the summer season (P1.3a *partially supported*). On the contrary, *M. glareolus* increased during winter and decreased in summer (P1.3a *not supported*, P2.2a *supported*). With supplemental food, *Apodemus* spp. exhibited the same annual pattern, but with a higher population size (ANOVA, p-value = 0.03) (P1.3b *supported*). Noteworthy, *M. glareolus* was almost absent where food was provided, with the exception of a slight recovery only during the last winter sessions in 2020-21 (ANOVA, p-value = 0.01) (P1.3b *not supported* and P2.2b *supported*).



Figure 4: Population size (Nt) of rodents in Norway, 2013-2015 (**Figure 4.1**) and in Italy, 2019-2021 (**Figure 4.2**) with treatment supplemental food (supplemental food available; dark green) and control (no supplemental food available; light green) conditions ('Feeding state' for Norway and 'Feeding site' for Italy). Grey shaded bars show the summer periods, while white bars show the winter periods. The gaps in the series (*M. glareolus* in Norway: Feb 2014 and May 2015; *M. glareolus* in Italy: 8 cases) are due to lack of estimates from the model in those instances.

4 Discussion

In our work, we found evidence that bottom-up extrinsic processes, i.e. food availability, crucially affect woodland rodent demography, and that this effect is mediated by top-down extrinsic drivers, such as climate severity, as well as by intrinsic seasonal cycles and competition between sympatric species. Survival was principally governed by intrinsic seasonal cycles and was affected by food availability only when unfavourable extrinsic conditions occurred (i.e., harsh climate in Norway; exploitative competition in Italy, see below). Conversely, population size was generally enhanced by resources (i.e., with

supplemental food in Norway; during masting in Italy), unless *ad libitum* concentrated food availability triggered interactions between sympatric species. In this case, the dominant, opportunistic species (i.e., *Apodemus* spp.) relatively increased its population size both in summer and especially in winter with respect to control conditions, suppressing the temporal niche partitioning with the subordinate generalist species (i.e., *M. glareolus*). As this resulted in the depression of both population size and survival of the latter, we can infer the emergence of both direct (behavioural interference, i.e. decreased population size) and indirect (exploitative, i.e. depressed survival) competitive mechanisms. Innumerable studies have contributed to describe and explain rodent dynamics by investigating the underpinning demographic processes (Andreassen et al., 2021; Cornulier et al., 2013; Oli, 1999). The nichebased, experimental and longitudinal designs of our work allowed to uncover the interplay between intrinsic and extrinsic drivers of annual population patterns.

Both for bank voles and mice, well-known patterns of seasonal demography for rodents living in temperate and polar climate, i.e. an alternation between breeding (late spring to early autumn) and non-breeding (late autumn to early spring) seasons (Eccard & Herde, 2013) were mainly confirmed. This suggests that intrinsic mechanisms such as physiological cycles represented the leading force in driving survival, which was higher in winter than in summer (P1.2a), and population size that conversely was higher in summer than in winter (P1.3a). Specifically, in late spring, the decreased costs of thermoregulation due to warmer temperatures (Merritt, 2010), together with increased resource availability (Pearse et al., 2016) stimulate reproduction (Steinlechner & Puchalski, 2003), which continues until early autumn producing several generations of new-borns. During the breeding season, the survival is lowered by a combination of (i) high emigration rate of overwintered individuals (i.e. those that successfully survived throughout the previous winter due to their ability to storing food and avoiding predation (Olenev & Grigorkina, 2014) and (ii) deaths of early-born and immature animals

(Flowerdew et al., 1985) that tend to increase their competitiveness for food and mates at the cost of chances of survival (Eccard & Herde, 2013). During the non-breeding season, the survival of late-born animals (i.e., overwintering individuals) is higher, guarantying the bulk for the following year spring population.

Our integrated niche-based approach allowed to experimentally evaluate how extrinsic environmental factors, especially trophic resources, modulate these relatively conserved demographic patterns. Specifically, the latitudinal comparison highlighted that *M. glareolus* survival was slightly lower in Norway than in Italy, but only in winter, likely due to prolonged harsh seasons, scarcity of food resources, and delayed phenology (P1.1; Haapakoski & Ylönen, 2013; Korslund & Steen, 2006). Consistently, the survival in *M. glareolus* increased following the manipulation of food availability in Norway (on the contrary of what expected; P1.2b), providing a further evidence of the importance of tropich resources in modulating survival at northern latitudes (Johnsen et al., 2016; Rémy et al., 2013). Indeed, at those latitudes harsh conditions increase the energetic costs for thermoregulation and reproduction (Ylönen & Eccard, 2004). On the opposite, short winters, milder temperatures and more predictable precipitations might favour stability in survival annual trends at southern latitudes (Yoccoz & Ims, 1999), as observed for *Apodemus* spp. in Italy, also when supplemental food was provided (P1.2b).

Conversely, trophic resources were the major driver of population abundance at both latitudes, with higher values in summer (P1.3a), and when supplemental food was provided (P1.3b). This might be linked to the restriction of home ranges when resources are abundant (see e.g. Stradiotto et al., 2009; Taitt & Krebs, 1981), which our models support by showing that individual residency time increased in proximity of food resources, when these were provided (Ferrari G., pers. comm.). As a consequence, the creation of vacant areas due to home range contraction might discourage emigration and favor immigration (Le Galliard et al., 2012;

Rémy et al., 2013), ultimately increasing population size. Remarkable exceptions to this general pattern were recorded: in Norway, *M. glareolus* showed an overall decreasing trend in population size, due to the upcoming crash phase of multi-annual cycles (as detected in Johnsen et al., 2019) that typically govern rodents dynamics at northern latitudes (Andreassen et al., 2021); in Italy, population abundance of both *Apodemus* spp. and *M. glareolus* kept increasing from summer 2020 to winter 2020-2021, following a beech and spruce mast seeding, which produced overabundant spatially dispersed food resources (Bogdziewicz at al., 2016); further, population size of *M. glareolus* in Italian alpine woodlands exhibited an asynchronous seasonal pattern with respect to that of *Apodemus* spp., with peaks in winter and low phases in summer (P2.2a).

At southern latitudes, milder conditions in forestry environments promoted the cooccurrence of multiple species, in accordance with latidudinal biodiversity gradients (Araújo & Costa-Pereira, 2013; Mannion et al., 2014) (P2.1). While spring decline has been recorded in voles in other habitats (see Flowerdew et al., 1985 for a review), we intepret the asynchrony of annual population trends within the rodent community as an evidence of temporal niche partitioning. In sympatry, *Apodemus* spp. are generally dominant over *M. glareolus* (Amori et al., 2015; Casula et al., 2019), with the latter thus being forced to shift its niche to avoid competition. Benefiting by its wide dietary spectrum (Butet & Delettre, 2011), the generalist *M. glareolus* may exploit harsher seasonal conditions to temporally shift its niche, thus partitioning it with respect to the diet-specialist *Apodemus* spp. (Viviano et al., 2022), not able to cope with winter resource depletion. The overabundance of concentrated food of our experiment altered these processes, consistently enhancing the population demography of *Apodemus* spp., so buffering its population decline in winter (P1.3b). As a consequence, the ecological niches of *Apodemus* spp. and *M. glareolus* should have overlapped, and the niche partitioning failed. This eventually resulted in interspecific competition (P2.2b), with *M*. glareolus survival decreasing and population size collapsing. In nature, behavioral interference and exploitative competition (Wallace & Benbow, 2019) often co-exist, and their effects are difficult to separate (Schmidt et al., 2005; Shenbrot & Krasnov, 2002). Our experimental setting of food manipulation helps speculate the underpinning process to the observed demographic patterns. The presence of clumped food resources might have triggered behavioral interference, attracting both species (higher residency time, Ferrari G. pers. comm.), but favoring the dominant one. When food is confined, it becomes a defensible resource for species that cache food in larger hoards such as Apodemus spp. (Zwolak, Bogdziewicz, Wróbel, et al., 2016), potentially leading to aggressive interactions. These interactions might have chased *M. glareolus* away from the area surrounding the sites, eventually causing the observed collapse of population size (see e.g. Eccard & Ylönen, 2007). The concurrent decrease of survival experienced by *M. glareolus* might be instead imputed to exploitative competition (Gilad, 2008). As concentrated food resources enhance it abundance, Apodemus spp. might have consumed other resources than those provided at feeding sites, depriving M. glareolus also of other food sources. The lack of competition in presence of overabundant and spatially dispersed food resources i.e. masting, supports this explanation.

Under climate change. we expect more permissive environmental conditions for the rodent community in the boreal-temperate gradient, with a likely northward expansion of species' distributional limits (Parmesan, 2006). The colonization of new habitats by opportunistic species e.g. *Apodemus* spp. would expand the spatial overlap with species such as *M. glareolus* which is well-adapted to cold environments (Butet and Delettre 2011, Markova et al. 2018). This scenario is supported by our latitudinal comparison, which suggests a tendency to niche partitioning as sympatry establishes (Bartolommei et al., 2018), or species competition to the disadvantage of adaptable but subordinate species.

Our assessment of the role of extrinsic and intrinsic factors, in interplay with biotic interactions, in shaping rodent demography, highlights the complexity of such relationships. Only by simultaneously controlling for several components of the ecological niche of the studied species (extrinsic top-down factors, i.e. climate severity, through latitudinal multi-population comparison; extrinsic bottom-up factors, i.e. resource availability, through food manipulation; intrinsic cycles, through seasonal variation; competition, through assessment of interactions between sympatric species) we have been able to evaluate their relative impact on the demography of each species. We suggest adopting an analogous approach when investigating other underpinning determinants of rodent demography patterns, such as parasitism and emergence of related diseases (Deter et al., 2008; Telfer et al., 2005), e.g. by comparing host-parasite-pathogens associations across environmental gradients or under different intensity of human disturbance.

Acknowledgements

G. Ferrari was supported by Inland Norway of Applied Sciences Doctoral Program in Applied ecology and biotechnology and Fondazione Edmund Mach International Doctoral Program. F.C. contributed to this work partly under the IRD Fellowship 2021/2022 at Fondation IMéRA, Institute for Advanced Studies at Aix-Marseille Université. We are grateful to all the people involved in the rodent trapping and data collection, and especially Arnoldi D., Dal Farra S., Inama E. and Savazza S. We thank all the members of Applied Ecology and Animal Ecology Research Units and researchers from Evenstad Campus for their valuable suggestions.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare no competing interests.

Authors' contributions

G.F., O.D., V.T. and F.C. conceived the ideas and designed methodology; F.C., V.T. and O.D. equally supervised the work; G.F., V.T. and F.O. collected the data in Italy and K.J. collected the data in Norway; G.F. analysed the data with the support of O.D.. F.C., V.T.; G.F. led the writing of the manuscript, together with O.D., V.T., F.O., and F.C. All authors contributed critically to the drafts and gave final approval for publication.

Data Availability Statement

Data are available from the Eurosmallmammals database (https://eurosmallmammals.fmach.it).

References

- Aars, J., & Ims, R. A. (2002). Intrinsic and Climatic Determinants of Population Demography: The Winter Dynamics of Tundra Voles. *Ecology*, *83*(12), 3449. doi: 10.2307/3072093
- Amori, G., Castigliani, V., Locasciulli, O., & Luiselli, L. (2015). Long-term density fluctuations and microhabitat use of sympatric Apodemus flavicollis and Myodes glareolus in central Italy. *Community Ecology*, 16(2), 196–205. doi: 10.1556/168.2015.16.2.7
- Amstrup, S. C., McDonald, T. L., & Manly, B. F. J. (2005). Handbook of capture-recapture analysis. Princeton University Press.
- Andreassen, H. P., Sundell, J., Ecke, F., Halle, S., Haapakoski, M., Henttonen, H., ... Ylönen, H. (2021). Population cycles and outbreaks of small rodents: ten essential questions we still need to solve. *Oecologia*, 195(3), 601–622. doi: 10.1007/s00442-020-04810-w
- Araújo, M. S., & Costa-Pereira, R. (2013). Latitudinal gradients in intraspecific ecological diversity. *Biol Lett*, 9. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2013.0778
- Bartolommei, P., Gasperini, S., Bonacchi, A., Manzo, E., & Cozzolino, R. (2018). Multiple captures as indicator of social tolerance in a guild of terrestrial rodents. *Mammalian*

Biology, 93, 169–172. doi: 10.1016/j.mambio.2018.07.001

- Batzli, G. O. (1992). Dynamics of Small Mammal Populations: A Review. *Wildlife 2001: Populations*, 831–850. doi: 10.1007/978-94-011-2868-1 63
- Batzli, G. O., & Lesieutre, C. (1995). Community Organization of Arvicoline Rodents in Northern Alaska. *Oikos*, 72(1), 88–98.
- Bogdziewicz, M., & Zwolak, R. (2014). Responses of small mammals to clear-cutting in temperate and boreal forests of Europe: A meta-analysis and review. *European Journal of Forest Research*, *133*(1), 1–11. doi: 10.1007/s10342-013-0726-x
- Bogdziewicz, M., Zwolak, R., & Crone, E. E. (2016). How do vertebrates respond to mast seeding? *Oikos*, *125*(3), 300–307. doi: 10.1111/oik.03012
- Boutin, S. (1990). Food supplementation experiments with terrestrial vertebrates: patterns, problems, and the future. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, *68*(2), 203–220. doi: 10.1139/z90-031
- Boyce, M. S. (1984). Restitution of gamma- and K-Selection as a Model of Density-Dependent Natural Selection. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 15(1), 427–447. doi: 10.1146/annurev.es.15.110184.002235
- Boys, R. M., Oliveira, C., Pérez-Jorge, S., Prieto, R., Steiner, L., & Silva, M. A. (2019). Multistate open robust design applied to opportunistic data reveals dynamics of wide-ranging taxa: the sperm whale case. *Ecosphere*, *10*(3). doi: 10.1002/ecs2.2610
- Brown, J. H., & Munger, J. C. (1985). Experimental Manipulation of a Desert Rodent Community: Food Addition and Species Removal. *Ecology*, 66(5), 1545–1563. doi: 10.2307/1938017
- Burnham, K. P., & Anderson, D. R. (2002). A Practical Information-Theoretic Approach. In Model Selection and Multimodel Inference (2nd edn., pp. 70–71). Springer-Verlag, New York, NY, USA.
- Butet, A., & Delettre, Y. R. (2011). Diet differentiation between European arvicoline and murine rodents. *Acta Theriologica*, *56*(4), 297–304. doi: 10.1007/s13364-011-0049-6
- Casula, P., Luiselli, L., & Amori, G. (2019). Which population density affects home ranges of co-occurring rodents? *Basic and Applied Ecology*, *34*, 46–54. doi:

10.1016/j.baae.2018.11.002

- Chabanne, D. B. H., Pollock, K. H., Finn, H., & Bejder, L. (2017). Applying the multistate capture–recapture robust design to characterize metapopulation structure. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 8(11), 1547–1557. doi: 10.1111/2041-210X.12792
- Chase, J. M., & Leibold, M. A. (2003). *Ecological Niches: Linking Classical and Contemporary Approaches*. Chicago: University Chicago Press.
- Chesson, P., & Kuang, J. J. (2008). The interaction between predation and competition. *Nature*, 456(7219), 235–238. doi: 10.1038/nature07248
- Cooch, E. G., & White, G. C. (2019). Using program MARK: A gentle introduction.
- Cornulier, T., Yoccoz, N. G., Bretagnolle, V., Brommer, J. E., Butet, A., Ecke, F., ... Lambin, X. (2013). Europe-wide dampening of population cycles in keystone herbivores. *Science*, 340(6128), 63–66. doi: 10.1126/science.1228992
- Desy, E. A., & Thompson, C. F. (1983). Effects of Supplemental Food on a Microtus pennsylvanicus Population in Central Illinois. *The Journal of Animal Ecology*, 52(1), 127. doi: 10.2307/4592
- Deter, J., Charbonnel, N., Cosson, J. F., & Morand, S. (2008). Regulation of vole populations by the nematode Trichuris arvicolae: Insights from modelling. *European Journal of Wildlife Research*, 54(1), 60–70. doi: 10.1007/S10344-007-0110-6/TABLES/3
- Eccard, J. A., & Herde, A. (2013). Seasonal variation in the behaviour of a short-lived rodent. BMC Ecology, 13(1), 1–9. doi: 10.1186/1472-6785-13-43
- Eccard, J. A., & Ylönen, H. (2003). Interspecific competition in small rodents: from populations to individuals. *Evolutionary Ecology*, 17(4), 423–440. doi: 10.1023/A:1027305410005
- Eccard, J. A., & Ylönen, H. (2007). Costs of coexistence along a gradient of competitor densities: An experiment with arvicoline rodents. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 76(1), 65– 71. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2656.2006.01175.x
- Flowerdew, J. R., Amano, T., & Sutherland, W. J. (2017). Strong "bottom-up" influences on small mammal populations: State-space model analyses from long-term studies. *Ecology* and Evolution, 7(6), 1699–1711. doi: 10.1002/ece3.2725

- Flowerdew, J. R., Gurnell, J. (John), & Gipps, J. H. W. (1985). The Ecology of Woodland Rodents : Bank Voles and Wood Mice. *The Proceedings of a Symposium Held at the Zoological Society of London on 23rd and 24th of November 1984*, 418. Published for the Zoological Society of London by Clarendon Press.
- Gilad, O. (2008). Competition and Competition Models. *Encyclopedia of Ecology, Five-Volume Set*, 707–712. doi: 10.1016/B978-008045405-4.00666-2
- Grüm, L., & Bujalska, G. (2000). Bank voles and yellow-necked mice: What are interrelations between them? *Polish Journal of Ecology*, *48*(SUPPL.), 141–145.
- Haapakoski, M., & Ylönen, H. (2013). Snow evens fragmentation effects and food determines overwintering success in ground-dwelling voles. *Ecological Research*, 28(2), 307–315. doi: 10.1007/s11284-012-1020-y
- Hansen, L., & Batzli, G. O. (1978). The influence of food availability on the white-footed mouse: populations in isolated woodlots. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 56(12), 2530– 2541. doi: 10.1139/Z78-341
- Harrison, X. A., Blount, J. D., Inger, R., Norris, D. R., & Bearhop, S. (2011, January 1). Carry-over effects as drivers of fitness differences in animals. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, Vol. 80, pp. 4–18. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2656.2010.01740.x
- Heppell, S. S., Caswell, H., & Crowder, L. B. (2000). Life histories and elasticity patterns: perturbation analysis for species with minimal demographic data. *Special Feature Ecology*, 81(3), 654–665. doi: 10.1890/0012-9658(2000)081[0654:LHAEPP]2.0.CO;2
- Hoset, K. S., Le Galliard, J. F., & Gundersen, G. (2009). Demographic responses to a mild winter in enclosed vole populations. *Population Ecology*, 51(2), 279–288. doi: 10.1007/s10144-008-0130-4
- Hutchinson, E. G. (1957). Concluding remarks. Cold Springs Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology, 22, 415–427.
- Johnsen, K., Boonstra, R., Boutin, S., Devineau, O., Krebs, C. J., & Andreassen, H. P. (2016). Surviving winter: Food, but not habitat structure, prevents crashes in cyclic vole populations. *Ecology and Evolution*, 7(1), 115–124. doi: 10.1002/ece3.2635
- Johnsen, K., Devineau, O., & Andreassen, H. P. (2018). The Effects of Winter Climate and Intrinsic Factors on Survival of Cyclic Vole Populations in Southeastern Norway. *Annales*

Zoologici Fennici, 55(4-6), 173-185. doi: 10.5735/086.055.0604

- Johnsen, K., Devineau, O., & Andreassen, H. P. (2019). Phase- and season-dependent changes in social behaviour in cyclic vole populations. *BMC Ecology*, 19(1). doi: 10.1186/s12898-019-0222-3
- Kendall, W. L., & Nichols, J. D. (2002). Estimating state-transition probabilities for unobservable states using capture-recapture/resighting data. *Ecology*, 83(12), 3276–3284. doi: 10.1890/0012-9658(2002)083[3276:ESTPFU]2.0.CO;2
- Korslund, L., & Steen, H. (2006). Small rodent winter survival: Snow conditions limit access to food resources. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 75(1), 156–166. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2656.2005.01031.x
- Kottek, M., Grieser, J., Beck, C., Rudolf, B., & Rubel, F. (2006). World map of the Köppen-Geiger climate classification updated. *Meteorologische Zeitschrift*, 15(3), 259–263. doi: 10.1127/0941-2948/2006/0130
- Krebs, C. J. (2013). Population Fluctuations in Rodents. In *Population Fluctuations in Rodents*.University of Chicago Press. doi: 10.7208/chicago/9780226010496.001.0001
- Krebs, C. J., Cowcill, K., Boonstra, R., & Kenney, A. J. (2010). Do changes in berry crops drive population fluctuations in small rodents in the southwestern Yukon? *Journal of Mammalogy*, 91(2), 500–509. doi: 10.1644/09-MAMM-A-005.1/2/JMAMMAL-91-2-500-FIG3.JPEG
- Krebs, C. J., & DeLong, K. T. (1965). A Microtus Population with Supplemental Food. *Journal* of Mammalogy, 46(4), 566–573. doi: 10.2307/1377927
- Laake, J. L. (2013). RMark: An R interface for analysis of capture-recapture data with MARK. In AFSC Processed Rep. 2013-01, 25 p. Alaska Fish. Sci. Cent., NOAA, Natl. Mar. Fish. Serv., 7600 Sand Point Way NE, Seattle WA 98115.
- Le Galliard, J. F., Rémy, A., Ims, R. A., & Lambin, X. (2012). Patterns and processes of dispersal behaviour in arvicoline rodents. *Molecular Ecology*, 21(3), 505–523. doi: 10.1111/J.1365-294X.2011.05410.X
- Leimgruber, P., McShea, W. J., & Songer, M. (2014). Vertical habitat segregation as a mechanism for coexistence in sympatric rodents. *Mammalian Biology*, 79(5), 313–317. doi: 10.1016/j.mambio.2014.04.002
- Löfgren, O., Hörnfeldt, B., & Eklund, U. (1996). Effect of supplemental food on a cyclic Clethrionomys glareolus population at peak density. *Acta Theriologica*, 41(4), 383–394. doi: 10.4098/AT.arch.96-37
- Lovegrove, B. G. (2003). The influence of climate on the basal metabolic rate of small mammals: A slow-fast metabolic continuum. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B: Biochemical, Systemic, and Environmental Physiology, 173*(2), 87–112. doi: 10.1007/s00360-002-0309-5
- Maguire, B. (1973). Niche Response Structure and the Analytical Potentials of Its Relationship to the Habitat. *The American Naturalist*, *107*(954), 213–246. doi: 10.1086/282827
- Mannion, P. D., Upchurch, P., Benson, R. B. J., & Goswami, A. (2014). The latitudinal biodiversity gradient through deep time. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 29(1), 42–50. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2013.09.012
- Markova, E. A., Strukova, T. V., & Borodin, A. V. (2018). Arvicolines (Arvicolinae, Rodentia) as Paleoenvironmental Proxies: Classification of Species Inhabiting the Central Part of Northern Eurasia Based on Environmental Preferences of Their Modern Representatives. *Biology Bulletin*, 45(7), 772–782. doi: 10.1134/S1062359018070129
- Merritt, J. F. (2010). The Biology of Small Mammals. The Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Norin, T., & Metcalfe, N. B. (2019). Ecological and evolutionary consequences of metabolic rate plasticity in response to environmental change. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 374(1768). doi: 10.1098/rstb.2018.0180
- Odden, M., Ims, R. A., Støen, O. G., Swenson, J. E., & Andreassen, H. P. (2014). Bears are simply voles writ large: Social structure determines the mechanisms of intrinsic population regulation in mammals. *Oecologia*, 175(1), 1–10. doi: 10.1007/s00442-014-2892-z
- Olenev, G. V., & Grigorkina, E. B. (2014). Functional patterns of life activities of rodent populations in the winter season. *Russian Journal of Ecology*, 45(6), 480–489. doi: 10.1134/S1067413614060101
- Oli, M. K. (1999). The Chitty effect: A consequence of dynamic energy allocation in a fluctuating environment. *Theoretical Population Biology*, 56(3), 293–300. doi: 10.1006/tpbi.1999.1427

- Oli, M. K. (2004). The fast–slow continuum and mammalian life-history patterns: an empirical evaluation. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 5(5), 449–463. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2004.06.002
- Oli, M. K., & Dobson, S. F. (2003). The relative importance of life-history variables to population growth rate in mammals: Cole's prediction revisited. *American Naturalist*, 161(3), 422–440. doi: 10.1086/367591
- Parmesan, C. (2006). Ecological and Evolutionary Responses to Recent Climate Change. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 37(1), 637–669. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.37.091305.110100
- Pearse, I. S., Koenig, W. D., & Kelly, D. (2016). Mechanisms of mast seeding: resources, weather, cues, and selection. *New Phytologist*, 212(3), 546–562. doi: 10.1111/nph.14114
- Peters, W., Hebblewhite, M., Decesare, N., Cagnacci, F., & Musiani, M. (2013). Resource separation analysis with moose indicates threats to caribou in human altered landscapes. *Ecography*, 36(4), 487–498. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0587.2012.07733.x
- Pollock, K. H. (1982). A Capture-Recapture Design Robust to Unequal Probability of Capture. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 46(3), 752. doi: 10.2307/3808568
- Pollock, K. H., Nichols, J. D., Brownie, C., & Hines, J. H. (1990). Statistical Inference For Capture-Recapture Experiments. *Wildlife Monographs*, (107), 3–97.
- Price, M. V. (1986). Structure of desert rodent communities: A critical review of questions and approaches. *American Zoologist*, *26*(1), 39–49. doi: 10.1093/icb/26.1.39
- Rémy, A., Odden, M., Richard, M., Stene, M. T., Le Galliard, J. F., & Andreassen, H. P. (2013).
 Food distribution influences social organization and population growth in a small rodent.
 Behavioral Ecology, 24(4), 832–841. doi: 10.1093/beheco/art029
- Rubel, F., Brugger, K., Haslinger, K., & Auer, I. (2017). The climate of the European Alps: Shift of very high resolution Köppen-Geiger climate zones 1800-2100. *Meteorologische Zeitschrift*, 26(2), 115–125. doi: 10.1127/metz/2016/0816
- Schmidt-Nielsen, K., & Knut, S. N. (1984). *Scaling: why is animal size so important?* Cambridge University Press.
- Schmidt, K. A., Manson, R., & Lewis, D. (2005). Voles competing with mice: Differentiating

exploitative, interference and apparent competition using patch use theory. *Evolutionary Ecology Research*, 7(2), 273–286.

- Schoener, T. W. (1974). Resource Partitioning in Ecological Communities. *Science*, 185(4145), 27–39. doi: 10.1126/science.185.4145.27
- Shenbrot, G., & Krasnov, B. (2002). Can interaction coefficients be determined from census data? Testing two estimation methods with Negev Desert rodents. *Oikos*, 99(1), 47–58. doi: 10.1034/J.1600-0706.2002.990105.X
- Sibly, R. M., & Hone, J. (2002). Population growth rate and its determinants: An overview. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 357(1425), 1153– 1170. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2002.1117
- Sinclair, A. R. E., & Krebs, C. J. (2002). Complex numerical responses to top-down and bottom-up processes in vertebrate populations. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 357(1425), 1221–1231. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2002.1123
- Steinlechner, S., & Puchalski, W. (2003). Mechanisms for Seasonal Control of Reproduction in Small Mammals. In *Environmental Signal Processing and Adaptation* (pp. 233–250).
 Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-56096-5 11
- Stradiotto, A., Cagnacci, F., Delahay, R., Tioli, S., Nieder, L., & Rizzoli, A. (2009). Spatial Organization of the Yellow-Necked Mouse: Effects of Density and Resource Availability. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 90(3), 704–714. doi: 10.1644/08-MAMM-A-120R1.1
- Taitt, M. J., & Krebs, C. J. (1981). The Effect Of Extra Food On Small Rodent Populations: Ii. Voles (Microtus Townsendii). *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 50, 125–137. doi: 10.2307/4035
- Telfer, S., Bennett, M., Bown, K., Carslake, D., Cavanagh, R., Hazel, S., ... Jones, T. (2005). Infection with cowpox virus decreases female maturation rates in wild populations of woodland rodents. *Oikos*, 109(2), 317–322. doi: 10.1111/J.0030-1299.2005.13734.X
- Viviano, A., Scarfò, M., & Mori, E. (2022). Temporal Partitioning between Forest-Dwelling Small Rodents in a Mediterranean Deciduous Woodland. *Animals*, 12(3), 279. doi: 10.3390/ani12030279
- Wallace, J. R., & Benbow, M. E. (2019). Competition. In Encyclopedia of Ecology (pp. 170-

184). Elsevier. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-409548-9.10597-4

- White, C. R., & Kearney, M. R. (2013). Determinants of inter-specific variation in basal metabolic rate. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B*, 183(1), 1–26. doi: 10.1007/s00360-012-0676-5
- White, G. C., Kendall, W. L., & Barker, R. J. (2006). Multistate Survival Models and Their Extensions in Program MARK. *Journal of Wildlife Management*, 70(6), 1521–1529. doi: 10.2193/0022-541x(2006)70[1521:msmate]2.0.co;2
- Wolff, J. O. (1997). Population Regulation in Mammals: An Evolutionary Perspective. *The Journal of Animal Ecology*, *66*(1), 1. doi: 10.2307/5959
- Ylönen, H., & Eccard, J. A. (2004). Does quality of winter food affect spring condition and breeding in female bank voles (Clethrionomys glareolus)? *Ecoscience*, 11(1), 1–5. doi: 10.1080/11956860.2004.11682803
- Yoccoz, N. G., & Ims, R. A. (1999). Demography of small mammals in cold regions: The importance of environmental variability. *Ecological Bulletins*, 47, 137–144. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/20113236
- Yoccoz, N. G., Stenseth, N. C., Henttonen, H., & Prévot-Julliard, A.-C. (2001). Effects of food addition on the seasonal density- dependent structure of bank vole Clethrionomys glareolus populations. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 70(5), 713–720. doi: 10.1046/j.0021-8790.2001.00531.x
- Zwolak, R., Bogdziewicz, M., & Rychlik, L. (2016). Beech masting modifies the response of rodents to forest management. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 359, 268–276. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2015.10.017
- Zwolak, R., Bogdziewicz, M., Wróbel, A., & Crone, E. E. (2016). Advantages of masting in European beech: timing of granivore satiation and benefits of seed caching support the predator dispersal hypothesis. *Oecologia*, 180(3), 749–758. doi: 10.1007/s00442-015-3511-3

Supporting Information

Appendix S1: Trapping sessions

In Norway the dataset included 26 primary occasions with two to seven secondary occasions from 2013 to 2015 (Table S1.1), while Italian trapping data consisted of 18 primary occasions with 3 secondary occasions each from 2019 to 2021 (see Table S1.2). Since the analysis used calendar months as temporal categorical variable, we decided to unify the secondary occasions of captures occurring in different sessions but within the same month (e.g. March 2019 in Italy and July 2013 in Norway).

 Table S1: Primary and secondary capture occasions in Norway (Table S1.1) and Italy (Table S1.2).

 Grey-shaded occasions in Norway showed when food was provided at treatment grids (see main text).

Season	-		Summ	er 2013				W	inter 2013/20)14	
Primary occasion		1		2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Secondary occ 1	03 Jul		22 Jul	10 Aug	09 Sep	09 Oct	09 Nov	09 Dec	20 Jan	17 Feb	17 Mar
Secondary occ 2	04 Jul		23 Jul	14 Aug	10 Sep	10 Oct	11 Nov	10 Dec	21 Jan	18 Feb	18 Mar
Secondary occ 3	05 Jul		24 Jul	15 Aug			12 Nov	11 Dec		19 Feb	19 Mar
Secondary occ 4	10 Jul			16 Aug			13 Nov	12 Dec		20 Feb	20 Mar
Secondary occ 5				17 Aug			14 Nov				
			Summ	er 2014				W	inter 2014/20)15	
Primary occasion	10	11	12	13	14	16	17	18	19	20	21
Secondary occ 1	22 Apr	19 May	23 Jun	21 Jul	18 Aug	13 Oct	03 Nov	08 Dec	12 Jan	10 Feb	18 Mar
Secondary occ 2	23 Apr	20 May	24 Jun	22 Jul	19 Aug	14 Oct	04 Nov	09 Dec	13 Jan	11 Feb	19 Mar
Secondary occ 3	24 Apr	21 May	25 Jun	23 Jul	20 Aug	15 Oct	05 Nov	10 Dec	14 Jan	12 Feb	20 Mar
Secondary occ 4	25 Apr	22 May	26 Jun	24 Jul	21 Aug	16 Oct	06 Nov	11 Dec	15 Jan	13 Feb	
			Summer 201	5							
Primary occasion	22	23	24	25	26	-					
Secondary occ 1	14 Apr	18 May	16 Jun	13 Jul	11 Aug	-					
Secondary occ 2	15 Apr	19 May	17 Jun	14 Jul	12 Aug						
Secondary occ 3	16 Apr	20 May	18 Jun	15 Jul	13 Aug						
Secondary occ 4		21 May	19 Jun	16 Jul	14 Aug	-					

Table S1.1

Season			W	inter 2018/2	019	Summe	er 2019	
Primary occasion			1		2	3	4	
Secondary occ 1			19 Feb	05 Mar	19 Mar	25 Jun	27 Aug	
Secondary occ 2			20 Feb	06 Mar	20 Mar	26 Jun	28 Aug	
Secondary occ 3			21 Feb	07 Mar	21 Mar	27 Jun	29 Aug	
		Wi	nter 2019/2	020		ŝ	Summer 2020)
Primary occasion	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
Secondary occ 1	12 Nov	10 Dec	14 Jan	11 Feb	04 Mar	21 Apr	30 Jun	25 Aug
Secondary occ 2	13 Nov	11 Dec	15 Jan	12 Feb	05 Mar	22 Apr	01 Jul	26 Aug
Secondary occ 3	14 Nov	12 Dec	16 Jan	13 Feb	06 Mar	23 Apr	02 Jul	27 Aug
		Win	nter 2020/2	021		Summe	er 2021	
Primary occasion	13	14	15	16	17	1	8	
Secondary occ 1	17 Nov	15 Dec	12 Jan	23 Feb	9 Mar	7 /	Apr	
Secondary occ 2	18 Nov	16 Dec	13 Jan	24 Feb	10 Mar	8 A	Apr	
Secondary occ 3	19 Nov	17 Dec	14 Jan	25 Feb	11 Mar	9 A	Apr	

Table S1.2

Appendix S2: Trapping grid design

Trapping grid design. The panel A shows the cross-shaped design with 16 traps used in Norway, while in the panel B the square design of 64 traps applied in Italy is represented.



Appendix S3: Preliminary exploratory analyses

<u>Norway – Evenstad site</u>

In Norway, as expected from the trapping protocol performed, only one species was encountered (*Myodes glareolus*). The density of captures had a similar pattern in females and males with two annual peaks during early summer and autumn (Figure S3.1; Table S3.1).



Figure S3.1: Captures density of *M. glareolus* in Norway across seasons in female (rose) and male (light blue).

Italy – Cembra site

When we compared the density of captures across trapping occasions, we detected a cyclic asynchronous pattern between the three detected species *(Apodemus* spp. and *Myodes glareolus)* (Figure S3.2). In particular, *Apodemus* spp. were captured more during summer compared to winter, with the exception of winter 2020-21. On the contrary, *M. glareolus* was captured more in winter than in summer.



Figure S3.2: Capture density in Italy across seasons for *Apodemus* spp. (in purple) and *Myodes* glareolus (in green).

When breaking down the captures by sex, we found slightly shifted peaks for females and males in the three species, although the proportion of captures were similar (Figure S3.3; Table S3.1).



Figure S3.3: Captures density of *Apodemus* spp. and *Myodes glareolus* for female (rose) and male (light blue) individuals.

Myodes	glareolus	Apoder	nus spp.
Feeding no	Feeding yes	Feeding no	Feeding yes
455	462		
212	213		
243	249		
1927	2049		
80	29	164	234
34	10	84	117
16	10	80	117
40	19	00	11/
	Myodes , Feeding no 455 212 243 1927 80 34	Myodes glareolus Feeding no Feeding yes 455 462 212 213 243 249 1927 2049 80 29 34 10 46 10	Myodes glareolusApoderFeeding noFeeding yesFeeding no45546221221221324919272049164341084461080

Table S3.1: Summary of the number of captures by sex in presence and absence of supplemental food
 for *M. glareolus* (Norway and Italy), and *Apodemus* spp. (Italy only).

Appendix S4: Models building

We identified a set of potentially biological meaningful covariates to disentangle seasonal, supplemental food availability, and inter-specific competition effect on rodent demography, and specifically:

(i) temporal covariates:

- season (acting as an ordinary variable): successive binned time intervals based on seasonal periods throughout the study duration: winter (from November to March included) and summer (from April to October included);
- time: temporal effect within secondary occasions, i.e. daily secondary trapping occasions;
- session: temporal effect across primary occasions, i.e. monthly primary trapping occasions.

(ii) state/spatial covariate:

feeding state of the site (Norway: spatio-temporally defined) and feeding site (Italy: spatially defined): presence (treatment) *vs* absence (control) of *ad libitum* supplemental feeding (binary variables: yes/no).

(iii) individual covariate:

- species (categorical variable; Italy only): Apodemus spp. and Myodes glareolus.

In CMR modelling, a main model is described by sub-models estimating each parameter, or response variables, in dependence on several covariates, or explanatory variables (Laake and Rexstad 2008). In particular, multistate open robust design (MSORD) is defined by five parameters (true survival rate (*S*), arrival probability (*pent*), apparent survival rate (φ), capture probability (*p*) and transition probability (ψ)).

For modelling each parameter, we chose those covariates that were biologically meaningful in our study systems, while being constrained by a relatively small sample size (i.e., few recaptures). In particular, we modelled true (*S*) and apparent survival (φ) as varying in dependence on primary occasions ('session', only for φ) and successive seasonal periods ('season') to detect the temporal pattern (H1), supplemental food availability ('feeding state' in Norway and 'feeding site' in Italy) to identify the food effect (H1), and species (only in Italy) to evaluate interspecific competition (H2). We considered the probabilities of capture (*p*) and arrival (*pent*) to be dependent on temporal variations (primary occasions i.e. 'session' for *p*, secondary occasions i.e. 'time' for *pent*), seasonal periods ('season'), supplemental food availability ('feeding state'-Norway and 'feeding site'-Italy) and species (only in Italy). We modelled ψ in dependence on transition of feeding state for Norway, and kept it constant for Italy (expressing the probability of transition of animal observability in the trapping grid). Table S4 summarizes the list of covariates or combination of covariates used to build the sets of sub-models (univariate, additive, or with two-way interactions among covariates) that were subsequently combined into main models.

Then we used a model selection based on AICc scores to rank the main models composed by sub-models and we retained the models with $\Delta AICc \leq 4$ as equally plausible (Burnham and Anderson 2002). Among these models, we chose the best model as the more biologically meaningful (Appendix S5).

Table S4: Covariates and combination of covariates used to build the set of sub-models for each demographic parameter in Norway (**Table S4.1**) and Italy (**Table S4.2**). Legend: 'S' = true survival; 'pent' = entry probability; ' ϕ ' = apparent survival; 'p' = capture probability; ' ψ ' = transition probability, set as constant in Italy and dependent on feeding states in Norway; 'session' = primary trapping occasions; 'time' = secondary trapping occasions; 'feeding site' = sites with supplemental food (only in Italy); 'feeding state' = supplemental food at sites (only in Norway); 'feeding state : to feeding state'

= transition between feeding states (only in Norway); 'species' = rodent species (only for Italy);'season' = seasonal variation across years.

Table S4 1	S	nent	(0	n	W
feeding state : to feeding state	5	pent	Ψ	Р	Y X
state : session					Δ
feeding state : season	x	x	x	x	
feeding state + session	21	x	x	x	
feeding state + session	x	X	X	X	
feeding state	x	x	x	x	
season	X	X	X	X	
session	X	x	X	X	
56551011	21	11	21	11	
Table S4 2	S	nent	(I)	n	W
feeding site: season : species	x	pent	Ψ	Р	Ψ
feeding site : season	Λ	x		x	
feeding site : season + species	x	1		Λ	
feeding site : species + season	X				
feeding site \pm season \pm species	x				
feeding site + season	X	x		x	
feeding site + session	Λ	1		x	
feeding site + species	v			Λ	
season + species	X				
feeding site	N V	v	v	v	
	л v	л v	л v	л v	
season	A V	Λ	Λ	л v	
	Λ	\mathbf{v}		Λ	
	\mathbf{v}		\mathbf{v}	\mathbf{v}	
species	X	A V	X	X	v
1	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х

Appendix S5: Model selection

In Norway, we found only one model with $\Delta AICc \leq 4$ (Model1). In the rest of the models, *S* and *pent* were dependent on 'feeding state', 'session' and 'season'. Moreover, for *pent*, most of the models were defined by 'feeding state : session' and 'session' effect; while φ seemed equally affected by 'feeding state', and equally by 'session' and 'season'. Finally, in mostly models, *p* was dependent on 'feeding state' and equally by 'session' and 'season' (Table S5.1). In conclusion, we decided to select Model1, because it showed the lowest AIC score and was the most biologically meaningful. Model1 retained 'feeding state : session' effect on *S*, 'season + state' on *pent* and finally 'season' on φ and 'feeding state' on *p*.

In Italy, the model selection returned 3 models with $\Delta AICc \leq 4$ which showed that 'species', 'feeding site', and 'season had a stronger effect on *S*. In the three models, *pent* was always affected by 'time'; φ by 'species' and *p* by 'feeding site + session' (Table S5.2). Although Model1 was the best parsimonious model with less parameters and lower AICc, we selected Model3 as best model because it allowed us to test our hypotheses. Specifically, Model 3 retained the interaction between 'feeding site' and 'species' added to 'period' on *S*; 'time' on *pent*; 'species' on φ and finally, 'feeding + session' on *p*.

Table S5: M	lodel select	ion of Nc	orwegian	(Table S5.	1) and	Italian	(Table	S5.2) rod	lent popula	ation an	d cap	ture par	ameters	s, report	ting the b	est moc	dels (i.e.
∆AICc<4; in	bold the on	e used for	r model p	redictions as	i most b	oiologic	sally me	aningful v	vith respec	t to the t	cested	hypothe	cses), ar	nd the fi	rst model	below t	he AICc
threshold (in	italic). Leg	end: 'S' =	= true surv	/ival; 'pent'	= entry	⁄ probal	bility; 'q	p' = appar	ent surviva	ıl; 'p' =	captuı	e proba	bility; '	$\psi' = tra$	insition p	robabilit	ty, set as
constant in It	taly and der	pendent o	n feeding	states in No	orway;	'sessio	n' = pri	imary trap	ping occas	iions; 'ti	ime' =	= second	lary tra	pping o	ccasions;	'feedin	g site' =
sites with sup	plemental 1	food (only	y in Italy)	; 'feeding st	ate' = s	upplen	nental fc	od at sites	s (only in N	Vorway)	; feed	ling stat	te : to fé	eeding s	tate' = tra	insition	between
feeding states	s (only in N	lorway); '	species	= rodent spe	cies (o	nly for	Italy); '	season' =	seasonal v	'ariation	l acros	s years;	; 'npar'	= num	oer of par	ameters	, AICc,
= AIC with a	correction	for small	sample &	sizes; 'AAIC	c' = re	lative d	lifferenc	ses betwee	on the fittee	d model	and t	he Akai	ke 'best	t-ranked	l' model v	vith the	smallest
AICc value;	'AICc weig	tht' = rela	ative like	ihood of a n	nodel; '	'Deviar	nce' = d	ifference ł	oetween nu	ıll devia	nce ar	nd mode	el devia	nce.			
Table 5.1	S			pent			Ð		d		\downarrow	_					
Model f Norway	eeding seas state	on session	n feedin _{ state	season s	ession	season	session	feeding state	season fe	eding state	feeding to fee sta	state : ding te	npar	AICc	AAICc ⁴	AICc /eight	Deviance
1	X X		X		X	X				X	x		45 8′	795.79	0.00	0.74	8704.61
2		x	Х	Х			×		Х	X	X		65 8′	797.86	2.07	0.26	8665.40
З	XX	Χ.	Х		X		Х	X		X	X	Ν.	66 69	631.72	835.93	0.00	9490.94
Table 5.2			S			pent	5		d		≯						
Model Ital	y feeding sit	te species	season	feeding site : sj	pecies	time s	pecies f	eeding site	feeding site	session		npar	AICc	ΔAICc	AICc weig	ht Devi	ance
		Х	Х			х	Х		x	х	х	33 11	415.11	0	0.56	1134	17.41
2	х	х	Х			x	Х		x	×	X	34 11	417.15	2.04	0.20	1134	1.35
3			X	X		X	X		x	×	X	36 11	417.69	2.58	0.15	1134	3.67
4		Х	X			X		X	X	X	X	33 11	421.11	6.00	0.02	1135	13.42

Appendix S6: Selected models' output: parameters' estimates

<u>Norway – Evenstad site</u>

Table S6.1: Parameter estimates of the best model (Model1, Table S5.1), with standard error (SE) and confidence intervals (Lower, Lcl, and Upper, Ucl). Legend: 'S' = true survival; 'pent' = entry probability; ' ϕ ' = apparent survival; 'p' = capture probability; ' ψ ' = transition probability depending on feeding states; 'session' = primary trapping occasions; 'feeding state' = supplemental food at sites; 'season' = seasonal variation across years. For some sessions, the model fitting did not converge.

Parameter	Estimate	SE	Lcl	Ucl	Feeding state	Session	Season
S	0.84	0.02	0.80	0.87	NO	1	Summer2013
S	0.68	0.02	0.64	0.73	NO	5	Winter2013-14
S	0.56	0.03	0.51	0.61	NO	10	Summer2014
S	0.50	0.04	0.43	0.58	NO	17	Winter2014-15
S	0.31	0.07	0.19	0.45	NO	22	Summer2015
S	0.89	0.02	0.85	0.92	YES	1	Summer2013
S	0.77	0.02	0.73	0.80	YES	5	Winter2013-14
S	0.67	0.02	0.63	0.70	YES	10	Summer2014
S	0.61	0.03	0.55	0.67	YES	17	Winter2014-15
S	0.41	0.07	0.27	0.55	YES	22	Summer2015
S	NA	NA	NA	NA	Un-observable	1	Summer2013
pent	0.15	0.01	0.14	0.17	NO	1	Summer2013
pent	NA	NA	NA	NA	NO	2	Summer2013
pent	0.06	0.03	0.02	0.14	NO	3	Summer2013
pent	0.56	0.06	0.44	0.67	NO	4	Summer2013
pent	0.24	0.01	0.23	0.26	NO	5	Winter2013-14
pent	NA	NA	NA	NA	NO	7	Winter2013-14
pent	NA	NA	NA	NA	NO	16	Summer2014
pent	0.17	0.16	0.02	0.64	NO	21	Winter2014-15
pent	NA	NA	NA	NA	NO	22	Summer2015
pent	0.17	0.10	0.05	0.44	NO	25	Summer2015

pent	NA	NA	NA	NA	YES	3	Summer2013
pent	0.23	0.11	0.08	0.51	YES	7	Winter2013-14
pent	NA	NA	NA	NA	YES	8	Winter2013-14
pent	0.33	0.00	0.33	0.33	YES	9	Winter2013-14
φ	0.60	0.05	0.50	0.68	NO	1	Summer2013
φ	0.78	0.02	0.73	0.83	NO	5	Winter2013-14
φ	0.85	0.05	0.73	0.92	NO	10	Summer2014
φ	NA	NA	NA	NA	NO	17	Winter2014-15
φ	0.98	0.04	0.48	1.00	NO	22	Summer2015
р	0.66	0.02	0.61	0.71	NO	1	Summer2013
р	0.40	0.02	0.37	0.44	YES	1	Summer2013
ψ	0.16	0.02	0.13	0.19	NO; YES	1	Summer2013
ψ	0.03	0.02	0.01	0.10	NO; Un-observable	1	Summer2013
ψ	0.06	0.01	0.05	0.08	YES; NO	1	Summer2013
ψ	NA	NA	NA	NA	YES; Un-observable	1	Summer2013
ψ	NA	NA	NA	NA	Un-observable; NO	1	Summer2013
ψ	NA	NA	NA	NA	Un-observable; YES	1	Summer2013

Table S6.2: Derived estimates of population size (N_t) retrieved by the best model (Model 1, Table S5.1), with confidence intervals (Lower, Lcl, and Upper, Ucl). Legend: 'session' = primary trapping occasions; 'feeding state' = supplemental food at sites. For some sessions, the model fitting did not converge.

Estimate	Lcl	Ucl	Session	Feeding site
98.96	94.16	103.76	1	NO
195.09	180.85	209.34	2	NO
119.56	111.01	128.11	3	NO
145.37	136.93	153.82	4	NO
172.97	166.84	179.10	5	NO
198.12	183.65	212.58	6	NO
68.06	63.09	73.03	13	NO
111.91	103.74	120.09	14	NO
108.67	104.72	112.63	15	NO
48.40	44.86	51.93	17	NO
19.66	18.23	21.10	18	NO
16.64	15.42	17.85	19	NO
2.67	2.08	3.26	20	NO
3.27	3.15	3.39	21	NO
4.54	4.21	4.87	23	NO
4.98	3.98	5.98	24	NO
161.82	148.45	175.19	6	YES
141.76	131.05	152.48	7	YES
143.33	135.52	151.14	9	YES
497.91	456.78	539.04	10	YES
433.18	397.40	468.97	11	YES
351.03	322.03	380.02	12	YES
303.72	278.63	328.82	16	YES

Italy – Cembra site

Table S6.3: Parameter estimates of the best model (Model3, Table S5.2), with standard error (SE) and confidence intervals (Lower, Lcl, and Upper, Ucl). Legend: 'S' = true survival; 'pent' = entry probability; ' ϕ ' = apparent survival; 'p' = capture probability; ' ψ ' = transition probability set as constant; 'session' = primary trapping occasions; 'feeding site' = sites with supplemental food; 'species' = rodent species; 'season' = seasonal variation across years. For some sessions, the model fitting did not converge.

Parameter	Estimate	SE	Lcl	Ucl	Session	Feeding site	Species	Season
S	0.66	0.06	0.53	0.77	0	NO	Apodemus spp.	Winter2018-19
S	0.44	0.05	0.36	0.54	4	NO	Apodemus spp.	Summer2019
S	0.65	0.05	0.54	0.75	9	NO	Apodemus spp.	Summer2019
S	0.52	0.05	0.43	0.61	14	NO	Apodemus spp.	Winter2019-20
S	0.73	0.04	0.65	0.79	21	NO	Apodemus spp.	Summer2020
S	0.69	0.06	0.57	0.80	0	YES	Apodemus spp.	Winter2018-19
S	0.48	0.04	0.40	0.56	4	YES	Apodemus spp.	Summer2019
S	0.69	0.05	0.59	0.77	9	YES	Apodemus spp.	Summer2019
S	0.56	0.04	0.47	0.64	14	YES	Apodemus spp.	Winter2019-20
S	0.76	0.03	0.68	0.82	21	YES	Apodemus spp.	Summer2020
S	0.80	0.05	0.69	0.88	0	NO	Myodes glareolus	Winter2018-19
S	0.63	0.05	0.52	0.72	4	NO	Myodes glareolus	Summer2019
S	0.80	0.04	0.72	0.86	9	NO	Myodes glareolus	Summer2019
S	0.69	0.04	0.60	0.77	14	NO	Myodes glareolus	Winter2019-20
S	0.85	0.03	0.78	0.90	21	NO	Myodes glareolus	Summer2020
S	0.63	0.11	0.41	0.82	0	YES	Myodes glareolus	Winter2018-19
S	0.42	0.11	0.22	0.64	4	YES	Myodes glareolus	Summer2019
S	0.63	0.11	0.40	0.81	9	YES	Myodes glareolus	Summer2019
S	0.49	0.12	0.28	0.71	14	YES	Myodes glareolus	Winter2019-20
S	0.71	0.09	0.50	0.85	21	YES	Myodes glareolus	Summer2020
pent	0.78	0.04	0.70	0.84	1	NO	Apodemus spp.	Winter2018-19
pent	0.10	0.04	0.05	0.20	1	NO	Apodemus spp.	Winter2018-19
pent	0.61	0.07	0.47	0.73	2	NO	Apodemus spp.	Winter2018-19

pent	0.08	0.03	0.04	0.16	2	NO	Apodemus spp.	Winter2018-19
pent	0.10	0.07	0.02	0.35	2	NO	Apodemus spp.	Winter2018-19
pent	0.10	0.07	0.02	0.34	2	NO	Apodemus spp.	Winter2018-19
pent	0.02	0.04	0.00	0.65	2	NO	Apodemus spp.	Winter2018-19
φ	0.87	0.03	0.81	0.92	1	NO	Apodemus spp.	Winter2018-19
φ	0.98	0.02	0.86	1.00	1	NO	Myodes glareolus	Winter2018-19
p	0.77	0.06	0.63	0.87	1	NO	Apodemus spp.	Winter2018-19
p	0.78	0.05	0.68	0.86	2	NO	Apodemus spp.	Winter2018-19
p	0.56	0.06	0.43	0.67	5	NO	Apodemus spp.	Summer2019
p	0.71	0.05	0.61	0.79	7	NO	Apodemus spp.	Summer2019
p	0.56	0.07	0.41	0.69	10	NO	Apodemus spp.	Winter2019-20
p	0.51	0.07	0.38	0.64	11	NO	Apodemus spp.	Winter2019-20
р	0.39	0.07	0.26	0.53	12	NO	Apodemus spp.	Winter2019-20
р	0.56	0.07	0.43	0.68	13	NO	Apodemus spp.	Winter2019-20
p	0.61	0.07	0.46	0.73	14	NO	Apodemus spp.	Winter2019-20
p	0.73	0.06	0.59	0.83	15	NO	Apodemus spp.	Summer2020
р	0.78	0.04	0.68	0.86	17	NO	Apodemus spp.	Summer2020
р	0.71	0.07	0.56	0.83	19	NO	Apodemus spp.	Summer2020
p	0.50	0.07	0.37	0.63	22	NO	Apodemus spp.	Winter2020-21
р	0.65	0.05	0.54	0.74	23	NO	Apodemus spp.	Winter2020-21
р	0.18	0.04	0.12	0.28	24	NO	Apodemus spp.	Winter2020-21
р	0.53	0.05	0.42	0.63	25	NO	Apodemus spp.	Winter2020-21
p	0.60	0.05	0.50	0.69	26	NO	Apodemus spp.	Winter2020-21
p	0.59	0.05	0.48	0.69	27	NO	Apodemus spp.	Summer2021
р	0.56	0.09	0.39	0.72	1	YES	Apodemus spp.	Winter2018-19
p	0.57	0.07	0.43	0.70	2	YES	Apodemus spp.	Winter2018-19
p	0.32	0.05	0.22	0.43	5	YES	Apodemus spp.	Summer2019
p	0.48	0.06	0.37	0.59	7	YES	Apodemus spp.	Summer2019
p	0.32	0.06	0.21	0.45	10	YES	Apodemus spp.	Winter2019-20
p	0.28	0.06	0.18	0.41	11	YES	Apodemus spp.	Winter2019-20
p	0.19	0.05	0.11	0.30	12	YES	Apodemus spp.	Winter2019-20
p	0.32	0.06	0.21	0.45	13	YES	Apodemus spp.	Winter2019-20
p	0.36	0.07	0.24	0.50	14	YES	Apodemus spp.	Winter2019-20

р	0.49	0.08	0.34	0.65	15	YES	Apodemus spp.	Summer2020
p	0.57	0.06	0.45	0.68	17	YES	Apodemus spp.	Summer2020
p	0.48	0.08	0.32	0.64	19	YES	Apodemus spp.	Summer2020
p	0.27	0.06	0.17	0.39	22	YES	Apodemus spp.	Winter2020-21
p	0.40	0.06	0.30	0.52	23	YES	Apodemus spp.	Winter2020-21
p	0.08	0.02	0.05	0.13	24	YES	Apodemus spp.	Winter2020-21
p	0.29	0.05	0.21	0.39	25	YES	Apodemus spp.	Winter2020-21
р	0.36	0.05	0.27	0.46	26	YES	Apodemus spp.	Winter2020-21
p	0.35	0.05	0.26	0.45	27	YES	Apodemus spp.	Summer2021
ψ	NA	NA	NA	NA	1	NO	Apodemus spp.	Winter2018-19

Table S6.4: Derived estimates of population size (N_t) retrieved by the best model (Model3, Table S5.2) with confidence intervals (Lower, Lcl, and Upper, Ucl). Legend: 'S' = true survival; 'pent' = entry probability; ' ϕ ' = apparent survival; 'p' = capture probability; ' ψ ' = transition probability set as constant; 'session' = primary trapping occasions; 'feeding site' = sites with supplemental food; 'species' = rodent species. For some sessions, the model fitting did not converge.

Estimate	Lel	Ucl	Session	Feeding site	Species
7.51	7.12	7.89	1	NO	Apodemus spp.
13.71	13.32	14.11	2	NO	Apodemus spp.
34.52	30.84	38.20	3	NO	Apodemus spp.
34.25	32.64	35.85	4	NO	Apodemus spp.
3.69	3.21	4.17	5	NO	Apodemus spp.
2.57	2.20	2.94	6	NO	Apodemus spp.
1.52	1.17	1.87	7	NO	Apodemus spp.
4.91	4.33	5.49	8	NO	Apodemus spp.
5.91	5.30	6.52	9	NO	Apodemus spp.
8.78	8.24	9.31	10	NO	Apodemus spp.
21.38	20.61	22.16	11	NO	Apodemus spp.
13.26	12.34	14.19	12	NO	Apodemus spp.
27.43	23.36	31.51	13	NO	Apodemus spp.

21.82	20.34	23.31	14	NO	Apodemus spp.
18.71	11.94	25.47	15	NO	Apodemus spp.
24.11	21.56	26.66	16	NO	Apodemus spp.
14.25	13.18	15.33	17	NO	Apodemus spp.
27.57	25.31	29.82	18	NO	Apodemus spp.
NA	NA	NA	1	NO	Apodemus spp.
6.14	5.21	7.07	1	YES	Apodemus spp.
13.77	12.75	14.79	2	YES	Apodemus spp.
84.05	65.12	102.99	3	YES	Apodemus spp.
61.51	53.79	69.24	4	YES	Apodemus spp.
22.69	16.27	29.11	5	YES	Apodemus spp.
15.31	10.66	19.96	6	YES	Apodemus spp.
7.82	4.67	10.96	7	YES	Apodemus spp.
5.21	3.78	6.63	8	YES	Apodemus spp.
7.95	5.96	9.94	9	YES	Apodemus spp.
19.68	16.29	23.06	10	YES	Apodemus spp.
41.40	37.20	45.60	11	YES	Apodemus spp.
18.75	15.14	22.35	12	YES	Apodemus spp.
43.48	30.21	56.76	13	YES	Apodemus spp.
26.69	22.04	31.33	14	YES	Apodemus spp.
46.52	24.34	68.70	15	YES	Apodemus spp.
14.90	11.44	18.36	16	YES	Apodemus spp.
32.17	26.46	37.88	17	YES	Apodemus spp.
34.50	28.09	40.91	18	YES	Apodemus spp.
8.38	8.05	8.71	1	NO	Myodes glareolus
10.29	10.11	10.46	2	NO	Myodes glareolus
7.06	6.38	7.74	3	NO	Myodes glareolus
7.51	7.22	7.79	4	NO	Myodes glareolus
5.88	5.20	6.55	5	NO	Myodes glareolus
14.66	12.80	16.53	6	NO	Myodes glareolus
12.84	10.08	15.59	7	NO	Myodes glareolus
15.25	13.66	16.83	8	NO	Myodes glareolus
10.21	9.29	11.12	9	NO	Myodes glareolus

13.87	13.19	14.54	10	NO	Myodes glareolus
8.37	8.13	8.60	11	NO	Myodes glareolus
6.44	6.07	6.80	12	NO	Myodes glareolus
8.68	7.50	9.85	13	NO	Myodes glareolus
11.07	10.43	11.72	14	NO	Myodes glareolus
24.63	15.87	33.39	15	NO	Myodes glareolus
14.49	13.09	15.89	16	NO	Myodes glareolus
19.36	18.10	20.63	17	NO	Myodes glareolus
16.07	14.92	17.23	18	NO	Myodes glareolus
5.86	5.07	6.65	1	YES	Myodes glareolus
3.23	3.08	3.39	2	YES	Myodes glareolus
1.63	1.18	2.07	5	YES	Myodes glareolus
2.40	1.45	3.35	7	YES	Myodes glareolus
2.98	2.27	3.69	9	YES	Myodes glareolus
1.24	1.05	1.44	10	YES	Myodes glareolus
1.39	1.16	1.63	14	YES	Myodes glareolus
5.20	4.01	6.39	16	YES	Myodes glareolus
16.56	13.73	19.38	17	YES	Myodes glareolus
21.50	17.63	25.37	18	YES	Myodes glareolus

Appendix S7: Ancillary demographic parameters

Apparent survival

Apparent survival (φ) showed differences across the two latitudes. In particular, in Norway φ in *M. glareolus* varied through seasons with slight differences between winter and summer, but no feeding effect was detected (Figure S7.1).

In Italy, on the contrary, φ was affected by species and it was higher in *M. glareolus* than in *Apodemus spp.* (Figure S7.2).



Figure S7.1 and S7.2: Real estimates of apparent survival (φ) in Norway (Figure S7.1, above) depending on seasonal periods and in Italy (Figure S7.2, below) for each detected species (*M. glareolus* and *Apodemus spp.*). Grey-shaded boxes show the summer periods, while white boxes show the winter periods.

Arrival probability

Arrival probability (*pent*) was time-dependent both in Norway and in Italy. In Norway *pent* retained a temporal effect, but depended on primary occasions rather than on secondary occasions (Figure S7.3). In particular, *pent* was high during autumn when food was not provided, and then during winter with supplemental food.

In Italy *pent* was affected by secondary trapping occasions, with higher values at the first secondary occasion, which decreased with the subsequent fives (Figure S7.4).



Figure S7.3 and S7.4: Real estimates of arrival probability (pent) in Norway (**Figure S7.3**) for each seasonal periods and under treatment (supplemental food availability; dark green) and control (no supplemental food; light green) conditions, and in Italy (**Figure S7.4**) for each secondary trapping occasions. Grey-shaded boxes show the summer periods, while white boxes show the winter periods.

Capture probability

In Norway, p depended only on feeding state and in particular, when supplemental food was provided, animals were less captured than without food (Figure S7.5).

Similarly, in Italy p changed in relation with supplemental food and across primary occasions. In particular, p was lower where food was provided during the entire sampling period for both species. In general, p declined from summer to winter, with some exceptions (December 2020 and January 2021) (Figure S7.6).



Figure S7.5 and S7.6: Estimates of capture probability (p) in rodents in Norway (**Figure S7.5**) and in Italy (**Figure S7.6**) for each primary trapping occasion, with treatment supplemental food (supplemental food available; dark green) and control (no supplemental food available; light green) conditions ('Feeding state' for Norway and 'Feeding site' for Italy). Grey-shaded boxes show the summer periods, while white boxes show the winter periods.

References

- Burnham, Kenneth P., and David R. Anderson. 2002. "A Practical Information-Theoretic Approach." In *Model Selection and Multimodel Inference*, 2nd edn., 70–71. Springer-Verlag, New York, NY, USA.
- Laake, JL Jeff, and Eric Rexstad. 2008. "RMark—an Alternative Approach to Building Linear Models. Appendix C." In *Program MARK: A Gentle Introduction.*, C1–111.




IV





Communication

First Record of *Hepatozoon* spp. in Alpine Wild Rodents: Implications and Perspectives for Transmission Dynamics across the Food Web

Giulia Ferrari 1,2,*, Matteo Girardi 1, Francesca Cagnacci 1,+, Olivier Devineau 2,+ and Valentina Tagliapietra 1,+

- ¹ Fondazione Edmund Mach, Research and Innovation Centre, Via Edmund Mach 1, 38010 San Michele all'Adige, Italy; matteo.girardi@fmach.it (M.G.); francesca.cagnacci@fmach.it (F.C.); valentina.tagliapietra@fmach.it (V.T.)
- ² Faculty of Applied Ecology, Agricultural Science and Biotechnology, Campus Evenstad, Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences, 2480 Koppang, Norway; olivier.devineau@inn.no
- * Correspondence: giulia.ferrari@inn.no
- + These authors contributed equally to this work.

Abstract: Among the Apicomplexa parasites, *Hepatozoon* spp. have been mainly studied in domestic animals and peri-urban areas. The epidemiology of *Hepatozoon* spp. is poorly investigated in natural systems and wild hosts because of their scarce veterinary and economic relevance. For most habitats, the occurrence of these parasites is unknown, despite their high ecosystemic role. To fill this gap for alpine small mammals, we applied molecular PCR-based methods and sequencing to determine the *Hepatozoon* spp. in 830 ear samples from 11 small mammal species (i.e., *Apodemus, Myodes, Chionomys, Microtus, Crocidura* and *Sorex* genera) live-trapped during a cross-sectional study along an altitudinal gradient in the North-Eastern Italian Alps. We detected *Hepatozoon* spp. with an overall prevalence of 35.9%. Two species ranging from 500 m a.s.l. to 2500 m a.s.l. were the most infected: *My. glareolus,* followed by *Apodemus* spp. Additionally, we detected the parasite for the first time in another alpine species: *C. nivalis* at 2000–2500 m a.s.l. Our findings suggest that several rodent species maintain *Hepatozoon* spp. along the alpine altitudinal gradient of habitats. The transmission pathway of this group of parasites and their role within the alpine mammal community need further investigation, especially in consideration of the rapidly occurring environmental and climatic changes.

Keywords: Hepatozoon spp.; Chionomys nivalis; Apodemus spp.; Myodes glareolus; Italian Alps

1. Introduction

Protozoa parasites are a highly diverse group of successful organisms globally distributed via a wide range of hosts [1] and whose role is crucial for ecosystem functioning [2]. Among the blood protozoa parasites, the phylum Apicomplexa has received much attention for its zoonotic relevance, for example, the vector borne diseases due to *Plasmodium* spp. or the *Toxoplasma* spp. transmitted in urban cycles that include domestic species and humans. Other protozoan parasites, such as the *Hepatozoon* genus represented by 340 species, have also been commonly recorded in peri-urban cycles sustained by domestic species (e.g., cats and dogs) [3–8], although no zoonotic relevance has been reported so far [9,10]. Further, *Hepatozoon* spp. have been detected in amphibians, reptiles, birds that act as intermediate hosts, and mammals, which can be both paratenic and reservoir hosts [11].

The transmission of *Hepatozoon* spp. can occur through different modalities that most often involve the ingestion of infected vectors or hosts. In mammals, for example, animals

Citation: Ferrari, G.; Girardi, M.; Cagnacci, F.; Devineau, O.; Tagliapietra, V. First Record of *Hepatozoon* spp. in Alpine Wild Rodents: Implications and Perspectives for Transmission Dynamics across the Food Web. *Microorganisms* 2022, 10, 712. https://doi.org/10.3390/ microorganisms10040712

Academic Editor: Sonia Almeria

Received: 14 February 2022 Accepted: 18 March 2022 Published: 25 March 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/). can become infected through grooming behavior [12] by eating infected arthropod ectoparasites attached to another individual, such as ticks [13], fleas [14], and mosquitoes [15]. Further, predator–prey food web transmission routes can occur through the ingestion of prey either containing infective meronts or infested by infected vectors [16]. Additionally, vertical transplacental transmission has also been reported [17].

Hepatozoon spp. have been found in a diversity of habitats across the globe, such as temperate broad-leaved forests [18,19], conifer forests [20], Mediterranean scrubland [21], subtropical forests and savannah [22], and taiga [23], likely indicating complex transmission cycles that are still largely unknown. However, the occurrence and prevalence of Hepatozoon spp. in some crucial ecosystems remain unexplored, for example, across altitudinal gradients where the rapid succession of habitats often corresponds to the high biodiversity of partially sympatric hosts. Under global and climate changes, such mountain habitats are particularly exposed to abiotic and biotic variations that favor upward distributional shifts of host mammal species, with local modifications of the communities [24,25]. This may result in parasite expansion in terms of geographic distribution and diversity of the host species involved [26,27]. The monitoring of the occurrence of a parasite with a very plastic transmission cycle, such as *Hepatozoon* spp., is therefore of crucial importance in these habitats undergoing intense dynamics. This is the case for Alpine ecosystems, where *Hepatozoon* spp. were identified in wild carnivores [18,20] but have never been recorded in alpine small mammals [28]. The occurrence of the parasite in the small mammal community is of particular interest, as it prevalently depends on arthropods acting as vectors, the vertical transmission route being secondary. The main arthropods transmitting Hepatozoon spp. to rodents are blood ectoparasites, such as ticks, fleas, mites, and mosquitoes [29], the occurrence of which is shifting upward in the Alps as the temperature and humidity conditions become milder with the climate change [30].

In small mammals, *Hepatozoon* spp. life cycles involve schizogony, which occurs in various organs, such as muscles, lymph nodes, the spleen, and generally in the liver, while gametogony occurs in lymphocytes, monocytes, or occasionally, in granulocytes [29]. Further development requires an arthropod vector in which fertilization and sporogony take place [29]. Several species of the *Hepatozoon* genus were detected in European rodents, e.g., *H. lavieri* [31], *H. erhardovae* [23,32], *H. sylvatici* [33,34], *H. griseisciuri* [33], and sporadically *H. muris* (formerly known as *H. perniciosum*) [33,35]. In rodents, the infection of *Hepatozoon* spp. may be pathogenic [36–40], although generally mild and asymptomatic [41]. Conversely, in carnivores (i.e., secondary hosts), such as canids [42], felids [43], mustelids [44], and in snakes [45], *Hepatozoon* spp. may compromise the immune status, thus predisposing it toward coinfection by other pathogens.

In this work, we conducted a cross-sectional study, i.e., we assessed the parasite prevalence without specifically considering the temporal pattern from 2019 to 2021 in the Italian Alps by intensively live-trapping small mammals from forested habitats up to above the tree line. Our main aim was to evaluate the occurrence of *Hepatozoon* spp. across the altitudinal gradient of the Alpine habitat also in consideration of the anthropic pressure on such habitat. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study investigating *Hepatozoon* spp. occurrence in small mammals, and more generally in rodents in Italy, with a special focus on the Alpine habitat.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Study Area and Animal Sampling

The study was carried out in two sites located in the Province of Trento (Italy): Cembra Valley (CEV; 46.13020 N–11.17843 E, altitude 1000 m a.s.l.) and Calamento Valley (CAV; 46.12092 N–11.48842 E, altitude from 500 to 2500 m a.s.l.) (Figure 1). CEV comprises peri-urban areas with an alternation of small villages and areas of anthropic employment (quarries and forest harvest) and semi-naturalized forests. CAV is instead characterized by the full vegetation succession, from broad-leaf woodland and mixed forest to conifer and stands forest, shrubs, and alpine prairies. The area is relatively undisturbed, with few anthropic activities (traditional cattle husbandry and seasonal tourism). In CEV, small mammal monitoring was performed from 2019 to 2021 at monthly or bimonthly intervals during the winter (November–March) and summer (April, June, and August), respectively, in a mixed broad-leaved and coniferous forest at 1000 m a.s.l. In CAV, live trapping was performed in 2019 and 2020 at monthly intervals during the summer (May–October) along an altitudinal gradient (from 500 m a.s.l. to 2500 m a.s.l.), corresponding to the succession of alpine habitats (i.e., from broad-leaf woodland down the valley up to grasslands above the tree line).



Figure 1. Map of the study sites located in the Province of Trento (Italy). (**A**) Cembra Valley (CEV), where square grids (8 × 8 traps) were placed at 1000 m a.s.l. (**B**) Calamento Valley (CAV), where cross-shaped grids (16 traps) were placed from 500 to 2500 m a.s.l. Black circles show trapping grid locations.

Small mammals were captured using standard Ugglan Multiple Live Traps (model 2, Granhab, Sweden) set in a grid array, following a protocol that aimed at capturing especially rodents to compare assemblages across an altitudinal gradient. Capture–mark–recapture (CMR) techniques were adopted, and each animal was individually tagged with a subcutaneous Passive Integrated Transponder (PIT) tag (Trovan® Ltd., Douglas, UK). At each capture event, we recorded information on individuals, such as species, PIT tag code, sex, body mass, breeding status, and ectoparasites load. Additionally, at first capture, an ear biopsy (using sterile disposable ear punch needles, Ø 3 mm; 20 mg) was collected for each animal and individually placed in tubes stored at –80 °C.

All animal handling procedures and ethical issues were approved by the Provincial Wildlife Management Committee (Prot. n. S044-5/2015/277268/2.4).

2.2. DNA Extraction, Amplification, and Sequencing

For DNA extraction, the ear samples (506 from CEV and 326 from CAV) were incubated overnight at 56 °C and isolated using the DNeasy 96 Blood & Tissue Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

This study is part of a wider project investigating tick-borne pathogen circulation in small mammals. Therefore, the identification of *Hepatozoon* spp. was a bycatch while assessing the protocol for *Babesia* spp. detection on ear tissue samples. We applied a conventional polymerase chain reaction (PCR) method using the *Babesia* BJ1 5'–GTC TTG TAA TTG GAA TGA TGG–3' and BN2 5'–TAG TTT ATG GTT AGG ACT ACG–3' primers [46]. Indeed, beyond *Babesia* spp., BJ1 and BN2 primers can amplify the 18S RNA gene of some other protozoans [47], such as the 600-bp fragment of *Hepatozoon* spp. [48–50]. To discriminate the two parasites and detect coinfections, we analyzed all the samples separately (protocol of *Babesia* spp. not described) by specifically adapting the PCR reactions and temperature cycling profiles for each protozoan [47].

In particular, for *Hepatozoon* spp. detection, the PCR reactions were composed of 3mM MgCl₂, 0.1-mg/mL BSA, 0.2-mM each dNTP, 0.3- μ M of each primer, 5× Flexi buffer, and 1.25-U/ μ L Go Taq Hot Start Polymerase (Promega) in 50 μ L of total volume, including 1 μ L of extracted DNA. After the initial denaturation at 95 °C for 2 min, 40 cycles of 95 °C for 20 s, 46 °C for 15 s, and 72 °C for 50 s were performed before a final incubation at 72 °C for 5 min. Negative controls, i.e., samples that did not contain DNA but only reagents, were included in each molecular essay to cross-check the quality for DNA extraction and PCR amplification. The success of amplification was confirmed using the Qiagen QIAxcel® capillary electrophoresis system. Positive PCR products were purified using ExoSAP-IT (USB, Cleveland, OH, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions and then sequenced using Sanger sequencing. The DNA sequences were analyzed and aligned using Sequencher software version 5.4.6 (Gene Codes Corp., Ann Arbor, MI, USA) and Clustal X software version 2.0 [51] and subsequently compared with the data stored in the Gen-Bank database with the Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (Blast; online version).

To verify the robustness of the PCR method, we also analyzed and sequenced double ear samples on a subset of individuals (N = 20, 2 samples from 10 individuals).

2.3. Statistical Analyses

The prevalence of *Hepatozoon* spp. was calculated for each rodent species with a 95% confidence interval (CI) using the EpiR package [52] in the R program [53]. We applied the Two Proportion Z-test to analyze the differences of the prevalence rates among rodent species. The differences were considered statistically significant if the *p*-values were <0.05.

Moreover, we investigated the role of the host species and environmental context on the probability of rodent infection with *Hepatozoon* spp., controlling for the life history traits. Specifically, we applied two analytical designs: (i) we evaluated the effect of anthropogenic pressure on rodent infection by comparing the study areas (CEV: high pressure; CAV: low pressure), only for a homogeneous altitude; (ii) we assessed how the probability of infection would vary across species along the alpine altitudinal gradient in a particularly wild context (CAV: 5 belts of 500 m, from 500 m a.s.l. to 2500 m a.s.l.). To this end, we fitted Generalized Linear Mixed Models (GLMMs; [54]) with binomial distribution of errors to the probability of infection of all samples with anthropogenic pressure and altitudinal belts, respectively, for the two designs, as the main covariates together with the species. We controlled for the sex and breeding status of the captured rodents (juveniles, subadults, and adult classes for both males and females). Finally, to account for spatial autocorrelation between captures, we included a grid as the most parsimonious random effect (Appendix A). Model selection was performed on the basis of the AICc score [55] (see Appendix A for details). We fitted the models using R software 4.1.2 [53] and packages tidyverse [56], ppsr [57], MuMIn [58], and glmmTMB [59].

In both proportion tests and in GLMMs, we discarded those sporadic species that were captured only a few times (<20 capture events).

3. Results

We analyzed 830 individual ear samples from 11 species (genetically determined through cytochrome-b [60]): 562 yellow-necked mice (*Apodemus flavicollis*), 10 wood mice (*Apodemus sylvaticus*), 24 snow voles (*Chionomys nivalis*), 2 common voles (*Microtus arva-lis*), 2 pine voles (*Microtus subterraneus*), 1 short-tailed field vole (*Microtus agrestis*), 199 bank voles (*Myodes glareolus*), 25 common shrews (*Sorex araneus*), 3 alpine shrews (*Sorex alpinus*), 1 pygmy shrew (*Sorex minutus*), and 1 bicolored-shrew (*Crocidura leucodon*) (see Table S1). Additionally, 1790 ticks (1745 larvae and 45 nymphs) and 3782 ticks (3718 larvae and 64 nymphs) were counted on captured rodents in CEV and CAV, respectively. All sampled ticks belonged to the genus *Ixodes*. We also recorded the occurrence of other ectoparasites, i.e., fleas, and mites.

All accidentally caught shrews tested negative for *Hepatozoon* spp. and were therefore not included in the following analysis (see Table 1). The results from the 10 double samples were identical and confirmed the robustness of the PCR method.

Table 1. Prevalence of *Hepatozoon spp.* in Italy (2019–2021) from rodent and shrew specimens in two study sites (CEV = Cembra Valley; CAV = Calamento Valley) and across altitudes. CI = 95% Confidence Interval.

Family	Genus	Species	Study Site DCD	DCD Desitive/Tetal	9/ Provalance (CI)	Altitude of
			Study Site FCK Fositive/Tota		/o Frevalence (CI)	Positives (m a.s.l.)
Muridae	Apodemus	flavicollis	CEV	127/394	32.23 (27.64–37.1)	1000
		flavicollis	CAV	31/168	18.45 (12.89–25.16)	500, 1000, 1500
		sylvaticus	CEV	3/8	37.5 (8.52–75.51)	1000
		sylvaticus	CAV	0/2	-	-
Arvicolidae	Chionomys	nivalis	CAV	8/24	33.33 (15.63–55.32)	2000, 2500
	Microtus	agrestis	CAV	0/1	-	-
		arvalis	CAV	1/2	50.00 (1.26-98.74)	2000
		subterraneus	CAV	0/2	-	-
Soricidae	Myodes	glareolus	CEV	59/104	56.73 (46.65-66.41)	1000
		glareolus	CAV	58/95	61.05 (50.50-70.89)	1000, 1500, 2000
	Crocidura	leucodon	CAV	0/1	-	-
	Sorex	alpinus	CAV	0/3	-	-
		araneus	CAV	0/25	-	-
		minutus	CAV	0/1	-	-
Total positive				287/830	34.58 (31.34–37.92)	
Total positive rodents	6			287/800	35.87 (32.55–39.30)	

Among rodents, for all samples, five species tested positive for *Hepatozoon* spp.: *A. flavicollis* (28.1%), *A. sylvaticus* (30.0%), *C. nivalis* (33.3%), *M. arvalis* (50%), and *My. glareolus* (58.8%) (see Table 1 for details), with an overall prevalence of 35.9% (see Appendix B for sequences).

In Cembra Valley (CEV; 506 samples), *Hepatozoon* spp. was detected in all three rodent species captured (Table 1). *Hepatozoon* spp. prevalence was higher in *My. glareolus* if compared with *A. flavicollis* (Z-test, *p*-value = 6.855×10^{-6}) (Figure 2a).



Figure 2. Difference of the prevalence rates of *Hepatozoon* spp. among rodent species from the Province of Trento, Italy (2019–2021): (a) in Cembra Valley (CEV) and (b) in Calamento Valley (CAV). Vertical bars represent the 95% confidence interval. Horizontal bars refer to significant differences, with *** = significance level < 0.001 and * = significance level < 0.05.

In Calamento Valley (CAV; 294 samples), four rodent species tested positive (Table 1). *My. glareolus* showed a statistically significant higher prevalence compared to *A. flavicollis* and *C. nivalis* (Z-test, *p*-value = 6.075×10^{-12} and *p*-value = 0.027, respectively) (Figure 2b). Among the species with too few captures to compute prevalence, *Hepatozoon* spp. was recorded in *M. arvalis*, in one individual out of the two captures and *A. sylvaticus*, in three out of eight captures.

The results of the GLMMs showed that rodent species have a crucial role in driving the infection of *Hepatozoon* spp. Conversely, both human pressure and the altitudinal gradient were not selected in the best models, indicating their scarce relevance in influencing the probability of becoming infected by *Hepatozoon* spp. (Appendix A). In particular, in the first analysis between study areas at 1000 m a.s.l., the infection probability depended on the species, with *My. glareolus* more likely to be infected than *A. flavicollis* ($\beta = 1.07 \pm 0.21$; *p*-value = 3.27×10^{-7} ; reference category: *A. flavicollis*). In the second analysis, the infection of *Hepatozoon* spp. depended on the additive effect of the species and breeding status, confirming that *My. glareolus* was more prone to becoming infected if compared to *A. flavicollis* ($\beta = 1.97 \pm 0.30$; *p*-value = 5.98×10^{-11} ; reference category: *A. flavicollis* (Appendix A). In addition, a minor effect of the breeding status emerged, in which juveniles seemed to be marginally more infected compared to adults ($\beta = 1.29 \pm 0.70$; *p*-value = 0.06; reference category: Adults), while we did not detect any significant difference between adults and subadults (Appendix A).

It is relevant to observe that, after sequencing, two samples (one from *S. araneus* and one from *My. glareolus*) previously assigned to *Hepatozoon* spp. were instead confirmed as *Babesia microti* (see Appendix B).

4. Discussion

This study reports for the first time the occurrence and prevalence of *Hepatozoon* spp. in wild rodents in the Italian Alps. In particular, we found a high prevalence in the most common woodland rodent hosts, i.e., *My. glareolus* and *A. flavicollis*, as well as in two other alpine species: the sympatric *A. sylvaticus* and *C. nivalis* at high altitudes.

This study is part of a wider project investigating tick-borne pathogen circulation in small mammals in the Italian Alps. In this context, the detection of rodent infection by *Hepatozoon* spp. represented a bycatch of the assessment of *Babesia* spp. For this reason, *Babesia*-specific primers were used for the screening, and the positive samples were further identified through sequencing. The identification of two positive samples of *Babesia microti* underlines the risk of mismatch when *Babesia*-specific primers are used for detecting *Hepatozoon* spp., as already underlined by other studies [47]. This finding suggests that follow-up sequencing is a compulsory step to discriminate this parasite by other protozoa when their detection is due to nonspecific protocols. For these reasons, we were not able to further identify *Hepatozoon* spp. at the species level due to the low quality of the obtained sequences. The identification could be refined by using *Hepatozoon*-specific primers (HEPF/HEPR [47]).

European studies on *Hepatozoon* spp. in wild rodents have been generally based on blood [32,47,61,62], organs [14,22,23], and, more rarely, on skin [13,63] samples, which are often collected through invasive sampling methods that, in many cases, require the suppression of the animals. In live rodents, *Hepatozoon* spp. can be identified only through blood sampling, to the best of our knowledge [31,32]. This comes with the drawback that traditional microscopy based on a blood smear can underestimate *Hepatozoon* spp. prevalence, especially with low intensity of infection [47]. On the contrary, PCR-based assays, such as those that we implemented using ear biopsy samples collected from live-trapped rodents, are considered more sensitive and robust. Coupling molecular screening approaches with less invasive sampling methods may accomplish conservation issues in cases of endangered and vulnerable species, e.g., *C. nivalis* [64], limiting the impact on the studied species. Within this framework, we believe that our contribution may provide a

useful methodological approach. Although the comparison of past studies based on different protocols or matrices might not be feasible, the comparison between different procedures to assess *Hepatozoon* spp., e.g., by comparing ear tissue samples with skin ones as those collected in studies [13,63], could be an interesting direction of research.

The number of species of the small mammal community in which *Hepatozoon* spp. was detected, its first identification in C. nivalis (33.3%), and its occurrence at 2000 and 2500 m a.s.l., the highest elevation at which these parasites have ever been recorded, represent key findings to speculate on the transmission pathways of *Hepatozoon* spp. in the Alpine range. Additionally, this is the first record of *Hepatozoon* spp. in A. sylvaticus (30.0%) using molecular approaches [34,65]. Since small mammals can become infected from *Hepatozoon* spp. mainly though the ingestion of infected vectors, it is reasonable to consider Hepatozoon spp. as a vector-borne infectious agent for small mammal hosts and specifically in our case, although we did not assess the infective status and transmission dynamics of arthropod vectors. Our results suggest that *Hepatozoon* spp. are common in alpine environments, showing a high prevalence in a broad spectrum of alpine small mammal species. In particular, we did not detect any relevant difference in Hepatozoon spp. prevalence between anthropic and wild systems, implying a stable and ubiquitous presence of *Hepatozoon* spp. in the analyzed small mammal species. This is interesting, as Hepatozoon spp. have been previously studied mainly in domestic species [3–8]. The low host specificity displayed by *Hepatozoon* spp. [23,29] may indicate that these parasites persist in the environment sustained by competent and reservoir hosts, such as small mammals [66], both in wild and more anthropic settings. These conditions may increase the risk of spillover events among wildlife and domestic animals [67,68]. For example, A. sylvaticus generally shares food resources, part of the habitats and vectors, with other rodent competitor species, especially in case of high rodent and vector density [69], as it may occur in permissive environmental conditions (low elevations, in our case). The high density of reservoir hosts and of potentially infected vectors may amplify parasite circulation and spreading within the ecosystem, facilitating also the infection of less abundant host species [70]. This mechanism may have also favored the transition of the parasite to high altitudes, especially under increasingly milder climatic conditions. The less-limiting abiotic conditions along the altitudinal gradient occurring under climate change may promote an upward distributional shift of opportunistic small mammal host species (e.g., My. glareolus and Apodemus spp.) and, in turn, the survival and development of arthropod vectors (e.g., mites, fleas, and ticks) [27,71,72]. The combination of abiotic (i.e., climate) and biotic (i.e., interspecific interactions) conditions that permit host and vector persistence, together with the ability of a species to colonize favorable habitats, may therefore alter the local alpine communities, leading to novel host-vector species pairings and, thus, to the emergence of vector-borne diseases in new environments [73–76]. The occurrence of Hepatozoon spp. in C. nivalis and high altitudes that we recorded is compatible with these dynamics, although there is no track record of previous investigations at the same altitudes in small mammals (see Reference [28]).

The high rate of infection that we observed in different rodent species across a diversity of Alpine habitats may induce relevant cascading effects across the food web. In particular, being carnivore-competent hosts for *Hepatozoon* spp., a broad spectrum of both domestic (e.g., shepherd dogs [77]) and wild animals (e.g., snakes [78], meso- and large carnivores [20,79], and birds of prey [80]) may become infected through the ingestion of parasitized rodent preys. Specifically, small mammals are paratenic hosts for *Hepatozoon* spp., meaning that, despite not being necessary for parasite development, they help in maintaining its life cycle in the environment by supporting the cystozoite stages [40] infective for predators via ingestion [81]. The parasite can affect the immune response of predator secondary hosts, leading to population declines [39]. However, at the same time, since vector competence in becoming infected, replicating and transmitting the parasite varies across hosts [81], predators may represent dead end hosts for *Hepatozoon* spp. so
indirectly reducing parasites transmission across ecosystem (i.e., dilution effect). This aspect of the transmission pathway of *Hepatozoon* spp. needs further investigation.

The prevalence of *Hepatozoon* spp. that we recorded in the most common rodent hosts, i.e., *My. glareolus* and *A. flavicollis*, is in partial accordance with other studies in Europe. In particular, we found that *My. glareolus* showed the highest prevalence of *Hepatozoon* spp. among all captured rodent species (58.8%), as was also observed in other studies [13,32,47,63], although with very variable levels (from 3.7% to 87.5% [13,23,47,48,62,82]). Conversely, the prevalence we found for *A. flavicollis* (28.1%) is higher than all previously published estimates that were below 10% [13,47,48,63] and may support a high prevalence of *Hepatozoon* spp. infection at lower elevations. The small sample size of *Microtus* spp. voles does not allow conclusive indications on the rate of infection of this genus (one positive *M. arvalis* out of five in total), as was the case also for other studies [23,31,32,47].

In conclusion, Apicomplexa remains one of the most poorly investigated groups among protozoa, so that accurate identification (via PCR-based methods coupled with sequencing) of *Hepatozoon* spp. in new wild hosts and habitats importantly contributes to the understanding of the ecological role of these parasites, especially under the current global change. Collectively, by detecting *Hepatozoon* spp. in a broad range of rodent hosts throughout the altitudinal gradient of Alpine habitats, we indicated the widespread occurrence of this parasite as likely supported by an expanding availability of arthropod vectors, due to variations in the temperature and moisture linked to climate change [75]. Therefore, this study represents a crucial starting point for future research combining ecological, epidemiological, and molecular analysis to evaluate the trophic transmission route of *Hepatozoon* spp. across the food chain in habitats particularly exposed to climate change, such as the Alpine range. In particular, studies investigating vector competence and distribution, as well as host ecology and their role in maintaining and transmitting *Hepatozoon* spp., are needed to clarify the function of this group of parasites in such changing ecosystems.

Supplementary Materials: The following supporting information can be downloaded at https://www.mdpi.com/article/10.3390/microorganisms10040712/s1: Table S1: List of animals captured per site at Cembra and Calamento Valleys (Trento, Italy) and PCR results.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization: G.F., F.C., O.D. and V.T.; Methodology: G.F., M.G., F.C., O.D. and V.T.; Data curation: G.F. and V.T.; Investigation: G.F., M.G. and V.T.; Formal analysis: G.F. and O.D.; Writing—Original Draft: G.F.; Writing—Review and Editing: F.C., O.D., M.G. and V.T.; and Supervision: F.C., O.D. and V.T. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: G.F. was supported by the Inland Norway of Applied Sciences Doctoral Program in Applied ecology and biotechnology 2019/2022 and Fondazione Edmund Mach International Doctoral Program. F.C. contributed to this work partly under the IRD Fellowship 2021/2022 at Fondation IMéRA, Institute for Advanced Studies at Aix-Marseille Université.

Institutional Review Board Statement: The animal study protocol was approved by the Provincial Wildlife Management Committee (Authorization n. 663; date: 23 April 2015).

Data Availability Statement: The data presented in this study are available in the Supplementary Materials section and from the EuroSmallMammals database (https://eurosmallmammals.fmach.it (accessed on 6 March 2022)).

Acknowledgments: We are grateful to three anonymous reviewers for their comments that greatly improved the clarity and outcomes of this article. We are also grateful to all the people involved in the rodent trapping and data collection, and especially Arnoldi D., Dal Farra S., Inama E. and Savazza S., as well as Casari S. and Rosso F., for their suggestions in molecular analysis. We thank all the members of the Applied Ecology research unit, Animal Ecology research unit, and Conservation Genomics research unit of Fondazione Edmund Mach.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Appendix A

To investigate the role of host species and environmental context (explanatory variables) on the probability of rodent infection with *Hepatozoon* spp. (response variable), a set of potentially biological meaningful covariates was considered, also controlling for life history traits, and specifically:

- (i). life-history covariates
 - 1. Sex (categorical variable): Female or Male;
 - 2. Breeding status (categorical variable): Juvenile, Sub-adult, Adult;
 - 3. Species (**categorical variable**): Small mammal species captured ad least 20 times (i.e., *Apodemus flavicollis, Myodes glareolus, Chionomys nivalis* and *Sorex araneus*).
- (ii). environmental covariates
 - 1. Study area (categorical variable): based on the anthropic pressure, Cembra Valley (CEV) is characterized as 'high anthropic' and Calamento Valley (CAV) as 'low anthropic'.
 - 2. Altitude (**categorical variable**, only for CAV): the altitudinal gradient defined by 5 classes: 500 m, 1000 m, 1500 m, 2000 m and 2500 m a.s.l.

Specifically, we applied two analytical designs: (i), we evaluated the effect of anthropogenic pressure on rodent infection by comparing the study areas (Cembra: high pressure; Calamento: low pressure), only for altitudes homogeneous across the sites; (ii), we assessed how the probability of infection would vary across species along the alpine altitudinal gradient in a particularly wild context (Calamento Valley: 5 belts of 500 m from 500 m a.s.l. to 2500 m a.s.l.). To this end, we fitted Generalized Linear Mixed Models (GLMMs; [54]) with binomial distribution of errors to the probability of infection. To account for spatial autocorrelation of captures, we performed a first model selection on random effects based on second-order Akaike Information Criterion (AICc), by maximizing the fixed effects (i.e., considering the full model). In particular, we fitted model with random effect on trap nested within grid ('Plot/Trap'), only on trapping grid ('Plot') and only on trap ('Trap') (Table A1, Table A4). After the selection of the most appropriate random effect [83], we performed a model selection on fixed effect starting from the full model, by ranking all possible model combinations derived from the full model on the basis of the AICc (Table A2, Table A5). The explanatory variables included in the full model were: small mammal species ('Species'), breeding status ('Status'), sex ('Sex'), anthropogenic pressure characterizing the area ('Area'; used only for first analysis) and altitudinal belts ('Altitude'; used only for second analysis). The model with the lower AICc was selected as the best model [55] (Table A3, Table A6).

Appendix A1. Models across Study Areas with Different Anthropic Pressure

The most parsimonious model included 'Species' as fixed effect, and trapping grid as random effects (Table A1 and Table A2). The model coefficients revealed a strong positive effect of species and specifically, *Myodes glareolus* was more prone to becoming infected if compared with *Apodemus flavicollis* (Table A3; Figure A1). Conversely, the area and therefore the degree of anthropic pressure was not retained in the best model.

Table A1. Model selection according to AICc to identify the random effect. In bold the model selected. Legend: 'Area': anthropic pressure depending on study area; 'Sex': sex; 'Status': breeding status; 'Species': rodent species, 'Plot': trapping grid; 'Trap': trap station; Fixed effect' = fixed effect modelled; 'Random effect' = random effects modelled; 'AICc' = AIC with a correction for small sample sizes; ' Δ AICc' = relative differences between the fitted model and the Akaike 'best-ranked' model with the smallest AICc value; 'weight' = relative likelihood of a model.

Fixed Effect	Random Effect	AICc	ΔAICc	Weight
Area + Sex + Status + Species	1 Plot	766.2	0.00	0.71
Area + Sex + Status + Species	1 Plot/Trap	768.3	2.06	0.25
Area + Sex + Status + Species	1 Trap	772.2	5.98	0.03

Table A2. Model selection to predict probability of infection of *Hepatozoon* spp., reporting the best model (in bold), the models retained within a $\Delta AICc \le 4$, and the first model with $\Delta AICc > 4$ (in italic). Legend: 'Area': anthropic pressure depending on study area; 'Sex': sex; 'Status': breeding status; 'Species': rodent species, 'Plot': trapping grid; 'Trap': trap station; Fixed effect' = fixed effect modelled; 'Random effect' = random effects modelled; 'AICc' = AIC with a correction for small sample sizes; ' $\Delta AICc'$ = relative differences between the fitted model and the Akaike 'best-ranked' model with the smallest AICc value; 'weight' = relative likelihood of a model.

Fixed Effect	Random Effect	AICc	ΔAICc	Weight
Species	1 Plot	752.72	0.00	0.41
Area + Species	1 Plot	754.68	1.96	0.15
Sex + Species	1 Plot	754.74	2.03	0.15
Status + Species	1 Plot	755.12	2.41	0.12
Area + Species + Sex	1 Plot	756.71	4.00	0.05
Area + Species + Status	1 Plot	757.05	4.33	0.05

Table A3. Coefficients of the best model (Model 1, Table A2) fitting the probability of infection with *Hepatozoon* spp. The reference category for the covariate 'Species' is *A. flavicollis*. Legend: 'Species': rodent species; 'Plot': trapping grid; ' τ 00' = method heterogeneity.

	Probability of Infection			
Predictors	Estimate	Std. Error	Z value	Pr(> z)
Intercept	-0.77 ***	0.16	-4.86	1.15×10^{-6}
Species My. glareolus	1.07 ***	0.21	5.11	3.27×10^{-7}
Random effects				
τ00 Plot	0.12			
N trap	10			
Observations	590			
Marginal R ² /Conditional R ²	0.06/0.09			

*** *p* < 0.01.



Figure A1. Predictive plot showing the effect of rodent species on probability of infection of *Hepatozoon* spp., after controlling for the effects of other covariates in the Generalized Linear Mixed Models (GLMMs; best model Table A2).

Appendix A2. Models across Altitudinal Gradient in Calamento Valley

The most parsimonious model included 'Species' and 'Status' as fixed effects, and trapping grid as random effects (Table A4, Table A5). The model coefficients revealed a

strong positive effect of species and a slightly positive effect of breeding status. Specifically, we confirmed that *Myodes glareolus* positively drove the infection of *Hepatozoon* spp. rather than *Apodemus flavicollis* and *Chionomys nivalis* (Table A6; Figure A2). Moreover, juvenile animals tended to be more infected compared to adults and sub-adults (Table A6; Figure A3). Conversely, elevation was not selected in the best model.

Table A4. Model selection according to AICc to identify the random effect. In bold the model selected. Legend: 'Altitude': elevation a.s.l.; 'Sex': sex; 'Status': breeding status; 'Species': rodent species, 'Plot': trapping grid; 'Trap': trap station; Fixed effect' = fixed effect modelled; 'Random effect' = random effects modelled; 'AICc' = AIC with a correction for small sample sizes; 'ΔAICc' = relative differences between the fitted model and the Akaike 'best-ranked' model with the smallest AICc value; 'weight' = relative likelihood of a model.

Fixed Effect	Random Effect	AICc	ΔAICc	Weight
Altitude + Sex + Status + Species	1 Plot	314.4	0.00	0.43
Altitude + Sex + Status + Species	1 Plot/Trap	314.4	0.00	0.43
Altitude + Sex + Status + Species	1 Trap	316.6	2.19	0.14

Table A5. Model selection to predict probability of infection of *Hepatozoon* spp., reporting the best model (in bold), the models retained within a Δ AICc \leq 4, and the first model with Δ AICc > 4 (in italic). Legend: 'Altitude': elevation a.s.l.; 'Sex': sex; 'Status': breeding status; 'Species': rodent species, 'Plot': trapping grid; 'Trap': trap station; Fixed effect' = fixed effect modelled; 'Random effect' = random effects modelled; 'AICc' = AIC with a correction for small sample sizes; ' Δ AICc' = relative differences between the fitted model and the Akaike 'best-ranked' model with the smallest AICc value; 'weight' = relative likelihood of a model.

Fixed Effect	Random Effect	AICc	ΔAICc	Weight
Species + Status	1 Plot	306.96	0.00	0.38
Species	1 Plot	307.35	0.39	0.31
Sex + Species + Status	1 Plot	309.05	2.09	0.13
Sex + Species	1 Plot	309.41	2.45	0.11
<i>Altitude</i> + <i>Species</i>	1 Plot	312.30	5.34	0.03

Table A6. Coefficients of the best model (Model 1, Table A5) fitting the probability of infection with *Hepatozoon* spp. The reference category for the covariate 'Species' is *A. flavicollis*; the reference category for the covariate 'Status' is 'Adult'. Legend: 'Species': rodent species; 'Status': breeding status; 'Plot': trapping grid; ' τ 00' = method heterogeneity.

Probability of Infection			
Estimate	Std. Error	Z value	Pr(> z)
-1.69 ***	0.25	-6.75	1.47×10^{-11}
0.76	0.54	1.39	0.16
1.97 ***	0.30	6.54	5.98×10^{-11}
1.29 *	0.70	1.84	0.06
0.39	0.30	1.31	0.19
1.15×10^{-9}			
9			
272			
0.22/0.22			
	Estimate -1.69 *** 0.76 1.97 *** 1.29 * 0.39 1.15 × 10 ⁻⁹ 9 272 0.22/0.22	Probability of Estimate Std. Error $-1.69 ***$ 0.25 0.76 0.54 $1.97 ***$ 0.30 $1.29 *$ 0.70 0.39 0.30 1.15×10^{-9} 9 272 $0.22/0.22$	Probability of InfectionEstimateStd. ErrorZ value $-1.69 ***$ 0.25 -6.75 0.76 0.54 1.39 $1.97 ***$ 0.30 6.54 $1.29 *$ 0.70 1.84 0.39 0.30 1.31 1.15×10^{-9} 9 272 $0.22/0.22$

* p < 0.1, *** p < 0.01.









Appendix B

Among the 287 positive samples for *Hepatozoon* spp., we identified 151 entire highquality sequences. After checking the mutations, four main different sequences emerged (TN-1–TN-4), which are repeated in all positive samples. The four different sequences were listed below. We also added the two sequences of *Babesia microti* (F-TN-5, F-TN-6) detected through *Hepatozoon* spp. protocol.

>TN-1-Hep ACGGTATCTGATCGTCTTCGATCCCCTAACTTTCGTTCTTGATTAATGAA AACATCTTTGGCAAATGCTTTCGCAGTAGTGTGTCTTTAACAAATCTAAG AATTTCACCTCTGACAGTTAAATACAAATGCCCCCAACTGCTCCTATCAA TCATTAATTTAGTTCTTAAAAACCAATAACGTAGAACTAAAATCCTATTTT ATTATTCCATGCTGCAGTATTCAAAACGTTAGCCTGCTTGAAACACTCTA ATTTTCTCAAAGTAAAAATCCTCAAAATTGCATTCTACAATAAAGTAAAA AACATTCCAAAGGACATTATTGCTAAAAACACACCAAGATACCACTCTTA TTAACTGCAACAATTTTAATATACGCTATTGGAGCTGGAATTACCGCGGC TGCTGGCACCAGACTTGCCCTCCAATTGATACTTTAAAAAGTATTTAAAT TT

>TN-2-Hep

ACGGTATCTGATCGTCTTCGATCCCCTAACTTTCGTTCTTGATTAATGAA AACATCTTTGGCAAATGCTTTCGCAGTAGTGTGTCTTTAACAAATCTAAG AATTTCACCTCTGACAGTTAAATACAAATGCCCCCAACTGCTCCTATCAA TCATTAATTTAGTTCTTAAAACCAATAACGTAGAACTAAAATCCTATTTT ATTATTCCATGCTGCAGTATTCAAAACGTTAGCCTGCTTGAAACACTCTA ATTTTCTCAAAGTAAAAATCCTCAAAATTGCTTTTTACAATAAAGTAAAA AACATTCCAAAGGATATTATTGCTAAAAGCACACCAAGATACCACTCTTA TAAATAAAAGCAGACCGGTTATTTCTAGCAAAAATTCAACTACGAGCTTT TTAACTGCAACAATTTTAATATACGCTATTGGAGCTGGAATTACCGCGGC TGCTGGCACCAGACTTGCCCTCCAATTGATACTTTAAAAAGTATTTAAAT

>TN-3-Hep

ACGGTATCTGATCGTCTTCGATCCCCTAACTTTCGTTCTTGATTAATGAA AACATCTTTGGCAAATGCTTTCGCAGTAGTGTGTCTTTAACAAATCTAAG AATTTCACCTCTGACAGTTAAATACAAATGCCCCCAACTGCTCCTATCAA TCATTAATTTAGTTCTTAAAACCAATAACGTAGAACTAAAATCCTATTTT ATTATTCCATGCTGCAGTATTCAAAACGTTAGCCTGCTTGAAAACACTCTA ATTTTCTCAAAGTAAAAATCCTGAAAATTGCTTCTCACAATAAAGTAAAA AACATTTCAAAGGACATTATTGCTAAAAACACACACCAAGATGCCACTTTTA ATAATAAAAGCAGACCGGTTATTTTTAGCAAAAATTCAACTACGAGCTTT TTAACTGCAACAATTTTAATATACGCTATTGGAGCTGGAATTACCGCGGC TGCTGGCACCAGACTTGCCCTCCAATTGATACTTTAAAAAGTATTTAAAT TT

>TN-4-Hep

ACGGTATCTGATCGTCTTCGATCCCCTAACTTTCGTTCTTGATTAATGAA AACATCTTTGGCAAATGCTTTCGCAGTAGTGTGTCTTTAACAAATCTAAG AATTTCACCTCTGACAGTTAAATACAAATGCCCCCAACTGCTCCTATCAA TCATTAATTTAGTTCTTAAAACCAATAACGTAGAACTAAAATCCTATTTT ATTATTCCATGCTGCAGTATTCAAAACGTTAGCCTGCTTGAAAACACTCTA ATTTTCTCAAAGTAAAAATCCTGAAAATTGCTTTTTACAATAAAGTAAAA AACATTTCAAAGGACATTATTGCTAAAAACACACACCAAGATACCACTTTA TTAATAAAAGCAGACCGGTTATTTTTAGCAAAAATTCAACTACGAGCTTT TTAACTGCAACAATTTTAATATACGCTATTGGAGCTGGAATTACCGCGGC TGCTGGCACCAGACTTGCCCTCCAATTGATACTTTAAAAAGTATTTAAAT

>F-TN-5_Babesia

>F-TN-6_Babesia

References

- 1. White, R.J.; Razgour, O. Emerging zoonotic diseases originating in mammals: A systematic review of effects of anthropogenic land-use change. *Mamm. Rev.* 2020, *50*, 336–352. https://doi.org/10.1111/MAM.12201.
- Preston, D.L.; Mischler, J.A.; Townsend, A.R.; Johnson, P.T.J. Disease Ecology Meets Ecosystem Science. *Ecosystems* 2016, 19, 737–748. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10021-016-9965-2.
- Criado-Fornelio, A.; Buling, A.; Pingret, J.L.; Etievant, M.; Boucraut-Baralon, C.; Alongi, A.; Agnone, A.; Torina, A. Hemoprotozoa of domestic animals in France: Prevalence and molecular characterization. *Vet. Parasitol.* 2009, 159, 73–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VETPAR.2008.10.012.
- Díaz-Regañón, D.; Villaescusa, A.; Ayllón, T.; Rodríguez-Franco, F.; Baneth, G.; Calleja-Bueno, L.; García-Sancho, M.; Agulla, B.; Sainz, Á. Molecular detection of Hepatozoon spp. and Cytauxzoon sp. in domestic and stray cats from Madrid, Spain. *Parasites Vectors* 2017, *10*, 112. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13071-017-2056-1.
- Pacifico, L.; Braff, J.; Buono, F.; Beall, M.; Neola, B.; Buch, J.; Sgroi, G.; Piantedosi, D.; Santoro, M.; Tyrrell, P.; et al. Hepatozoon canis in hunting dogs from Southern Italy: Distribution and risk factors. *Parasitol. Res.* 2020, 119, 3023–3031. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-020-06820-2.
- 6. Morelli, S.; Diakou, A.; Traversa, D.; Di Gennaro, E.; Simonato, G.; Colombo, M.; Dimzas, D.; Grillini, M.; Frangipane di Regalbono, A.; Beugnet, F.; et al. First record of Hepatozoon spp. in domestic cats in Greece. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* **2021**, *12*, 101580. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TTBDIS.2020.101580.
- Grillini, M.; Simonato, G.; Tessarin, C.; Dotto, G.; Traversa, D.; Cassini, R.; Marchiori, E.; Di Regalbono, A.F. *Cytauxzoon* sp. and *Hepatozoon* spp. in Domestic Cats: A Preliminary Study in North-Eastern Italy. *Pathogens* 2021, 10, 1214. https://doi.org/10.3390/PATHOGENS10091214.
- Helm, C.S.; von Samson-Himmelstjerna, G.; Liesner, J.M.; Kohn, B.; Müller, E.; Schaper, R.; Pachnicke, S.; Schulze, C.; Krücken, J. Identical 18S rRNA haplotypes of Hepatozoon canis in dogs and foxes in Brandenburg, Germany. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 2020, 11, 101520. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ttbdis.2020.101520.

- Lauzi, S.; Maia, J.P.; Epis, S.; Marcos, R.; Pereira, C.; Luzzago, C.; Santos, M.; Puente-Payo, P.; Giordano, A.; Pajoro, M.; et al. Molecular detection of *Anaplasma platys*, *Ehrlichia canis*, *Hepatozoon* canis and *Rickettsia monacensis* in dogs from Maio Island of Cape Verde archipelago. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 2016, 7, 964–969. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ttbdis.2016.05.001.
- Scott, J.D.; Pesapane, R.R. Detection of Anaplasma phagocytophilum, Babesia odocoilei, Babesia sp., Borrelia burgdorferi Sensu Lato, and Hepatozoon canis in Ixodes scapularis Ticks Collected in Eastern Canada. Pathogens 2021, 10, 1265. https://doi.org/10.3390/PATHO-GENS10101265.
- 11. Dahmana, H.; Granjon, L.; Diagne, C.; Davoust, B.; Fenollar, F.; Mediannikov, O. Rodents as hosts of pathogens and related zoonotic disease risk. *Pathogens* **2020**, *9*, 202. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens9030202.
- 12. Johnson, P.T.J.; Dobson, A.; Lafferty, K.D.; Marcogliese, D.J.; Memmott, J.; Orlofske, S.A.; Poulin, R.; Thieltges, D.W. When parasites become prey: Ecological and epidemiological significance of eating parasites. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* **2010**, *25*, 362–371. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2010.01.005.
- Hamšíková, Z.; Silaghi, C.; Rudolf, I.; Venclíková, K.; Mahríková, L.; Slovák, M.; Mendel, J.; Blažejová, H.; Berthová, L.; Kocianová, E.; et al. Molecular detection and phylogenetic analysis of *Hepatozoon* spp. in questing *Ixodes ricinus* ticks and rodents from Slovakia and Czech Republic. *Parasitol. Res.* 2016, *115*, 3897–3904. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-016-5156-5.
- 14. Rigó, K.; Majoros, G.; Szekeres, S.; Molnár, I.; Jablonszky, M.; Majláthová, V.; Majláth, I.; Földvári, G. Identification of *Hepatozoon erhardovae* Krampitz, 1964 from bank voles (*Myodes glareolus*) and fleas in Southern Hungary. *Parasitol. Res.* **2016**, *115*, 2409–2413. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-016-4992-7.
- 15. Paperna, I.; Lainson, R. Hepatozoon cf. terzii (Sambon & Seligman, 1907) infection in the snake Boa constrictor constrictor from north Brazil: Transmission to the mosquito *Culex quinquefasciatus* and the lizard *Tropidurus torquatus*. *Parasite* **2004**, *11*, 175–181. https://doi.org/10.1051/parasite/2004112175.
- Duscher, G.G.; Leschnik, M.; Fuehrer, H.P.; Joachim, A. Wildlife reservoirs for vector-borne canine, feline and zoonotic infections in Austria. *Int. J. Parasitol. Parasites Wildl.* 2015, *4*, 88–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJPPAW.2014.12.001.
- 17. Murata, T.; Taura, Y.; Nakama, S.; Inoue, M.; Tateyama, S. Vertical Transmission of *Hepatozoon canis* in Dogs. J. Vet. Med. Sci. **1993**, 55, 867–868. https://doi.org/10.1292/JVMS.55.867.
- 18. Duscher, G.G.; Fuehrer, H.P.; Kübber-Heiss, A. Fox on the run—molecular surveillance of fox blood and tissue for the occurrence of tick-borne pathogens in Austria. *Parasites Vectors* **2014**, *7*, 521. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13071-014-0521-7.
- Modrý, D.; Hofmannová, L.; Papežík, P.; Majerová, K.; Votýpka, J.; Hönig, V.; Růžek, D.; Hrazdilová, K. Hepatozoon in Eurasian red squirrels *Sciurus vulgaris*, its taxonomic identity, and phylogenetic placement. *Parasitol. Res.* 2021, *1*, 3. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-021-07229-1.
- Battisti, E.; Zanet, S.; Khalili, S.; Trisciuoglio, A.; Hertel, B.; Ferroglio, E. Molecular Survey on Vector-Borne Pathogens in Alpine Wild Carnivorans. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 2020, 7, 1. https://doi.org/10.3389/FVETS.2020.00001.
- Tomé, B.; Maia, J.P.; Salvi, D.; Brito, J.C.; Carretero, M.A.; Perera, A.; Meimberg, H.; Harris, D.J. Patterns of genetic diversity in *Hepatozoon* spp. infecting snakes from North Africa and the Mediterranean Basin. *Syst. Parasitol.* 2014, *87*, 249–258. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11230-014-9477-4.
- 22. Perles, L.; Roque, A.L.R.; D'Andrea, P.S.; Lemos, E.R.S.; Santos, A.F.; Morales, A.C.; Machado, R.Z.; André, M.R. Genetic diversity of Hepatozoon spp. in rodents from Brazil. *Sci. Rep.* 2019, *9*, 10122. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-46662-2.
- 23. Laakkonen, J.; Sukura, A.; Oksanen, A.; Henttonen, H.; Soveri, T. Haemogregarines of the genus Hepatozoon (Apicomplexa: Adeleina) in rodents from northern Europe. *Folia Parasitol.* **2001**, *48*, 263–267. https://doi.org/10.14411/FP.2001.043.
- Urban, M.C.; Bocedi, G.; Hendry, A.P.; Mihoub, J.-B.; Pe'er, G.; Singer, A.; Bridle, J.R.; Crozier, L.G.; De Meester, L.; Godsoe, W.; et al. Improving the forecast for biodiversity under climate change. *Science* 2016, 353, aad8466. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad8466.
- Gilman, S.E.; Urban, M.C.; Tewksbury, J.; Gilchrist, G.W.; Holt, R.D. A framework for community interactions under climate change. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 2010, 25, 325–331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2010.03.002.
- Rizzoli, A.; Tagliapietra, V.; Cagnacci, F.; Marini, G.; Arnoldi, D.; Rosso, F.; Rosà, R. Parasites and wildlife in a changing world: The vector-host- pathogen interaction as a learning case. *Int. J. Parasitol. Parasites Wildl.* 2019, *9*, 394–401. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJP-PAW.2019.05.011.
- 27. Garcia-Vozmediano, A.; Krawczyk, A.I.; Sprong, H.; Rossi, L.; Ramassa, E.; Tomassone, L. Ticks climb the mountains: Ixodid tick infestation and infection by tick-borne pathogens in the Western Alps. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* **2020**, *11*, 101489. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TTBDIS.2020.101489.
- Fuehrer, H.-P.; Soukup, I.; Shahi-Barogh, B.; Glawischnig, W. Absence of blood parasites and other vector-borne pathogens in Alpine marmots (Marmota marmota) in Western Austria. *Parasitol. Res.* 2021, 120, 1125–1129. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-020-07006-6.
- 29. Smith, T.G. The genus Hepatozoon (Apicomplexa: Adeleina). J. Parasitol. 1996, 82, 565-585.
- 30. Gobiet, A.; Kotlarski, S.; Beniston, M.; Heinrich, G.; Rajczak, J.; Stoffel, M. 21st century climate change in the European Alps— A review. *Sci. Total Environ.* **2014**, *493*, 1138–1151. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2013.07.050.
- Pawelczyk, A.; Bajer, A.; Behnke, J.M.; Gilbert, F.S.; Sinski, E. Factors affecting the component community structure of haemoparasites in common voles (*Microtus arvalis*) from the Mazury Lake District region of Poland. *Parasitol. Res.* 2004, 92, 270–284. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-003-1040-1.
- 32. Karbowiak, G.; Rychlik, L.; Nowakowski, W.; Wita, I. Natural infections of small mammals with blood parasites on the borderland of boreal and temperate forest zones. *Acta Theriol.* **2005**, *50*, 31–42. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03192616.

- Al-Quraishy, S.; Abdel-Ghaffar, F.; Dkhil, M.A.; Abdel-Gaber, R. Haemogregarines and Criteria for Identification. *Animals* 2021, 11, 170. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11010170.
- 34. Sebek, Z. Blood Parasites of Small Mammals in Western Hungary. Parasitol. Hungarica 1978, 11, 17–22.
- 35. De Monte, T. Infection with *Hepatozoon muris* Balf. (Protozoa, Adeleidae) in wild varieties of *Rattus norvegicus* in Trieste. *Schweiz. Arch. Tierheilkd.* **1971**, *113*, 654–659.
- Brumpt, E. Contribution a l'etude d'Hepatozoon muris. Utilisation du xénodiagnostic pour l'identification des espèces d'hémogrégarines. Ann. Parasitol. Hum. Comp. 1946, 21, 1–24.
- 37. Hoogstraal, H. The Life Cycle and Incidence of Hepatozoon balfouri (Laveran, 1905) in Egyptian Jerboas (Jaculus spp.) and Mites (Haemolaelaps aegyptius Keegan, 1956) *. J. Protozool. **1961**, *8*, 231–248. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1550-7408.1961.TB01209.X.
- 38. Miller, W.W. Hepatozoon Perniciosum (n. G., N. Sp.): A Haemogregarine Pathogenic for White Rats: With a Description of the Sexual Cycle in the Intermediate Host, a Mite (Lelaps Echidninus). *Lab Bull.* **1908**, *46*, 51.
- 39. Simpson, V.R.; Birtles, R.J.; Bown, K.J.; Panciera, R.J.; Butler, H.; Davison, N. Hepatozoon species infection in wild red squirrels (*Sciurus vulgaris*) on the Isle of Wight. *Vet. Rec.* **2006**, *159*, 202–205. https://doi.org/10.1136/VR.159.7.202.
- 40. Johnson, E.M.; Allen, K.E.; Breshears, M.A.; Panciera, R.J.; Little, S.E.; Ewing, S.A. Experimental transmission of Hepatozoon americanum to rodents. *Vet. Parasitol.* **2008**, *151*, 164–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetpar.2007.10.017.
- 41. Baker, D.G. Parasitic Diseases. In *The Laboratory Rat*, 2nd ed.; Elsevier Inc.: Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2006; pp. 453–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012074903-4/50016-9.
- 42. Alencar, N. Hepatozoon canis infection of wild carnivores in Brazil. Vet. Parasitol. 1997, 70, 279–282.
- Diakou, A.; Dimzas, D.; Astaras, C.; Savvas, I.; Di Cesare, A.; Morelli, S.; Neofitos, K.; Migli, D.; Traversa, D. Clinical investigations and treatment outcome in a European wildcat (*Felis silvestris* silvestris) infected by cardio-pulmonary nematodes. *Vet. Parasitol. Reg. Stud. Rep.* 2020, *19*, 100357. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VPRSR.2019.100357.
- Cunningham, M.W.; Yabsley, M.J. Primer on Tick-Borne Diseases in Exotic Carnivores. *Fowler's Zoo Wild Anim. Med. Curr. Ther.* 2012, 7, 458–464. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-4377-1986-4.00059-7.
- Zechmeisterová, K.; Javanbakht, H.; Kvičerová, J.; Široký, P. Against growing synonymy: Identification pitfalls of Hepatozoon and Schellackia demonstrated on North Iranian reptiles. *Eur. J. Protistol.* 2021, 79, 125780. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EJOP.2021.125780.
- 46. Casati, S.; Sager, H.; Gern, L.; Piffaretti, J.C. Presence of potentially pathogenic Babesia sp. for human in Ixodes ricinus in Switzerland. *Ann. Agric. Environ. Med.* **2006**, *13*, 65–70.
- Baltrūnaitė, L.; Kitrytė, N.; Križanauskienė, A. Blood parasites (Babesia, Hepatozoon and Trypanosoma) of rodents, Lithuania: Part I. Molecular and traditional microscopy approach. *Parasitol. Res.* 2020, 119, 687–694. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00436-019-06577-3.
- Usluca, S.; Celebi, B.; Karasartova, D.; Semra Gureser, A.; Matur, F.; Oktem, M.A.; Sozen, M.; Karatas, A.; Babur, C.; Mumcuoglu, K.Y.; et al. Molecular Survey of *Babesia microti* (Aconoidasida: Piroplasmida) in Wild Rodents in Turkey. *J. Med. Entomol.* 2019, 56, 1605–1609. https://doi.org/10.1093/jme/tjz084.
- Azmi, K.; Ereqat, S.; Nasereddin, A.; Al-Jawabreh, A.; Baneth, G.; Abdeen, Z. Molecular detection of *Theileria, Babesia*, and *Hepato*zoon spp. in ixodid ticks from Palestine. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 2016, 7, 734–741. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TTBDIS.2016.03.003.
- Najm, N.A.; Meyer-Kayser, E.; Hoffmann, L.; Herb, I.; Fensterer, V.; Pfister, K.; Silaghi, C. A molecular survey of *Babesia* spp. and *Theileria* spp. in red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) and their ticks from Thuringia, Germany. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 2014, *5*, 386–391. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TTBDIS.2014.01.005.
- Larkin, M.A.; Blackshields, G.; Brown, N.P.; Chenna, R.; McGettigan, P.A.; McWilliam, H.; Valentin, F.; Wallace, I.M.; Wilm, A.; Lopez, R.; et al. Clustal W and Clustal X version 2.0. *Bioinformatics* 2007, 23, 2947–2948. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btm404.
- 52. Carstensen, B.; Plummer, M.; Laara, E.; Hills, M. *Epi: A Package for Statistical Analysis in Epidemiology*; R Package Version 2.44; R Core Team: Vienna, Austria, 2021.
- 53. R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing; R Core Team: Vienna, Austria, 2021.
- 54. Bolker, B.M.; Brooks, M.E.; Clark, C.J.; Geange, S.W.; Poulsen, J.R.; Stevens, M.H.H.; White, J.S.S. Generalized linear mixed models: A practical guide for ecology and evolution. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* **2009**, *24*, 127–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2008.10.008.
- 55. Burnham, K.P.; Anderson, D.R. A Practical Information-Theoretic Approach. In *Model Selection and Multimodel Inference*; Springer: New York, NY, USA, 2002; pp. 70–71.
- Wicckham, H.; Averrick, M.; Bryan, J.; Chang, W.; McGowan, L.D.; François, R.; Grolemund, G.; Hayes, A.; Henry, L.; Hester, J.; et al. Welcome to the tidyverse. J. Open Source Softw. 2019, 4, 1686.
- 57. Wetschoreck, F.; Krabel, T.; Krishnamurthy, S. 8080labs/ppscore: Zenodo Release.
- 58. Barton, K. MuMIn: Multi-Models Interference; 2018.
- 59. Brooks, M.E.; Kristensen, K.; van Benthem, K.J.; Magnusson, A.; Berg, C.W.; Nielsen, A.; Skaug, H.J.; Maechler, M.; Bolker, B.M. glmmTMB: Balances speed and flexibility among packages for zero-inflated Generalized Linear Mixed Modeling. *R. J.* **2017**, *9*, 378–400.
- 60. Irwin, D.M.; Kocher, T.D.; Wilson, A.C. Evolution of the cytochromeb gene of mammals. J. Mol. Evol. 1991, 32, 128–144. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02515385.
- 61. Moustafa, M.A.M.; Shimozuru, M.; Mohamed, W.; Taylor, K.R.; Nakao, R.; Sashika, M.; Tsubota, T. First molecular detection and characterization of Hepatozoon and Sarcocystis spp. in field mice and voles from Japan. *Parasitol. Res.* **2017**, *116*, 2321–2325. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-017-5505-z.

- Bajer, A.; Welc-Faleciak, R.; Bednarska, M.; Alsarraf, M.; Behnke-Borowczyk, J.; Siński, E.; Behnke, J.M. Long-Term Spatiotemporal Stability and Dynamic Changes in the Haemoparasite Community of Bank Voles (*Myodes glareolus*) in NE Poland. *Microb. Ecol.* 2014, 68, 196–211. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00248-014-0390-9.
- 63. Galfsky, D.; Król, N.; Pfeffer, M.; Obiegala, A. Long-term trends of tick-borne pathogens in regard to small mammal and tick populations from Saxony, Germany. *Parasit. Vectors* **2019**, *12*, 131. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-019-3382-2.
- 64. Janeau, G.; Aulagnier, S. Snow vole Chionomys nivalis (Martins, 1842). J. Mt. Ecol. 1997, 4, e11.
- Healing, T.D. Infections with blood parasites in the small British rodents *Apodemus sylvaticus, Clethrionomys glareolus* and *Micro*tus agrestis. Parasitology **1981**, 83, 179–189. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182000050149.
- Gervasi, S.S.; Civitello, D.J.; Kilvitis, H.J.; Martin, L.B. The context of host competence: A role for plasticity in host-parasite dynamics. *Trends Parasitol.* 2015, 31, 419–425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pt.2015.05.002.
- Almberg, E.S.; Cross, P.C.; Dobson, A.P.; Smith, D.W.; Hudson, P.J. Parasite invasion following host reintroduction: A case study of Yellowstone's wolves. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 2012, 367, 2840–2851. https://doi.org/10.1098/RSTB.2011.0369.
- Squarre, D.; Nakamura, Y.; Hayashida, K.; Kawai, N.; Chambaro, H.; Namangala, B.; Sugimoto, C.; Yamagishi, J. Investigation of the piroplasm diversity circulating in wildlife and cattle of the greater Kafue ecosystem, Zambia. *Parasites Vectors* 2020, 13, 599. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13071-020-04475-7.
- Faust, C.L.; Dobson, A.P.; Gottdenker, N.; Bloomfield, L.S.P.; McCallum, H.I.; Gillespie, T.R.; Diuk-Wasser, M.; Plowright, R.K. Null expectations for disease dynamics in shrinking habitat: Dilution or amplification? *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 2017, 372, 20160173. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2016.0173.
- Estrada-Peña, A.; De La Fuente, J. The ecology of ticks and epidemiology of tick-borne viral diseases. *Antiviral Res.* 2014, 108, 104–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.antiviral.2014.05.016.
- Medlock, J.M.; Hansford, K.M.; Bormane, A.; Derdakova, M.; Estrada-Peña, A.; George, J.-C.; Golovljova, I.; Jaenson, T.G.T.; Jensen, J.-K.; Jensen, P.M.; et al. Driving forces for changes in geographical distribution of *Ixodes ricinus* ticks in Europe. *Parasit. Vectors* 2013, *6*, 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-3305-6-1.
- Materna, J.; Daniel, M.; Metelka, L.; Harčarik, J. The vertical distribution, density and the development of the tick *Ixodes ricinus* in mountain areas influenced by climate changes (The Krkonoše Mts., Czech Republic). *Int. J. Med. Microbiol.* 2008, 298, 25–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmm.2008.05.004.
- Altizer, S.; Ostfeld, R.S.; Johnson, P.T.J.; Kutz, S.; Harvell, C.D. Climate Change and Infectious Diseases: From Evidence to a Predictive Framework. *Science* 2013, 341, 514–519. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1239401.
- Miller, E.; Huppert, A. The Effects of Host Diversity on Vector-Borne Disease: The Conditions under Which Diversity Will Amplify or Dilute the Disease Risk. *PLoS ONE* 2013, 8, e80279. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0080279.
- Gilbert, L. The Impacts of Climate Change on Ticks and Tick-Borne Disease Risk. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 2021, 66, 373–388. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ento-052720-094533.
- Estrada-Peña, A.; Ostfeld, R.S.; Peterson, A.T.; Poulin, R.; de la Fuente, J. Effects of environmental change on zoonotic disease risk: An ecological primer. *Trends Parasitol.* 2014, 30, 205–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pt.2014.02.003.
- Hornok, S.; Tánczos, B.; Fernández de Mera, I.G.; de la Fuente, J.; Hofmann-Lehmann, R.; Farkas, R. High prevalence of Hepatozoon-infection among shepherd dogs in a region considered to be free of *Rhipicephalus sanguineus*. *Vet. Parasitol.* 2013, 196, 189–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetpar.2013.02.009.
- Haklová, B.; Majláthová, V.; Majláth, I.; Harris, D.J.; Petrilla, V.; Litschka-Koen, T.; Oros, M.; Peťko, B. Phylogenetic relationship of Hepatozoon blood parasites found in snakes from Africa, America and Asia. *Parasitology* 2014, 141, 389–398. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182013001765.
- Barandika, J.F.; Espí, A.; Oporto, B.; Del Cerro, A.; Barral, M.; Povedano, I.; García-Pérez, A.L.; Hurtado, A. Occurrence and genetic diversity of piroplasms and other apicomplexa in wild carnivores. *Parasitol. Open* 2016, 2, e6. https://doi.org/10.1017/pao.2016.4.
- Peirce, M.A. A checklist of the valid avian species of *Babesia* (Apicomplexa: Piroplasmorida), *Haemoproteus, Leucocytozoon* (Apicomplexa: Haemospreida), and *Hepatozoon* (Apicomplexa: Haemogregarinidae). J. Nat. Hist. 2005, 39, 3621–3632. https://doi.org/10.1080/00222930500340534.
- Maia, J.P.; Álvares, F.; Boratyński, Z.; Brito, J.C.; Leite, J.V.; Harris, D.J. Molecular assessment of hepatozoon (apicomplexa: Adeleorina) infections in wild canids and rodents from North Africa, with implications for transmission dynamics across taxonomic groups. J. Wildl. Dis. 2014, 50, 837–848. https://doi.org/10.7589/2013-10-280.
- Gimenez, C.; Casado, N.; Criado-Fornelio, Á.; de Miguel, F.Á.; Dominguez-Peñafiel, G. A molecular survey of Piroplasmida and Hepatozoon isolated from domestic and wild animals in Burgos (northern Spain). *Vet. Parasitol.* 2009, *162*, 147–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VETPAR.2009.02.021.
- Zuur, A.F.; Ieno, E.N. A protocol for conducting and presenting results of regression-type analyses. *Methods Ecol. Evol.* 2016, 7, 636–645. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12577.



The increasing human footprint is rapidly modifying the environmental gradients, altering animal populations and community composition, with consequences on disease transmission. However, in an eco-epidemiological framework, some links between ecological underpinning processes and the host-parasite-pathogen patterns have not been disentangled, yet their understanding is becoming urgent under the current climate and global change. This thesis includes a collection of papers that assess the drivers of small mammal community composition and demography, and the cascading effects on the parasitic load and the circulation of common and emergent pathogens. This was pursued by applying a multifactorial, niche-based approach using field experimental designs based on manipulation of anthropogenic food availability, and longitudinal transects across heterogeneous habitats. We observed that climate severity, seasonal variation and food availability strongly interplay in shaping small mammal demography and their space use patterns, although also triggering interspecific competition. These mechanisms also enhance tick-burden amplification in anthropic, fragmented landscapes, while determining geographic expansion of generalist species, and vectors alongside, in mountain habitats. This upward distributional shift is also accompanied by circulation of common rodent- and vector-borne pathogens, as well as of emergent protozoans that may hold crucial epidemiological role along the food web. Hence, we experimentally demonstrated the consequences of climate and anthropic disturbances on small mammal communities and populations, and their implications for the health of humans and ecosystems.



Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences